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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements of The CIC Insurance Group Plc (the Company) and
its subsidlaries (together “the Group™ or “CIC Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023, which disclose the state of affairs of
the Group.

1

INCORPORATION

The Group Is domiciled in Kenya where itis incorporated as a public company limited by shares underthe Companies Act, 2015,
The address of the registered office is set out on page 1.

DIRECTORATE
The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report are set out on page 1.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are the transaction of general and life insurance businesses including pension scheme
administration and fund management.

RECOMMENDED DIVIDEND
The directors recommend payment of dividends for the year 2023 of KShs 345 million {2022: KShs 345 million)
GROUP AND COMPANY RESULTS

The table below highlights some of the key performance indicators:

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
*Restated

KShs'000 ¥Shs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
Profit/(loss) before income tax 2,543,993 823,337 (195,248} (11,158)
Income tax (expense)/credit (1,102,178) {666,200) (38,492) (24,159}
Profit/ (foss} for the year 1,441,815 157,137 (233,740) (35,317)
Total comprehensive income/{loss) for the year 585,693 (294,703) {233,740) (35,317)
Total assets 50,299,041 43,479,081 9,719,011 9,666,180
Equity attributable to ownetrs of the parent 7,692,817 7,403,570 3,604,898 4,183,638
BUSINESS REVIEW
KENYA

The Kenyan economy recorded an average growth of 5.5% in the period between lanuary fo September 2023, with ¢3'2023
GDP coming in at 5.9%, adding to the 5.4% growth recorded in Q2'2023, up from the 4.3% in 03'2022. The performance in
03'2023 was mainly driven by the 6.7% growth in the agriculturai sector due to the favorable weather conditions, which led to
more agricuttural cutput. Most sectors recorded improved growth compared to 03'2022 with Accommodation and Feod Services
{+9.1%), Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing (+8.0%), and Mining and Quartying (+5.6%) Sectors recording the highest growih
improvements. In 2023, the economy is projected to grow at an averagie of 5.2%, higher than the 4.8% growth observed in 2022,
mainly attributable to & rebound in the agricultural sector following the long rains that have been experienced in the country,
coupled with recent fiscal policies such as subsidizing the costs of crucial farm inputs such as fertifizers that have enhanced
agricultural output. The IMF projects the GDP to average 5.3% in 2024,

The inflation rate for the year 2023 averaged at 7.7%, 0.1% points higher than average infiation rate of 7.6% recorded over a
similar period in 2022, Notably, the year-on-year inflation in December 2023 decreased by 0.2% points to 6.6%, from the 6.8%
recorded in November 2023. The headline infiation in December 2023 was majorly driven by increase in prices of commadities
in the following categories, transport; housing, water, electricity, gas, and other fuels, and food and non-alcoholic beverages by
11.7%, 8.3%, and 7.7%, respectively. During the year the Menetary Policy Committee (MPC) met 7 times to review the Central
Bank Rate (CBR). Intotal, MPC raised rates in 2023 by 3.75%, from 8.75% in January te 12.5% in December, Going forward, we
expect inflationary pressures to ease in the short term, while remaining within the CBK’s target range of 2.5% to 7.5% aided by
the easingin fuel prices and easing of domastic faod prices on the account of improved supply atfributed to the ongoing harvests
and Government measures to zero-rate key food imports.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3% DECEMBER 2023

6.

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
KENYA (continued)

The Kenya Shilling depreciated by 26.8% in 2023 to close at Kshs 156.46 against the US Doliar, compared to Kshs 123.37
recorded at the end of 2022, adding te the 9.0% depreclation recorded in 2022, This is driven by increased dollar demand from
importers, especlatly oil and energy sectors, the current account deficit and the need for government debt setvicing which has
continued to put pressure an the country’s forex reserves. Kenya's forex reserves dwindied to close the year at USD 6.7 billion
{3.6 months of import cover) compared te USD 7.4 billion (4.7 months) at the end of 2022, a 9.8% decline. A weaker shilling
increases the cost of financing foreign debt.

In 2023, the Kenyan equities market was on a downward trajectory, with NASE, NSE 20, and NSE 25 declining by 27.7%, 10.4%,
and 24.2%, respectively. During the year, equities turnover declined by 18.3% to close the year at USD 0.6 hillion, from USD 0.8
hillion recorded in 2022,

UGANDA

The Ugandan economy has remained resitient despite a myriad of shocks. Estimates by the Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBoS)
show that economic growth for FY 2022/23 rose to 5.2% from 4.7% in FY 2021/22. Bank of Uganda’s {BOU) estimates project
that economic growth will be 6% in FY 2023/24 and increase to between 6% and 7% in the medium term.

MALAWI

Stronger growth is expected from the electricity, construction, mining and quarrying and accommodation and food semvices
sectors. Domestic economic growth is projected to pick up to 3.2 percent in 2024, from 1.5 percent in 2023, supported by an
increase in public investment and recovery in mining and quarrying, manufacturing, information and communication, financial
and insurance activities, and education sectors.

SOUTH SUDAN
South Sudan is expected to record positive growth in FY 2023/24 after the negative figures it recorded in the previous three
fiscat years. The negative development in the previous three fiscai years was due to overlapping economic shocks. The economy

is expected to average a GDP growth of 3.5%, up from the 0.5% recorded in 2022 This is then expected to grow to 4.2% in 2024,

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Group

Insurance revenue grew by 23% from KShs.20.7 hillion in 2022 to KShs.25.4 billion in 2023 driven by growth in most of the
group’s business lines. The increase in insurance revenue was mainly driven by new business acquisitions as well as upward
repricing of risks. Revenue from the asset management business increased by 3% in line with increase in assets under
management. The insurance service expense grew by 21% in line with growth in underwritten risks. During the year, there were
restructuring costs incurred by the Group amounting to and KShs 199 miliion, relating to severance pay for employees who opted
to retire/exit under the voluntary early retirement,/ exit programme. Other operating expenses increased from Kshs 1.3 billion to
Kshs 1.5 billion, a 10% increase in line with the overall business growth.

The group recorded a profit before tax of Kshs 2.5 biflion, up from a profit before tax of Kshs 0.8 billion in 2022. This was latgely
attributed to the growth in insurance revenue and improved investment income during the year driven by high income reported
under the fixed income securities. The group’s total assets grew by 16% from Kshs 43.5 billion in 2022 fo Kshs 50.3 billion in
{ine with the growth in businesses, particularly increase in investment assets from Kshs 28.0 billion to Kshs 34.2 hillion.

Company

The Company received dividend income from subsidiaries amounting to Kshs 465 million (2022: Kshs 340 million). There was
no falrvalue gains on investment propetiy in 2023 (2022: fairvalue gain of Kshs 246 million). Finance cost increased from Kshs
439 million in 2022 to Kshs 517 million in 2023 due to increased interest rate on the borrowing in the year.

The Company has started disposing its parcels of land it owns (investment property (Note 15(h)). Proceeds from sale of this
property will be used to repay the loan from Co-operative Bank which will reduce the finance costs incurred on the borrowing,
Further disclosures are included in Notes 15{b} of the financial statements.
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7.  STATEMENT ASTO DISCLOSURETO THE GROUP'S AND COMPANY'S AUDITOR
The directors confirm with respect to each director at the time of approval of this report:

a) therewas, as faras each director is aware, no relevant audit information of which the Group’s and the Company's auditor
is unaware; and

b)  each director had taken all steps that ought to have been taken as a director so as to be aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Group's and the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

8.  TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF THE AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP continue in office in accordance with the company's Articles of Association and Section 721 of
the Companies Act, 2015. The directors monitor the effectiveness, objectivity and independence of the auditor. This
responsibility includes the approval of the audit engagement contract and the associated fees on behalf of the shareholders.

13 May 2024
Nairobi, Kenya



THE GIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Information not subject {o audit

The CIC Insurance Group vision is to be a world class provider of insurance and other financial services. Consequently, the Group
endeavours to attract and retain as directors, high calibse individuals who are well equipped with the relevant expertise and experience

to enable

the Group to achieve its vision, To retain and motivate such individuals requires compensation that is not only commensurate

to their skill and time devoted fo the Group, but also one that is competitive,

The Group has developed and put in place a remuneration palicy for both the executive and non-executive directors that is transparent
and considers both needs and the overall performance of the business. The policy has adopted a compensation and remuneration
model that is competitive to attract and retain talent. The remuneration policy is described helow:

Executive Directors

1

2.
3.

The remuneration for the executive director is as per a negotiated contract of employment. ¥ incorporates a bonus scheme
that is only triggered upon achieving various targets agreed with the board.

The GCEO* earns a setvice gratuity of 20% of the annual basic pay payable at the end of the contract for each year worked.
The GCEC* has a 5-year contract which commenced in June 2023,

Non-Executive Directors

1

N

Directors are entitled to a sitting aliowance for their attendance of a hoard or board commiitee meeting, lunch allowance (in
lieu of lunch being provided), and mileage reimbursements (in fleu of transport being provided) at the Automobile
Association of Kenya rates.

‘the directors receive annual honoraria based on the end year performance.

Directors are paid a monthiy retainer. The fees have been set by the board pursuant to the authorization granted by the
shareholders at the Annual Genera! Meeting.

There are no directors’ ioans.

There is no directors’ shares scheme.

An allowance is paid to non-executive directors for any day of travel away from their regular station in order to attend to duties
of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Independent directors are on a three-year contract which is renewabie once.

Medicat insturance cover is proviged to all directors for their indivigual medical requirements covering both out-patient and
inpatient services.

During the financiat year ended 31 December 2023, the Board was composed of the following Directors:

Executive 'Non-Executive ' Independent _
James Njue (Vice Chairman) Nelson Kuria (Chairman)
Patrick Nyaga* Michael Wambia Rogers Kinoti
~ Gordon Owuor Julius Mwatu
Peter Nyigei Sharon Kisire
' Ludia Rono

* GCEOQ Group Chief Executive Officer



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
PIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Information subject to audit

The foltowing table shows remuneration for the Executive and Non-Executive Directors in respect of qualifying sewices for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Group Directors 2023 emoluments (KShs)

Sitting Board

Name Designation Salary Allowances Gratuity Retainer Allowante Honeraria expenses Total
Patrick Nyaga GCED* 44,021,376 25,891,086 8,804,275 - - - - 78,716,737
Nelson Kuria Chaimman - - © 3,568450 2,225,252 793,500 1,017,934 7,605,136
James Njue V/Chairman - - © 3,568,450 1,541,779 774,607 188,901 6,073,737
Peter Nyigei Director - - - 1,564,192 1,555,838 765,161 307,854 4,193,045
Michaet Wambla Director - - - 1,381,274 1,718,426 765,161 292,923 4,157,784
Gordon Dwuor Director - - - 1,405,795 1,828,447 765,161 248,248 4,248,649
Julius Mwatu Director - - - 1,381,274 1,229,622 765,161 198,462 3,574,519
Rogers Kiroti Director - - . 1,332,231 1,388,921 765,161 211,319 3,697,632
Sharon Kisire Director - . - 1,332,231 938,469 251,905 215,067 2,131,672
Ludia Rono Director - - - 740,588 689,168 - 203,077 1,632,833
Grand Total 44,021,376 25,891,086 8,804,275 16,274,485 13,116,922 5,645,817 2,883,783 116,637,744
Group Directors 2022 emoluments (KShs)

Name Designation Salary Allowances Gratuity Retainer alﬁ:fsi’anrﬁ:e Honoraria e)i)::;s Totai
Patrick Nyaga GCEG* 43,800,000 11,114,613 8,760,000 - - - - 63,674,613
Neison Kuria Chairman - - - 3457629 2283771 690,000 340,871 6,772,271
Sames Njue V/Chairman - - © 3,457,629 1,580,614 673,571 350,757 6,072,571
Peter Nyigei Director - . - 1,409,657 1,295,250 673,571 324,863 3,703,341
Michael Wambla Director N - - 1,338,377 1,346,400 665,357 329,617 3,679,751
Gordon Dwuor Directar - - - 1,362,137 1,569,150 665,357 327,743 3,924,387
Julius Mwate DBirector - - - 1,338,377 948,750 388,125 276,303 2,951,555
Rosemary Githalga Director N - - 1,338,377 1,143,450 665,357 295,643 3,442,827
Rogers Kinoti Director - - N 1,290,857 1,092,300 277,232 254,714 2,915,103
Sharon Kisire Director - - N 430,286 346,500 - 420,517 1,187,303
Grand Total 43,800,000 1%£,114,613 8,760,000 15,423,326 11,616,185 4,698,570 2,921,028 98,333,722

*GCED - Group Chief Executive Officer

The Group will not propose to make any changes in the remuneration level in 2024.

By Order of the Board

Group Company Secretary



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

INTRODUCTION

Governance Audit was conducted for The CIC Insurance Group PLC covering the year ended 31st December 2023, which comprised
assessment of Governance Practices, Structures and Systems put in place by the Board.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board is responsible for putting in place governance structures and systems that support the practice of good governance in the
organization. The responsibility includes planning, designing and maintaining governance structures through policy formulation
necessary for efficient and effective management of the organization. The Board is responsible for ensuring its proper constitution and
composition; ethical leadership and corporate citizenship; accountability, risk management and internal control; transparency and
disclosure; members’ rights and obligations; members' relationship; compliance with laws and regulations; and sustainability and
performance management.

GOVERNANCE AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the existence and effectiveness of Governance instruments, policies, structures, systems
and practices in the organization within the legal and regulatory framework and in accordance with best governance practices as
envisaged under proper Board constitution and composition; ethical leadership and corporate citizenship; accountability, risk
management and internal control; transparency and disclosure; members’ rights and obligations; members’ relationship; compliance
with laws and regulations; and sustainability and performance management, based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with ICPSK Governance Audit Standards and Guidelines which conform to global Standards.
These standards require that we plan and perform the governance audit to obtain reasonable assurance on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the organizations policies, systems, practices and processes. We believe that our governance audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the Board has put in place effective, appropriate and adequate governance structures in the organization which are in
compliance with the legal and regulatory framework and in line with good governance practices in the interest of stakeholders.

CS. Jacqueline Oyuyo Githinji, ICPSK GA. No 00030
For Umsizi LLP

13 May 2024



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND {TS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE AUDITOR'S REPORT 2023

The Capital Markets Authority’s Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public, 2015 (“the Code"}
requires the Board to ensure that an independent legal and compliance audit is carried out at least bi-annually by a legai professional
in good standing with the Law Society of Kenya.

Alegal and compliance audit conducted by an Advocate of the High Court of Kenya is a reasonable assurance engagement. The Code
reqeires that we undertake a legal and compliance audit to obtain reasonable assurance on the level of compliance of CIC's aperations
with the existing legal and regulatory framework. This reasonable assurance is provided through opinions and conclusions that
enhance the confidence of the Board that CIC is in material compliance with its applicable legal and compliance framework.

The Code only imposes this independent legal and compliance audit requirement on issuers of securities to the pubkiic. However, in the
spirit of replicating the best practices espoused under the Code and evaluating the compliance framework of its trading subsidiaties
in Kenya, CIC deemed it prudent to undertake a legal and compliance audit that transcended to ait its trading subsidiaries in Kenya,

Itis with this consideration that CIC instructed TripleCKLaw Advocates LLP to undertake a comprehensive legal and compliance audit
on The CIC Insurance Group PLC and its trading subsidiaries in Kenya. We commend this demonstration of CIiC Group’s commitment
to ensuring that it operates in compliance with its overarching compliance framework,

The scope of the independent legal and compliance audit was to;

¢ Identify and analyze the current framework of laws, regulations and pelicies under which CIC Group operates;
»  Evaluate the existing procedures of CIC Group and assess the extent of their compliance with the framework;
»  Advise the Beard on any non-compliance findings that require to be acted upon expediently.

Accordingly, we conducted a systematic, objective and independent examination of the current framewark of laws, regulations and
policies under which CIC Group operates and assessed the levei of compliance with its applicable legal and compliance framework.

OPINION

Subject to our comments, assumptions and limitations set out in our Legal and Compliance Report, we issue our unguatified opinion
that there are no material instances of non-compliance with the applicable laws, reguiations and standards by The CIC Insurance
Group PLC, for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Signed

!

Brian M. Muindi FClArb.

Practice No: LSK/2021/04169

Partner and Head of Commercial practice,
TripleOKLaw Advocates LLP

Dated 13 May 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {continued}
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

INTRODUCTION

The CIC Insurance Group Plc, through its Beard of Directors, is committed to implementing and adhering to good corporate governance.
The Board Is keen to see to it that the ethos of corporate governance as spelt out in various legislations governing the operations of the
company are observed. The legislations include the Companies Act 2015, the Insurance Act, the Capitai Markets Authority Act, and the
Capital Markets Authority Code of Corporate Governance Guidelines for issuers of securities, the Company's Articies of Asseciation
among others. The Company aiso adheres to Nairobi Securities Fxchange listing rules and the ethical standards prescribed in the
Company Code of Conduct. In addition, the Company abides by the tenets of the Constitution of Kenya and all atherlaws as a law-abiding
corporate citizen.

The Board is cognizant of the general expectation by stakeholders that it maintains the highest standards of corporate governance and
it has in this regard institutionalized policies and processes and established robust frameworks that are necessary to The CIC Insurance
Group plc's foundational pillars and mission to enable people achieve financial security. The Board of Directors are responsible for the
governance of the Company. The Directors are committed to fuifilling their fiduciary responsibilities and have instituted various principles
necessary to ensure that good governance is practiced with respect to dealings with the Company’s shareholders, customers and other
relevant stakeholders in line with the spirit of the Code for listed companies.

The Board also regularly reviews its corporate governance arrangements and practices and ensures that the same refiects the
developments in regulation, best market practice and stakeholder expectations across the region where we operate.

This statement therefore detatls the key corporate governance structure and practices of The CiC Insurance Group Plc and its subsidiary
companies. The statement sets out the key components of the Company’s corporate governance framework, which provides guidance to
the Board, management and employees and defines the roles responsibilities and conduct expected of them.

STATEMENT OF COMMITMENT

The Board is committed to good corporate governance and appreciates that good govemance, achieved through an ethical cuiture,
competitive performance, effective control and legitimacy, can create sustainable value and enhance long-term sustainability. The Board
acknowledges the relationship between good govemance, on the one hand and risk management practices for the achievement of the
Company's strategic objectives and performance, on the other.

Directors have a statutory duty fo promote the success of the Company for the benefit of fts stakeholders. In promoting the success of
the Company, Directors must have due regard to the long-term consequences of their decisions, the fegitimate interests of employees,
the need to foster effective business relationships with suppliers, customers and various stakeholders, the impact of the Company’s
opetations on the community and the envirenment, and the desire to maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct.

The Board promotes and supports high standards of corporate governance and is committed to the demonstrable pursuit of excellence
in sound corporate govemnance practices, policies and procedures as evidenced in its internal policies and procedures. Concerning the
year under review, the Board believes that the principles of the governance framework are embedded in the corporate culture, internal
controls, policies and procedures governing corporate conduct within the Company. The Board is committed to continuous improvement
to strengihen the principies and spirit envisioned in the guidelines in its operations, to the extent that the same are applicable and
appropriate.

GENERAL GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Governance framewerk sets out the strategic direction of the Group while entrusting the day-to-day running of the organization to
the executive management led by the Group Chief Executive Officer, with his performance measured against set objectives and policies
closely monitored.

The Group has institutionalized a robust corporate governance framework at all levels of the Group’s strategic and operationat spheres.
The corporate governance framework, which the Board confirms is aligned with the global best practice was formulated to among other
things;



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

GENERAL GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK (Continued)

i) Protectand enhance shareholders value by maintaining highest standards of governance, business behavior and transparency.

i) Ensure the Board's accountability to shareholders and provide for an appropriate delegation of responsibilities to the Group Chief
Executive Officer and the Board of Management; and

iii) ~ Provide a platform for regular review of the Group’s governance structure against the nationally and universally accepted guidelines
and best practices.

The responsibility for the strategic control of the Company is divided between shareholders represented at the Annual General Meeting,
the Board of Directors supported by its four (4) Committees or any other ad- hoc committee that the Board may deem necessatry to
constitute. The Board is further assisted by the Group Chief Executive Officer and the Board of Management for all operational functions.

THE BOARD CHARTER

The Board recognizes the importance of a Board Charter and has to this extent developed and put in place a board charter to ensure
effective strategic oversight administration in its stewarding task of the company to greater prosperity while ensuring accountability and
disclosure.

The Board Charter defines and distinguishes the relationship and interactions between the Board and Management and sets out matters
expressly reserved for Board's decision. For instance, it defines the Board's roles and responsibilities, delegated powers of various Board
Committees and their roles, separation of roles between the Board and Management regarding policies and practices.

The Board is responsible for determining the Company's overall objectives; developing strategies to meet those objectives in conjunction
with management; formulating a clear and concise governance policy to which the Company shall adhere; delegation and segregation
of the Board's responsibilities and accountability; and evaluating the performance of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors.

The Board is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its charterforthe reporting period. The Board Charter
is periodically reviewed and details the Board’s roles and responsibilities. The existing Board Charter was reviewed and approved by the
Board in December, 2023.

The Board Charter can be found in the investor relations section of the Group’s website at https:/ /www.cicinsurancegroup.com/investor-
relations.

THE BOARD

The Board is collectively responsible for the Group's vision, strategic direction, its values, and governance. The primary role of the Board
remains provision of effective leadership to the Group towards:

L. Sustainable long-term success through the exercise of objective and informed judgment in determining the strategy of the Group;
Il Having the right team in place to execute the strategy through effective succession planning;
Ml Setting up appropriate governance structures for the management of the business operations;
V. Monitoring business performance and maintaining an effective framework of controls to mitigate risks facing the business;
V. Ensuring ethical behavior and compliance with the laws and regulations.

The Board is solely responsible for its agenda. It is, however, the responsibility of the Chairman and the Company Secretary, working
closely with the Chief Executive Officer, to come up with the annual Board work plan and the agenda for the Board meetings.

The Board is primarily responsible for the protection of and enhancement of long-term shareholders’ value considering the interests of
other stakeholders including employees, customers, suppliers, and the wider community.

10
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

THE BOARD (Continued)

In particular, the Board's responsibilities include:
I Determining and setting the tone of the Group values including principles of ethical business practice and the requirements to
be a responsible cotporate citizen;
il Approve the Group's mission, vision, its business strategy, goals, risk policy plans and objectives;

. Approve the Group's business strategy and ensure the necessary financial and human resources are in place to meet agreed
objectives;

. Review and agrees on Board succession plans and approve Non-Executive Director appointments;

V. Review perlodic financial and governance reports and approve the Annuat Report, Group resuits;

Vi Declare an interim/recommending a final dividend;
VIl Approve the Group's budgets as proposed by the executive management team;
Vill. Establish and agree on an approptiate governance framework;

IX. Review the sufficiency, effectiveness and integrity of the risk management and internal control systems;
X Approve the Group's performance objectives and monitor its achievements;
Xl Provide oversight over reporting to shareholders on the direction, governance and performance of the Group as well as other
processes that require reporting and disclosure;
Xi. Provide oversight over the activities of the subsidiaries of the Group;
Xlil. Provide oversight over performance against targets and objectives;
XIv, Ensure that disputes are resolved as effectively, efficiently, and expeditiously as possible; and
Xv. Monitor the relationship between the Group and its stakeholders.

SEPARATION OF THE ROLES OF THE GROUP CHAIRMAN AND THE GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The separafion of the functions of the Group Chairman (an Independent Non-Executive Director) and the Group Chief Executive Officer
{Group CEO) supports and ensures the independence of the board and management. The balance of power, increased accountability,
clear definition of responsibilities and Improved decision- making are attained through a clear distinction between the non-executive
and executive roles. The Group Chairman's responsibilities include the operation, leadership and governance of the board. The Group
CEO’s roles and responsibilities remains the day-to-day management of the Group’s business and overseeing the implementation of
strategy and policies approved by the board.

Duties of the chairman of the board

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the proper functioning of the Board. He ensures that discussion on ail key issues is efficient
and timely, as well as fulfilling his responsibilities and powers set forth in the Board Charter. The Chairmanship of the Board and the
Group Chief Executive Officer are separate functions heid by different individuals.

The roles of the chair are as foliows;
L Leads the Board, and ensures the Board receives accurate, timely and clear information in order to monitor, chalienge, guide
and take sound decisions;
Il Regularly meets with the Chief Executive Officer to stay informed;
L. Ensures effective communication with shareholders and other stakeholders;
V. Promotes high standards of corporate governance;
V. Promotes and safeguards the interests and reputation of the Group.

Duties of the Group Chief Executive Officer

L Driving the implementation of the strategy and business as approved by the Board,
il Managing all matters affecting the operations and performance of the company within the authorify delegated to him by the
Board.
1IN Providing timely and accurate information about the Group and material developments to the Board.
. Communicating to internal and external stakehotders on matters affecting the Group.
V. Leading and motivating the Senior Management team by ensuring they set annual performance objectives that stretch their
capabilities and monitoring the delivery of the same.
V. Maintaining and ensuring the effectiveness of the system of governance adopted across the Group.

The Group Chief Executive Officer's performance is reviewed regularly against objectives and measures set by the Board in annual
performance appraisals, The Group Chief Executive Officer’s performance appraisal was evaiuated during the reporting period on this
basis.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIRECTORS' APPOINTMENT

The Board’s composition is determined by the nature of the Group’s business and the shareholding structure with particular attention
being paid to the Board Charter and the Group's Memorandum and Articles of Association.

Notingthat the Group is committed to ensuring that the composition of the Board comprises directors, who, possess the diversity of skills
and experience required to fulfill the role and responsibility of the Board, the following guiding principles are considered in determining
the board composition:

4 & 5 & @

The Company’s shareholding structure;

Maintenance of the requisite independence on the board;

The sufficiency of the size of the Board as is necessary to attain the objectives of the company;

Effective succession planning to ensure smooth transition on the board;

Board Diversity to ensure that there is the desired mix of skills, knowledge, expertise, and experience to enabie the board to
discharge its duties effectively.

During the year under review, the Board comprised of ten (10} directors of which four (4) are independent non-executive directors and
one is executive director as shown in the tabulation below;

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Position and Name Executive! Non-Executive Independence? Director Since
Group Chairman: N. Kuria X Independent 29-Sep-2020
Vice Chairperson: ). Njue X Non-Independent3 13-May-2016
Group CEO: P. Nyaga X Executive 22-June-2020
Director; P. Nyigei X Non-Independent 8-May-2009
Director: M. Wambia X Non-Independent 23-May-2008
Director: G. Owour X Non-Independent 19-May-2006
Director; L. Rono X Nos-Independent 16-June-20234
Director: R. Kinoti X Independent 29-June-2021
Director: J. Mwatu X Independent 20-May-2021
Director: 5. Kisire X Independent 05-September-2022

! Executive means a member of the Board who alse sewves as manager of the company

2 =independent means a member of the board who does not form part of the management team and who s rot an employee of the
Company or affiliated with it in any other way.

3 Non-independent means a member of the board representing a shareholder.

4 irector Ludia Rono was appsinted to the Board on 16 June 2023.

Endorsement for re-election of non-executive directors to the Board after their three-year term is not automatic. Before the Board
endorses a director for re-election, the individual’s peformance as a director is reviewed per processes agreed by the Board from
time to time. The company provides shareholders with alt material information in its possession relevant to a decision on whether
to elect or re-elect a director.

Independent directors are appointed for a maximum period of six years subject to regulatory approval.

New directors are provided with a formal letter of appointment that sets out the keyterms and conditions of appointment including,
among other things, duties, rights and responsibilities, the time commitment envisaged and the Board's expectations regarding
involvement with the Board and Board Committee work.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Beard recognizes the role of diversity in bringing different perspectives into board deliberations and offers better anticipation of
material areas that are inherent in the business and the opportunities that the business pursues. The Non-Executive Directors come from
broad industry and professional backgrounds, with varied experience and expentise aligned fo the needs of the business. The areas of
expertise of the current Beard of Directors include Business Management, Banking and Finance, Actuarial, Accounting, Corporate
Communications, Fconomics, Marketing, Project Management, Risk management, Human Resources, Legal and Governance. While
considering the compositien of the Board, directors consider the appropriate characteristics needed by the Board to maximize its
effectiveness and the blend of skills, knowledge and experience necessary for the present and future needs of the Group.

The Board's Governance and Nominations Committee has the primary responsibility for conducting director assessments of the current
mix of skills and expetience of directors, considering the business and strategic needs of the Group, as well as broader succession
planning issues for both the Board and management.

DIRECTOR iNDEPENDENCE

Ditectors are expected to bring independent views and judgment to the Board's deliberations. The GIC Insurance Group Board recognizes
the importance of independent judgment and constructive debate on all issues under consideration. Directors are expected to bring
views and judgment to Board deliberations that are independent of management and free of any business relationship or circumstances
that would materially interfere with the exercise of objective judgment, having regard to the best interest of the organization and its
stakeholders as a whole. Board independence is annually assessed through the board evaluation toolkit.

in assessing the independence or etherwise of a directot, the Board, relies on the codified principles and an objective regard to the
relationship between a director and the Group or between a director and third parties that may compromise the director's independence.

TENURE

The Group natifies shareholders of their right to nominate a candidate for election as a director by a notice convening the shareholders
meeting in the event any director election or re-election is to occur at a shareholder meeting. Directors must retire every three years and,
if desired, seek re-election.

BOARD WORKPLAN

To enhance the efficient execution of the Board's responsibilities and ensure adherence to lega! and reguiatory standards, the Board
operates according to an Annual Workplan that outlines its activities for the year. This plan outlines the schediled engagements of both
the Board and its Committees, in addition $o other crucial company events.

SUCCESSION

As part of its annual review, the Board continues to consider board succession. The Board’s succession plan is focused on identifying
suitable candidates for future appointment to the Board, having regard to the Board's current skills mix and desirable future skilis, so
that the Board remains proactive, and renewal occurs in ar orderly manner over time.

Where a need is identified or arises, the Governance and Nominations Commiitee considers potential candidates based on the skills
required by the Board and the qualities and experience of the candidate. The Committee, with the assistance of professional consuitants,
if necessary, will undertake a search process and shortlisted candidates will be interviewed by the Governance and Nominatiens
Committee before being recommended to the full Board for appointment.

Nominations for appointment to the Board are considered by the Governance and Nominations Committee and approved by the Board
as awhole, Appropriate checks are undertaken on any petential candidates and regulatery approval sought before a person is appointed
by the Board or put forward to shareholders as a candidate for election as a director.

DIRECTOR INDUCTION

Newly appointed Directors receive appropriate formal induction and training, specifically tailored to the Group's business needs. The

induction is aimed at enabling the new directors to fully take up their roles and execute their responsibilities. The Board has put in place
Board Induction Policy for new Directors and ensures that all directors regularly update their skills and knowledge at regular intervals.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

CAPACITY BUILDING FOR THE BOARD

In relation to the governance guidelines on twelve (12) hours’ annual Board training, the board underwent comprehensive training
facilitated by various specialists during the four-day retreat session en strategy, insurance of the future, anti-money laundering training,
data protection, Environmental, Social, and Goversance training (ESG) and industry trends. Audit and Risk committee members
underwent specialized training and the Chairman also underwent special leadership training for chairmen.

All Directors are expected to maintain the skilis required to carry out their obligations. Continuous capacity bullding ensures that the
Board is kept up to date with developments in the industry both locally and globally. It includes sessions with experts in the areas of
general corporate govemnance and in the particular fields relevant to the Group's operations.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND INDEPENDENT ADVICE

The Board Is entitled to access such information and seek such independent advice as they consider necessary of desirable, individually,
or collectively, to fulfil their responsibilities and permit independent judgement in decision making. Procedures are in place, through the
Group Board Chairman and the Group Company Secretary, enabling the Directors to have access, at reasonable times, te all relevant
Group Information and to senior management, to assist them in the discharge of their duties and responsibilities and to enabie them to
take informed decisions. The Directors are also entitled to obtain independent legal, accounting or other professional advice at the
Group’s expense.

However, this does not abrogate the Board's responsibility to make independent decisions as such advice is only meant to erhance
comprehension of certain matters placed before the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated work te its four (4) standing Committees to effectively deal with specialized issues: Audit & Risk Committee,
Finance & Investment Committee, Governance & Nominations and Human Resource Committee. The mandate of these committees is
clearly defined in each of the Committees’ Terms of Reference. The Committees make recommendations for actions to the Board, which
retains collective responsibility for decision making. The Committees’ membership is structured to spread responsibility and make best
use of the range of skills across the Board.

Unless there are competling circumstances, the Committee meetings are scheduled to coordinate with the Board meeting eycle. Each

Committee reports to the Board at the subsequent Board meeting and makes recommendations to the Board for consideration as
appropriate.
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THE CiC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BOARD COMMNTEES (Continued)

An overview of the role and responsibilities, membership, and meetings of the Board’s four standing Committees is provided below.

Governance & Nomination

HR

Audit & Risk

Finance & Investment

Roles
Responsibilities

and

Exercise general oversight with respect
to the governance of the Board of
Directors.

Review the balance and effectiveness of
the Board and remuneration of
Directors and senior management as
well as the succession planning at
Board and senior leadership levels.

Monitoring the size and composition of
the Board and its succession plans.

Recommending individuals for
nominations as members of the Board
and its committees.

Reviewing execulive appointments,
succession and development plans and
proposing the remuneration structures
of execulive and non-executive
members of the Board.

Supporting the human resource function
of the Group by overseeling the
development of appropriate Human
Resources policies and strategies.

Reviewing, monitoring and making
recommendations to the Board of
Directors on the Group’'s Human
Resources strategy and polices that
pertain to staffing, compensation,
benefits, bonus structure and related
issues of strategic importance that
directly affect Group's ability to recruit,
develop and retain the highly qualified
staff needed for it to achieve its
mandate.

Reviewing human resource policles and
making suitable recommendations to
the Board on seniot management
appointments.

Overseeing the nomination functions
and senior management performance
reviews.

Noting the annual performance of staff
and recommending to the board the
payment of staff benefits in line with the
approved policies.

Monitoring the integrity of the financial
statements, including the review

of significant financial reporting
judgements.

Providing advice to the Board on whether
the Annual Report is fair, balanced and
understandable and the
appropriateness of the long-term
viability statement.

Reviewing and monitoring the external
auditor's independence and objectivity,
remuneration and the effectiveness of
the external audit.

Reviewing the system of internal
financial contrel and compliance.

Monitoring the activities and reviewing
the effectiveness of the Internal Audit
function.

Monitoring the Group’s risk
management system, reviewing of the
principal risks and the management of
those risks.

Monitoring  the  adequacy and
effectiveness of financial reporting.

Oversee the Board's responsibilities relating to
the financial affairs of the Group and {o make
recommendations to the Board in connection
with the Group's investment guidelines,
investment asset allocations and financing
activities.

Review  investment  performance  and
compliance with investment guidelines.

Review and recommend to the board dividend
policy and declarations.

Apprave target asset allocations and review and
make recommendations to the board on all
capital related issues.

Review and recommend to the board all
corporate acquisitions as well disposals of
business segment or subsidiaries and joint
ventures.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Governance & Nomination HR Audit & Risk Finance & Investment
Membership The Governance and Nomination | The Human Resource Committee | The Committee is comprised of four (4) | The Committee comprised of six (6) members.
Committee comprised of five (5) | comprised of six (6) members, members, two (2) of whom are
members. independent non-executive directors. The Members during the reporting period were:
The members during the reporting
The members during the reporting period | period were: The members during the reporting | Mrs. Ludia Rono (Chair)
were: period were: Dr. Rogers Kinoti
Mr. Michael Wambia (Chair) Mr. Cornelius Ashira
Dr. Nelson Kuria {Chair} Ar. Gordon Owour Mr. Julius Mwatu (Chair) Me. Edwin Otieno
Mr. Gordon Qwour Dr. Nelson Kuria Dr. Rogers Kinoti Mr. Abel Amuyunzu
Mr. Michael Wambia Mr. James Njue Mr. Johnson Kegohi Mr. Patrick Nyaga
Mr. James Njue Mrs. Sharon Kasire Mr. Peter Nyigei
M. Patrick Nyaga Mr. Patrick Nyaga
Meetings During the period under consideration, | During the period under consideration, | During the period under consideration, During the petiod under consideration, the
the committee met two {2) times. the committee met two (2) times the committee met five (5) times. committee met four (4) times.
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THE €IC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

KEY ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
During the year under review, the Audit and Risk Committee undertook the following activities:

»  Reviewed the half-year unaudited results and audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023 and related reports
»  Reviewed the dividend recommendation

s  Reviewed the externat auditors’ management letter

s Reviewed the Internal Audit plan for the year ending 31 December 2023

+ Reviewed the internal Audit Reports every quarter

ATTENDANCE OF BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS
The table below shows attendances at Board and Committee meetings by directors in the year ended 31 December 2023. In addition to

the usual meetings of the Board and its standing committees, additional meetings of the Board and the Committees are convened as
necessary to consider sich urgent matters, Senior employees only attend Committee or Board meetings by invitation.

Directors Board Meeting Audit& Risk | Finance & | Governance & | HR  Committee
Commitiee Investment Nomination Meetings
Meeting Commitiee Committee
Meetings Meetings
(@) (B) (a) {0 (@) (b) (a) (b (@ )
Dr. Nelson Kuria 5 5 * * * * 2 2 2 2
James Njue 5 5 * * * * 2 2 2 2
Peter Nyigei 5 5 5 5 * * * * * *
Gordon Qwuor 5 5 * * * * 2 2 2 2
Michaei Wambia 5 5 * * * * 2 2 2 2
Ludia Rono** 5 2 * * 4 2 * * * *
Julius Mwatu 5 4 5 5 * * * * * *
Patrick Nyaga 5 5 * * 4 4 2 2 2 2
Rogers Kinoti 5 5 5 3 4 4 * * * *
Sharon Kisire 5 5 * * * * * * 2 2
Johnson Kegohi * * 5 5 * * * * * *
Cormnelius Ashira * * * * 4 4 * * * *
Abel Amuyunzu * * ¥ * 4 4 * * * *
Edwin Otieno * * * * 4 4 * * * *
Notes:

1. (a) Number of meetings convened during year when the director was a member.
2. (b) Number of meetings attended by the Director during the year,

3. * Not a member

4. **Appointed during the year under review
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

SECRETARYTO THE BOARD

The Company Secretary of the Board is also the Legal Advisor of the Company. She is a Certified Public Secretary and licensed legal
practitioner by the Law Society of Kenya. She has been the Secretary of the Board since 2012, The Company secretary is a member in
good standing with the Institute of Certified Secretaries (ICS).

The Company Secretary provides a central source of guidance and advice to the Board on matters of ethics, statutory compliance,
compliance with the regulators and good governance. The Secretary of the Board maintains all minutes of Board meetings and the
reports submitted and presented to the Board. The Secretary ensures the delivery and distribution of information relating to the Group
as requested by members of the Board. The Secretary arranges to provide clarifications to all queries raised by the members and provides
advice to them as required. She is a point of contact between the Board and other stakeholders, including the shareholders,
management, and staff.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

We believe that good corporate governance is critical, not only at the corporate level but also at the national level. We require our partners
to adhere to the highest level of integrity and business ethics in their dealings with us or with others. In the financial year under review,
we continued to achieve high levels of corporate governance by focusing on the following areas:

Strong internationally recognized accounting principles

Focus on clearly defined Board and management duties and responsibilities

Focusing on compliance with relevant laws and upholding the highest levels of integrity in the Group's culture and practice
Continuing to implement our strategy for the long-term prosperity of the business

Timely and relevant disclosures and financial reporting to our shareholders and other stakeholders for a clear understanding of our
business operations and performance

. Ensuring execution of strong audit procedures and audit independence

eap o

The Group is committed to open, clear, and timely communications with its shareholders. The Group has a Shareholder Communications
Policy and investor relations program in place that encompasses the Group's commitment to providing transparent two-way
communications with all shareholders through several channels.

These include:

a. the Group’s website at www.cic.co.ke;

the Group's AGM;

the Group’s Annual Report, which is available in hard copy and on the Group’s website;

Continuous disclosure reporting to the Capital Markets Authority in line with the Capital Markets Disclosure requirements;

The Group holds press briefings to provide both institutional and corporate investors with an accurate account of the Group financial
state of affairs upon which they can make an informed buy or sell decision;

The Group has established a fully-fledged Customer Service Department to respond to inquiries from shareholders and other
stakeholders in relation to the Group, provided the information requested is already publicly available or not price sensitive Further
the Group has, as a matter of policy, entrenched in its employees a culture of treating customers and other stakeholders fairly.

pap T

—h

The Group values effective two-way communication with shareholders and recognizes that it is important not only to provide relevant
information as quickly and efficiently as possible but also to listen, understand and respond to the perspectives of those shareholders.
To promote this two-way dialogue, shareholders are encouraged to attend and ask questions at the AGM. For those shareholders who
are unable to attend in person, they may nominate proxies to attend on their behalf.

The Group is committed to giving our shareholders appropriate information and facilities to enable them to exercise their rights
effectively. We are also committed to making sure shareholders and the investment community have appropriate information to make
investment decisions.

The Group seeks to provide shareholders with information that is timely, of high quality and relevant to their investment, and to listen
and respond to shareholder feedback.
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ACCOUNTABILITY, RISK MANAGEMENT, AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group recognizes that risk management is an important process as it empowers the Group with the necessary tools to adequately
identify and deal with potential risks.

The Group has a Corporate Risk Management Policy and an Enterprise Risk Management framework which incorporate applicable
principies and guideiines of the international Standard Risk Management. The Policy sets out the framework for risk management and
compliance and at the Group.

The threshold of the Group's ultimate risk appetite is set by the Board through its Audit and Risk Committee and the Board, every quarter
or on such routine manner it may deem necessary, monitors management's adherence to the set risk management policy including
implementation and establishment of internal controls to identify, assess and manage risks.

The Group has processes to systematically identify, assess and repori on both financial and non-financial material business risks.
Management routinely appraises the Board on the effectiveness of the Group's management of its material business risk and internal
controls. With the support of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee, the Board carries out a regular review of the effectiveness of its
risk management framewaork and internal control systems, covering all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls.

INTEGRITY OF REPORTING

The Board and management have established controls that are designed to safeguard the Group's interests and the integrity of its
reporting. These include accounting, financial reporting, sustainability and other internal control policies and procedures which are
directed at monitoring whether the Group complies with regufatory requirements and standards.

In accordance with sound accounting practices, the Board ensures that Group’s financial statement for a relevant period, are a true and

fair reflection of the Group's financial position by making inquiries and seeking the assurance from the Group CEQ and the Group CFO

that:

a) thefinancial records of the Groeup have been properly maintained,

b} thefinancial statements of the Group comply with the appropriate accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the financial
position and performance of the Group; and

¢) thatthe opinion has been formed based on a sound system of risk management and intarnal control that is operating effectively.

The Board also gets reasonable assurance from the external auditor whether the Groups financial statements are free from material
misstatements every financial year.

The Group currently engages PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) as its independent external auditor. PwC attends the Group’s AGM and
is available to answer guestions from shareholders relevant to their audit of the Group. The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for
overseeing the audit process on behalf of the Board.

RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

The Board has established policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and internal controls. The Audit and
Risk Committee oversees the policies, internal controls, and procedures that the Group uses to identify business risks, manage those
risks and enable compliance with relevant regulatory requirements. The design and implementation of the risk management and internal
control systems to manage the Group's material business risks is the respoasibility of management.

The risk management framework includes mechanisms for identifying and estimating risks, defining the corporate structure and areas

of responsibility for managing risk as well as putting in place adequate control and reporting mechanisms. The Group continually
upgrades its risk management infrastructure and analyzes the risk outlook, to enable informed decision-making.
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RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT {Continued)
The Board has adopted the following key elements for the oversight and management of matetial business risks: -

i} The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the Group's risk management policy and framework on an annual basis to seek to enstre
that it remains seund. Such a review took place in the 2023 financial year.

i)y The Group’s risk register, containing material financial and non-financial risks, is systematically and formally reviewed by the Board
and/or the Audit and Risk Committee, the Group's Management, and risk champions of each the key business and functionai units
within the Group on (atieast} an annual basis.

fip Each of the key identified risks are then systematically reviewed by the management during the year to seck to ensure controls
remain sound and improvement actions are progressed. The results of these risk reviews are then reposted to the Board or to the
Audit & Risk Committee.

iv) Formal risk reporting is then provided to the Board on an ongoing basls.

v} Risk assessments are also performed for individual materfal projects, capital expenditure, products and country risks as required.

An in-depth analysis of the Group’s Risk Management Framework is provided forin the risk management report in the infegrated financial
report,

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group's Internal Audit function comprises a Group Chief Internal Auditor who functionally reports to the Group Board of Directors.
The role that the interal Audit function performs is to bring a systematic and disciplined approach to managing risk. This includes
reviewing and recommending improvements to controls, processes and procedures used by the Group across its corporate and business
activities.

Tre objective of the Internal Audit is to provide assurance and to support management in development of operational efficiency and
effectiveness in risk management, control, and governance processes. While majority of internai Audit work is conducted in- house,
cutsourcing is used for certain engagements needing specialized knowledge or resources.

Internal Audit is functionally independent from the operational management. The Internal Audit Charter is approved by the Board of
Directors. The Audit & Risk Committee approves the annual Internal Audit Piap and any material changes to it. Results of audits are
reported to the Audit & Risk Committee at least quarterly.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Messts. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP {PwC) are the Group's external auditor having been appointed by the shareholders in 2020. The
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee considers that its relationship with the auditor worked weil during the period and was satisfied
with their effectiveness.

LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE AUBIT

Legal and compliance audit is undertaken in compliance with the CMA Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities
to the Public, 2015. The internal legal and compliance audit was caried out for the year under review with the objective of ascertaining
the level of adherence to applicable laws, regulations, and standards. The findings from the audit confirmed that the Group was generally
in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. Implementation of the recommendations from the external legal and compliance
audit conducted in 2023 are ongoing.

COBE OF CONDUCT

The Group’s Code of Ethics and Conduct continues to be in place and is geared towards inculcating a culture of professionalism and
integrity, in line with our Vision and Mission Statements.

The Board has Implemented a Code of Ethics and Conduct which binds Directors and Employees and is subscribed to by ali members of
the Group. Initiatives to ensure its application include training, monitoring, mechanisms for whistie blowing, taking disciplinary action,
etc.

The Code has been integrated into the Group's operations through the development of various policies and reporting mechanisms. Group
directors and employees are expected to act with honesty, integrity and faimess in alf their dealings with one another and with
stakeholders. When joining the Group, every employee is provided with a copy of the Code and must commit to abide by Its requirements
as part of the employment contract with the Group.
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CONFLICT OF INFEREST

All Directors of the Group must avoid any situation which might give rise te a conflict between their personal interest and that of the
Group. The Directors are each responsible to notify the Chairman and the Company Secretary of any actual or potential conflict of interest
situations as soon as they arise.

The Board has formal procedures for managing conflicts of interest in accordance with the Companies Act 2015. Directors are required
to declare a conflict of interest or a material persenal interest in any matter corceming the Group immediately for the Board to review,
Declaration of conflicts of interest is also a standard agenda item which is addressed atthe onset of each Board and Committee meeting.
Any Director with a material personal interest in any matter being considered duting the Board or committee meeting will not vote on the
matter or be present when the matter is being discussed and considered.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The CIC Insurance Group Plc continues to keep abreast with the constantly changing regulatory environment. Local and regional
reguiations and guidelines with significant impact are monitored, and guidance issued to business on interprefation and of the
congruence of the organization's strategic abjectives in line with its environmental adaptation of the business plans that it develops to
achieve these objectives, resource allocation, and quality of implementation within the framework of applicable laws and regulations.

INSIDER TRADING RESTRICTION

in line with the approved The CIC Insurance Group Plc's Insider Trading Pelicy, the Group has closed periods each quarter prior to the
release of the Group's financials during which all related persons, Directors, employees and contractors (and their associates) must not
trade in The CIC Insurance Group Plc. Securities. Directors, employees and contractors (and their associates) are also prohibited from
passing on inside information to others who may use the inside information fo trade in the Group's securities.

CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY

The Board and management are committed to ensuring that the Group’s operations reflect sustainable business practices. The Group
has put in place a culture of ‘living the Group values' to its staff and in all aspects of its business operaticns. it conducts business
according to the highest ethical and legal standards and employees are expected to basic ethical principles.

The Group, in its quest to maintain to uphold its status as the ultimate provider of insurance and other financial soluion, constantly re-
engineers its business process fo align with the dynamic macre and micro ecoenomic environment. Further, the Group is leveraging on
technologyto bolster its operations and products distribution to keep pace with its competitors in this day and age of the digital economy.

This presents enormous opportunities for increased retail business, improved customer experience and prudent cost management.
BOARD REMUNERATION

The Governance and Nomination Committee of the Board is responsible for setting and administering the non-executive Directors
remuneration policy. The remuneration policy of the Group is an integral part of the governance and incentive structure overseen by the
Board. The aim is to enhance performance, encourage acceptable risk-taking behaviour and reinforce the Group's risk cuiture. It is the
Group's policy to fairly remunerate Directors for the role and responsibilities that they undertake for the Group. The remuneration is
determined by the holding Group based on parameters stich as performance targets, Group’s profitability, and return on equity as well
as reference to market average rate.

The Board Remuneration is subject to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. The Director's Remuneration Report
sets out the policy that the Group has applied to remunerate Directors.
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CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE

The Board in its mandate to promote timely and balanced disclosure of alt materiat information concerning the Group has established a
Continuous Disclosure Policy. The Group’s Management has the discretion to determine what matter are potentially material and price
sensitive and to determine whether those matters are required to be disclosed to the market.

The key overrdding objectives of this policy are:

+  Ali Group personnetf are aware of the Group's obligations

+  Accountability for timely disclosure of material information

=  Shareholders and the market are kept informed of price sensitive information affecting the Group.

BOARD EVALUATION

The Board understands the importance of board performance and effectiveness in achieving the overall objectives and goals of the
Group. The Board therefore reviews its performance and that of the Board committees and individual directors, the chairman, the Group
Chief Executive Officer and the Company Secretary every year.

A detailed Board evaluation questionnaire examines the balance of the skilis of the directors, the operation of the Board in practice,
including governance issues, and the content of the Board meetings. Feedback from the process is used to identify opportunities to
improve the performance of the Board and the Directors. The questionnaire also includes a series of questions for each Director to assess
their own performance and the performance of each other individual Director to identify development apportunities.

The feedback is also used explain why a re-appointment may or may not be appropriate while providing a forum through which directors
can consider the ways in which the board contributes to the overall goals and strategy of the organization.

For 2023 financial year, an extensive board evaluation was undertaken by an independent consultant - Wyne & Associates. The
consultants facilitated the Board Evaluation, Committees Evaiuation, Group Chief Executive Officer Evaluation, peer to peer evaluation
and evaluation of the Company Secretary. The recommendations therein will be implemented during the year 2024. The outcome of this
evatuation will be presented to the board in the first quarter of 2024,

The assessments demonstrated that the Board and its committees, and executive management are effective in achieving business
objectives.

GOVERNANCE POLICIES IN PLACE AT THE GROUP

The Group has, as a matter of good practice, formulated and put in place a Board Charter and relevant policies to ensure that the Group
is run on a sustainable business madel that will uitimately yield valuable return to the shareholders and other stakeholders. Such policies
farmulated by the Board include:

Cade of Professioral Conduct and Ethics for Members of the Board

Trading Policy

Continuous Disclosure Policy

Communications Policy

Risk Management Policy

Diversity Policy

Stakeholders Management and Tracking Policy

Procurement Policy

Dispute Resolution Policy
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Board aims to ensure that all stakeholders are informed of ali material information relating to the Group. i has delegated to
management to deal proactively with key stakeholder groupings by cemmunicating to stakeholders through:

¢  Continuous disclostre reporting to the Capital Markets Authority in fine with the Capital Markets Disclosure requirements;

s [ts annual reponts;

¢  Media releases and other investor relations publications on the Group's website; and

s Annual General Meetings.

The Board is keen on not only the impertance of providing information but also of enabling two- way communication between the Group
and its shareholders through the holding of the Annual General Meetings. Shareholders are given an opportunity to participate at the
meeting and those who cannot make it fo the meeting are allowed fo attend through proxies.

Further, the Group’s external auditor attends the Annual General Meeting and is available to answer shareholder questions about the
conduct of the audit and preparation and content of the auditor's repori.

Annual General Meetings

The CIC insurance Group pic recognizes the importance of shareholder participation in meetings. Shareholders are strongly encouraged
to attend and participate in the AGM. The AGM provides an opportunity for shareholders to engage with the Group at a personatl levef.
The board has always placed considerable imporiance on effective communication with its shareholders. It ensures that the rights of
shareholders are always protected. Notice of meetings and ali statutory notices and information are communicated t¢ shareholders on
time. Shareholders who are unable to attend the AGM in person are encouraged to vote on the proposed resolutions by appointing a
proxy prior to the AGM.

Investor Briefings

The Group holds press briefings to provide both institutional and corporate investors with an accurate account of the Group financial
state of affairs upon which they can make an informed buy or self decision.

Customer senvice

The Group has established a fully-fledged Customer Sewvice Department to respond fo inguiries from shareholders and other
stakeholders provided the information requested is already publicly available or not price sensitive Furtherthe Group has, as a matter of
policy, entrenched in its empioyees a culture of treating customers and other stakehoiders fairly.

information Technology

CIC Group's ICT infrastructure and information systems are a crucial aspect of its business operations providing technology platforms
that ensure exceptionai service delivery and customer experience. The board is responsible for iT governance and has ensured that the
1T strategy is integrated with the company’s strategic and business processes. The Group’s technologies, communication infrastructure
and corporate data are governed by an ICT Policy comprising standards that adhere to global best practices as well as local regulatory
requirements.

These standards ensure all technology acquisitions are cost-effective; the implemented systems are reliable, robust and scalable and
the infrastructure investments are secured from system failure, cyber threats and other technology risks. In the event of a major disaster,
business contingity is assured through the availability of a Tier 1 disaster recovery site that provides standby mission-critical systems
and backup data at a dedicated, remote and secure location outside the central business district.

CIC Group is commitied to meeting present and future customer needs with the use of digital technologies such as mobile applications,

interactive web portals, social media, cloud and other ICT advancements. Our continued investment in these areas provides all our
customers, partners and stakeholders with secure access to our insurance and asset management products and services,
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Procurement policies

Group has established a procurement policy whose primary objective is to ensure that the best total value is achieved when procuring
goods, setvices and works while simeltaneously ensuring it supports the Group procurement plan,

The policy promates a fair and transparent procurement process, with emphasis on value for many and building mutuaily beneficial
relatlonships with our suppliers. A Management Tender Committee oversees the award of tenders and there s appropriate risk assurance
for procurement activities. The procurement policy is reviewed annually to ensure it is synchronized and benchmarked with emerging
best practices in procurement and to address any emerging issues that may arise during implementation.

Whistle Blower Policy
CIC has a well-established poticy that provides a platform for stakehofders to ralse concems regarding any suspected wrongdoing. The

whistle-biowing platform is managed by on independent ombudsman to ensure anonymity, Through the hotline, anonymous reperts on
unethical/fraudulent behavior can be made without fear of retaliation from the suspected individuals.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

CONSOLIDATED TOP TEN SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

Year 2023 % Ownership Year2022 % Ownership

Shareholder name Shareholding Sharehoiding Category
Co-operative Insurance Society

1 Limited - Immediate Parent 1,943,441,304 74.3% 1,943 441,304 74.3% LC*

2 Gideon Maina Muriuki 158,046,204 6.0% 137,865,204 5.3% LI**

3 Weda Welton 26,309,000 1.0% 24,553,000 0.9% L+
Standard Chartered Nominees

4 Non- Resident Ac 9011 24,422,040 0.9% 24,422,040 0.9% FC***

5 Nelson Chege Kuria 16,222,100 0.6% 15,730,200 0.6% LI**

6 Nic Custodial Services A/C 077 15,481,560 0.6% 15,481,560 0.6% LC

7 Patrick Nyaga 12,897,400 0.5% 12,897,400 0.5% Li**
Patel, Baloohhai; Patel,

8 Amarjeet Baloobhai 11,700,000 0.5% 11,700,000 0.5% L**
Kenya Reinsurance Corporation

9 Limited 10,800,000 0.4% 10,800,000 0.4% LC*
Patrick Njogu Kariuki Family

10 | Trust Regisiered Trustees 9,947,889 0.4% - - LC*
*C - Llocal Company
*#|1 - Local Individual

**+£C-  Foreign Company

TOPTEN INDWVIDUAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

Shareholder Name 2023 2023 % Ownership 2022 2022 % Category
Shateholding Shareholding Ownership
1 fGideon Maina Murtuki 158,046,004 6.0% 137,865,204 5.3% u
2 Welton Weda 26,809,000 1.0% 24,553,000 0.9% L
3 Nelson Chege Kutla 16,222,100 0.6% 15,730,200 0.6% U
4 [Patrick Nyaga 12,897,400 0.5% 12,897,400 0.5% U
Patel, Baloobhai; Patel,
5 Amarjeet Baloobhai 11,700,000 0.5% 11,700,000 0.5% LI
6 John Njuguna Ngugi 9,332,100 0.4% 11,332,100 0.4% Lt
7_[Charles Ndonga Muchiri 6,953,648 0.3% 6,953,648 0.3% u
& Nancy Wangari Ndungu 5,815,000 0.2% 5,815,000 0.2% u
9 Julius Micheuh Riungu 5,241,600 0.2% 5,241,600 0.2% u
10 Jloyce Wanjtku Murluki 5,108,640 0.2% 5,108,640 0.2% u
Total 258,126,392 9.9% 237,196,792 9.1%
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDING AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

2023 2022
NAME NO. OF SHARES NO. OF SHARES
1 Nelson Kuria 16,222,100 15,730,200
2 Nyaga Patrick 12,897,400 12,897,400
3 Ludia Rono 300,000 -
4 Gordon Qwuor 264,000 264,000
5 Rogers Kinoti 52,320 52,320
6 James Njiru 48,000 48,000
7 Michael 0. Wambia 36,000 36,000
8 Peter K. Nyigei 12,000
4] Julius Mwatu - -
10 Sharon Kisire - -
TOTAL 29,819,820 29,039,920
THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
SHAREHOLDING NO OF NO OF SHARES % SHAREHOLDING
SHAREHOLDERS
1-500 6,214 1,290,232 0.05
501-5,000 6,644 13,142,775 0.50
5,001-10,000 1,468 11,113,370 0.42
10,001-100,00¢ 4,128 114,121,494 4.36
100,001-1,000,000 519 130,943,558 5.01
Above 1,000,000 53 2,344,927,099 89.66
TOTALS 19,026 2,615 538,528 100.00
THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP SHAREHGLDER DISTRIBUTION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
SHAREHOLDING NO OF
SHAREHOLDERS NO OF SHARES : % SHAREHOLDING
1-500 5,867 1,220,996 0.05
501-5,000 6,629 13,183,175 0.50
5001-16000 1,501 11,403,194 0.44
10,001-100,000 4,225 117,791,771 4.50
100,001-1,000,000 540 135,139,390 5.17
Above 1,000,000 58 2,338,820,002 89.34
TOTALS 18,820 2,615,538,528 100.00
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CATEGORY SUMMARY OF SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

SHAREHOLDING NO OF SHAREHOLDERS NO OF SHARES % SHAREHOLDING
FOREIGN COMPANIES 2 24,482,040 0.94
FOREIGN INDIVIDUALS 74 2,836,584 0.11
LOCAL COMPANIES 616 2,008,663,387 76.80
LOCAL INDIVIDUAL 18,334 579,556,517 22.15
TOTALS 19,026 2,615,538,528 100.00

CATEGORY SUMMARY OF SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
SHAREHOLDING NO OF SHAREHOLDERS NO OF SHARES % SHAREHOLDING
FOREIGN COMPANIES 2 24,482,040 0.94
FOREIGN INDIVIDUALS 72 2,958,144 0.11
LOCAL COMPANIES 618 2,001,825,394 76.80
LOCAL INDIVIDUAL 18,128 586,272,950 22.15
TOTALS 18,820 2,615,538,528 100.00

The Group communicates open and closed periods for trading in its shares to its employees and directors on an annual basis.

Approved by the board of directors on 13 May 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

§ exvessasesss  asssssssessssssssessrsssasss

Nelson Kuria Patrick Nyaga Julius Mwatu
Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer Director
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The Companies Act, 2015 requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group at the end of the financial year and of its financial performance for the year then ended. The
directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group and its subsidiaries keep proper accounting records that are sufficient to
show and explain the transactions of the Group; disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group;
and that enables them to prepare financial statements of the Group that comply with prescribed financial reporting standards and
the requirements of the Companies Act, 2015. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors accept responsibility for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act, 2015. They also accept responsibility for:

i.  Designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as they determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error;

ii. ~ Selecting suitable accounting policies and then applying them consistently; and

iii. ~Making judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Having assessed the Group’s and Company’s abilities to continue as going concerns, the directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast doubt upon the Group’s and Company’s abilities to continue as going

concerns.

The directors acknowledge that the independent audit of the financial statements does not relieve them of their responsibilities.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 13 May 2024 . 8(d on its behalf by:

Nelson Kuria Patrick Nyaga Julius Mwatu
Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE
GROUP PLC

Report on the financial statements

Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The CIC Insurance Group Ple (the Company)
and its subsidiaries (together, the Group) set out on pages 35 to 199, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2023 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, together with the Company statement of financial position at
31 December 2023, and the Company statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements,
comprising material accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Group and the Company at 31 December 2023 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies
Act, 2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Kenya. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our

audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. PwC Tower, Waiyaki Way/Chiromo Road, Westlands
P O Box 43963 — 00100 Nairobi, Kenya
T: +254 (20)285 5000 F: +254 (20)285 5001 www.pwe.com/ke

Partners: E Kerich B Kimacia M Mugasa A Murage FMuriu P Ngahu B Ngunjiri R Njoroge SO Norbert's B Okundi K Saiti
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE

GROUP PLC

Key audit matter

Adoption of IFRS 17 and restatement of
comparatives

As explained in note 1 of the financial statements, IFRS 17
became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 203, replacing International Financial Reporting
Standard 4, ‘Insurance Contracts’. As a result, the group has
adopted IFRS 17 in these financial statements.

The transition to IFRS 17 has introduced new financial
statement line items and disclosures, requiring significant
changes to measurement of transactions and balances in the
financial statements, including new areas of judgment and
estimation. New systems, data flows, processes and models
have been developed and introduced, giving rise to increased
risks of material misstatement.

International Accounting Standard 8 ‘Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ (TAS 8)
requires that when the impact of adopting a new standard
would be material to the financial statement comparatives,
these comparatives should be restated. As a result, the 2022
opening balance sheet and the 2022 comparatives have been
restated.

In particular, we consider the key risks in relation to the
adoption of IFRS 17 and restatement of comparatives to be as
follows:

s The determination of the transition approach for each
group of insurance contracts;

e The judgements involved in the determination of the
measurement model to apply under the standard, in
particular, management’s use of the Premium Allocation
Approach (‘PAA’) measurement model for groups of
contracts that are not automatically eligible;

e The methodology that has been used to determine the fair
value of Contractual Service Margin (‘CSM’)on transition
for annuity, individual life and group credit - single
premium businesses;

e The methodology and assumptions in respect of
determining the risk adjustment;

e The methodology used by management to determine
discount rates;

e New data flow and updated models used to produce IFRS
17 results;

e New disclosure requirements giving rise to increased risk
of material misstatement; and

e The appropriateness of methodologies, assumptions and

significant judgements applied in the calculation of
relevant balances.

We performed the following procedures
over the transition to IFRS 17, and
restatement of comparative financial
statements:

How our audit addressed the
matter

Assessed the appropriateness of the
transition approach adopted for each
group of insurance contracts;
Assessed whether the judgments,
methodology and  assumptions
applied by  management in
determining the accounting policies
are in accordance with IFRS 17;
Assessed the appropriateness of the
judgments and supporting estimates
used to determine the use of the PAA
measurement model;

Applied the industry knowledge and
compared the methodology, models
and assumptions used in determining
risk adjustment, CSM (including its
amortisation profile) and discounted
IFRS 17 best estimate liabilities
(including assessment of yield curves)
against expected market practice.
This included consideration of the
reasonableness of methodologies and
assumptions and the appropriateness
of any judgments applied, including
whether or not there was any
indication of management bias;
Tested the mathematical accuracy
and completeness of the supporting
calculations and adjustments used to
determine the 2022 comparatives;
Performed testing over key data flows
within IFRS 17 business processes;
and

Tested the disclosures in the financial
statements against the requirements
of IFRS 17 and IAS 8.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE
GROUP PLC

Key audit matter

(a)
There are significant assumptions that involve high levels of
judgment in determining the best estimate liabilities, in particular
the following:

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

As disclosed in notes 1, 42, 43 and 44 of the financial statements, the
valuation of insurance contract liabilities involves complex and
subjective judgments about future events, both internal and external
to the business. Small changes to these assumptions can result in
material impacts to the valuation of the fulfillment cash flows, CSM
and risk adjustment.

For the life insurance contract liabilities

The mortality assumptions used in the valuation of life risk
including rate of mortality improvements;

Longevity assumptions used in the valuation of the annuity
business involves significant judgment,

Expense and inflation assumptions - Future maintenance and
expense inflation assumptions are used in the measurement of
the life risk best estimate liabilities. The assumptions reflect the
expected future expenses that will be required to maintain the in-
force policies at the balance sheet date. The assumptions used
require significant judgment which includes how expenses are
allocated between maintenance and acquisition expenses as well
as how the expenses are split between attributable and non-
attributable costs under IFRS 17. In the prior period and over the
course of the year ended 31 December 2023, inflation has been
significantly higher than historical rates. As a result, there
remains significant uncertainty around future inflation and how
inflation will vary across the economies where the group
operates. This increases the materiality and risk associated with
judgments applied in the calculator of expense inflation.
Estimating the fulfillment cash flows representing all relevant
cash flows that fall within the insurance contract boundaries
involve significant judgement.

The CSM is a component of the carrying amount of the asset or
liability for a group of insurance contracts and it represents the
unearned profit that the group will recognise as it provides
insurance contracts services in the future. Determination of the
CSM involves complex calculations and sensitive assumptions
which increase the risk of error. In addition, the amortization of
CSM requires significant judgment particularly in selecting the
coverage units and their pattern of release;

Best estimate liabilities are valued by discounting expected
future cash flows at an interest rate based on the most
appropriate yield curve. The selection of appropriate discount
rate involves judgment;

The risk adjustment represents the compensation that the group
requires for bearing uncertainty about the amount and timing of
the cash flows that arise from non-financial risk. The
methodology by which management determines that valuation of
the risk adjustment requires them to carry out a number of
calculations that involve significant degree of judgment

How our audit addressed the
muaiter

Our work to address the valuation of
insurance contract liabilities included
the following procedures:

e Using our actuarial specialists,
applied industry knowledge and
experience and compared the
methodology, models and
assumptions used against
recognised actuarial practice. This
included consideration of the
reasonableness of assumptions
against actual historical
experience, and the
appropriateness of any judgment
applied, including if there was any
indication of management bias;

o Assessed the reasonableness of
assumptions in the valuation of
insurance contract liabilities such
as mortality, longevity, fulfillment
cash flows, risk adjustment and
selection of discount rates.

e For contracts measured under
General Measurement Model
(‘GMM’), tested the reasonableness
of coverage units and amortisation
to statement of profit or loss;

e  Assessed the competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the
Company’s Statutory Actuary;

e On a sample basis, traced the
insurance valuation input data to
information contained in the
administration and accounting
systems and +to policyholder
information;

e Reviewed management’s process of
extraction and reconciliation of the
data used in the determination of
the insurance contract liabilities;

e Tested the correct application of
the logic applied in the
determination of  insurance
contract liabilities;
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GROUP PLC

Key audit matter (continued)

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities (continued)

(b) for the general insurance contract liabilities

General insurance contract liabilities are highly uncertain and
require considerable judgment and interpretation to determine their
valuation.

Our assessment of the related audit risk is focused on the following
areas:

The risk of inappropriate methodologies and assumptions being
used to estimate the undiscounted best estimate liabilities for
future claims cash flows, which now forms part of the liability for
incurred claims (‘LIC’), and the associated reinsurers' share,
which form part of the assets for incurred claims (‘AIC’)

The determination of bottom-up discount rates (including
consideration of illiquidity premium);

The determination of payment patterns used to derive the cash
flows for incurred claims;

The appropriateness of significant judgments applied to the
selection of the premium Allocation Approach (‘PAA’)
measurement model for groups of contracts that are not
automatically eligible; and

The appropriateness of methodologies and assumptions adopted
to calculate the amount of the risk adjustment to reflect the
entity’s view of the compensation that it requires for bearing risk.

How our audit addressed the

matter

Reconciled a sample of the relevant
data sources to the previous years’
audited information for
consistency of information used;
and

Reviewed disclosures in the
financial statements for
compliance with IFRS 17.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE
GROUP PLC (CONTINUED)

Other information

The other information comprises corporate information, report of the directors, directors’ remuneration
report, corporate governance report, statement of directors’ responsibilities and supplementary information
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report and the rest of the other information in the
Integrated Report which is expected to be made available to us after that date, but does not include the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other
information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not and will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information we have received prior to the date of this
auditor’s report we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the rest of the other information in the Integrated Report and we conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with
governance.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2015, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE
GROUP PLC (CONTINUED)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the Group’s financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act, 2015

Report of the directors

In our opinion the information given in the report of the directors on pages 2 to 4 is consistent with the
financial statements.

Directors’ remuneration report

In our opinion the auditable part of the directors’ remuneration report on pages 5 to 6 has been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, 2015.

%Q;V\,; e /Ch’v\C{ (=N

CPA Bernice Kimacia, Practicing Certificate Number 1457
Engagement pariner responsible for the audit

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Certified Public Accountants
Nairobi

13 May 2024
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Insurance revenue
Insurance service expenses
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held

Insurance service result

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method
Other investment income

Net [osses an FVTPL investments

Net gains from fair value adjustments to investment properties
Foreign exchange gain

Allowance for expected credit losses

Investment resuit
Net finance expenses from insurance contracts
Net finance income from reinsurance contract held

Net investment result

Revenue from asset management sewvices
Other gains

Other operating expenses

Gain on monetary position

Operating profit
Other finance costs
Share of profit of associate company

Profit before income fax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

lems that will not be reclassified subsequentiy to profit or foss

Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair vatue through other
comprehensive income

Gain on revaluation of building

Total items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

ftems that may be reclassiffed subsequently fo profit or loss
Foreign exchange currency transtation differences

Fair value loss on debt instruments at fair value through OCi
Income tax thereon

Total items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Total other comprehensive loss for the year (net of tax)

Total comprehensive income for the year

Basic and diluted earnings per share {Kshs)
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Notes

4{a)
4.(b)
4(c)

7(a)
7(a)
7(@a)
o

7{b
9 (a)
55

10
18

11

24
13(@)

23(a)
17 (a)

12

Group
2023

KShs'000

25,400,902
(22,543,800}
(2.062.875)

188,227

2,630,218
209,561
(118,580)
132,383
82,655

5,399

2,930,838
{888,294}
152,482

2,195,026
1,163,775
368,997
(1,451,175)

3,064,850
(517,822)
3,035

2,543,993
(1,102,178)

1,441,815

(416)
88,255
87.839

(70,051)
{993,360)
120,050
(943.961)

866,122
85,693

0.57

2022
*Restated
KShs'000

20,734,133
(18,605,534}
{2.682.477)

553.878

1,887,250
207,531
(8,370)
281,833
191,755
1.064

2,561,063
(925,991}
129,722

1,764,794
1,129,791
223,534
(1,318,184)
12,895

1,258,972
(440,305}
4,670

823,337
(666,200

157137

{426)
84,665
84,239

{153,628)
(448,988)

66,547
(536,079)

{451,840}
(294,703)

0.06



THE CiC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

PRGFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE T0:

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
NON - CONTROLLING INTERESTS

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THEYEAR
ATTRIBUTABLETO:

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
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2023

KShs'000

1,497,850
{56,135)

41,81

634,247
(48,554)

585,693

2022
*Restated
KShs'G00

156,466
671

157,137

(281,262)
13.441

{294,703)



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

ASSETS

Property and equipment
Right of use-asset
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Deferred income tax
Investment in associate

Financial assets at amortised cost- Corporate bonds

Financial assets at amortised cost -Government securities

Financial assets at amortised cost -Loans receivable

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - Government

securities

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - Unquoted

equity instruments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - Quoted equity instruments
Investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through profit or loss

Reinsurance contract assets
Current income tax

Other receivables

Due from related parties

Deposits with financial institutions
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital

Share premium

Statutory reserve

Contingency reserve

Revaluation surplus

Foreign currency translation reserve
Fairvalue reserve

Retained earnings

Equity attributable the owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax
Insurance contract liabilities
Investment contract liabilities
Lease liability

Borrowings

Other payables

Current income tax

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Notes

13 (a)
14 (a)
15 (a)
16 (a)
17 (a)
18
20
21
22

23 (a)

24
25
26 (a)
42
11(b)
27(a)
28
29 (a)
48

30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37

38

17
42
49
14 (a)
39
40 (a)
11 (b)

2023 2022 1Jan 2022
*Restated *Restated
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
1,142,870 987,924 923,753
241,930 209,218 145,754
7,834,198 7,761,640 7,477,939
301,398 284,977 313,725
1,380,869 1,164,457 1,217,349
105,659 108,694 104,024
95,646 97,031 65,692
10,753,219 8,278,855 5,677,890
113,391 78,859 80,796
13,579,374 11,389,365 7,754,295
22,796 21,647 15,763
647,506 1,060,004 1,218,065
1,368,501 1,210,502 1,738,872
3,733,993 3,727,821 4,964,076
87,155 2,000 46,655
852,434 626,255 468,288
183,047 145,158 102,243
7,573,290 5,908,104 6,506,081
281,765 416,570 221,989
50,299,041 43,479,081 39,043,249
2,615,578 2,615,578 2,615,578
162,179 162,179 162,179
1,487,294 621,290 1,015,032
138,692 110,828 83,604
367,956 279,701 195,036
(573,927) (496,295) (356,769)
(1,522,605) (648,279) (265,412)
5,017,650 4,758,568 4,235584
7,692,817 7,403,570 7,684,832
(80.639) (32,085) (18,644)
7,612,178  7.371.485 7.666.188
663,540 288,392 436,276
34,227,277 29,036,112 24,645,041
141,273 137,021 132,724
309,577 263,183 167,025
5,081,164 4,571,600 4,363,600
2,034,225 1,695,346 1,426,633
229,807 115,942 205,762
42,686,863 36,107,596 31.377,061
50,299,041 43.479,081 39,043,249

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 13 May 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Ao — %& Mooty

Nelson Kuria
Chairman

Patrick Nyaga
Group Chief Executive Officer
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Julius Mwatu
Director



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY STATEMENT OF PROFT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPRERENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method 6 (h){i)
Other investment income 6 (b) (i)
MNet gains on FYTPL investments 7(c)
Net gains from fair value adjustments to investment properties 7(0)
Other gains 7(c)
Allowance for expected credit losses 9(d)
Total income

Operating and other expenses 9(c)
Operating profit

Finance cost 10{)
Share of profit of associate company 18

Loss before income tax
Income tax expense 11

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the year

38

Company
2023
KShs'000
7,646
485,000
2,246

14,948
201

489,639
(164,616)
325,023

{517,236)
{3.035)

(195,248)
(38,492}

(233.740)

(233,740)

2022
KShs'000

10,964
340,000
1,417

246,000
26,383

{628)

(200.799)
423,337

{439,165}
4.670

(11,158)
(24,159)

(35317)

(35.317)



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
Notes 2023 2022

KShs'000 KShs'000
ASSETS
Property and equipment 13 (b) 92,411 54,272
Investment properties 15(h) 4,046,000 4,046,000
Intangible assets 16 (b) 73,986 96,552
Deferred income tax 17 (b) 579,815 618,307
Investment in associate 18 105,659 108,694
Investment in subsidiaries 19 4,228,410 4,178,410
Financial assets at amortised cost -Loans receivable 22 15,619 12,381
Investments in collective investment schemes through profit or loss 26(h) 14,501 37,255
Current income tax 11(b) 2,000 2,000
Other receivables 27 (b) 61,535 64,867
Due from related parties 28 399,980 310,414
Deposits with financial institutions 29 (b) 117,568 94,576
Cash and cash equivalents 48 41,527 42,452
Total assets 9,779,011 9,666,180
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 30 2,615,578 2,615,578
Share premium 31 162,179 162,179
Retained earnings 37 827,141 1.405.881
Total equity 3,604,898 4,183,638
LIABILITIES
Due to related parties 28 655,970 566,070
Related party loan 28 273,076 238,016
Borrowings 39 4,955,891 4,571,600
Other payables 40 (b) 289,176 106.856
Total liabilities 6,174,113 5,482,542
Total equity and liabilities 9,779,011 9.6 0

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 13 May 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

N | Rl e

Nelson Kuria Patrick ﬁ?_a Julius Mwatu
Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer Director
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP FLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Foreign Dueto
Currency equity Non-
Share Share Statutory Revaluation  Confingency translation Fair vaiue Retained  holders of controlling
capital  premium fund surplus reserve reserve resene earnings  the parent interests Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs’000 Ksh'000 KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'G00 KShs'000
(Note 30)  (Note 31) {Note 32) {Note 34) (Note 33) {Note 35) {Note 36) (Note 37) {Note 38}
At 1 January 2023 - Restated 2,615,578 162,179 621,290 279,701 110,828 (496,295) (648,279) 4,758,568 7,403,570 (32,085) 7,371,485
Contingency reserve - - - - 27,864 . - (27,864) - - -
Profit for the year - . 866,004 - - - . 631,946 1,497,950 (56,135} 1,441,815
Other comprehensive Income
for the year - - - 88,255 - (77,632} (874,326) - (863,703) 7.581 856,122
Total comprehensive income
forthe year - - 866,004 88,255 - (77,632) (874,326) 631,946 634,247 (48,554) 585,693
Dividends paid z : . - - - - (345,000) (345,000} - (345,000}
At 31 December 2023 2615578 162179 1487.294 361,956 138692 (5739270 (1522 5017,650 7,692,817 (80,839)  1.612.178
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Forgign Dueto
currency equity Non-
Share Share Statutory Revaluation  Contingency translation Fairvalue Retained  holders of controlling
capital premium fund surplus reserve reserve reserve earnings  the parent interests Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 Ksh'000 KShs'G00 KShs’000  KShs’00Q KShs'000 KShs'000
{Note 30) (Note 31) (Note 32) (Note 34) (Note 33) {Note 35) {Note 36) {(Note 37) {Note 38)
At 1 January 2022 - As previously
reported 2,615578 182,179 1,128,818 195,036 83,604 (356,769) (265,412) 4,406,933 7,969,967 14,164 7,984,131
impact of adoption of IFRS 17
{Note 1 (i) - - (403,465) - - - - (171,349) (574,814) (32,808) (607,622)
Correction of prior year error (Note
49) - - 289.679 - - - - - 289.679 - 289,679
At 1 January 2022 - Restated 2,615,678 162,179 1,015,032 195,036 83,604 (356,769) (265,412)  4,235584 7,684,832 {18,644) 7,666,188
Transfer from statutory reserve - - (115,000) . - . . 115,000 - - -
Contingency reserve - - - - 27,224 - - (27,224 - - -
Profit for the year - - (278,742) - - - - 435,208 156,466 671 157,137
Other comprehensive income
for the year - - - 84,665 - {139,526) (382,867) - {(437,728) (14,112} {451.840)
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - (278,742) 84,665 - (139,526) {382,867} 435,208 (281,262) (13.441) (294.703)
At31December2022 - Restated 2,615,578 162,179 621,290 279,701 110,828 (496,295) (648279} 4758568 1403570 (32,085) 1,371,485
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THE GIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Share Share Retained
Capital premium earnings Total
KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs000
(Note 30) (Note 31} (Note 37)
At 1 January 2023 2,615,578 162,179 1,405,881 4,183,638
Loss for the year - - (233,740) (233,740)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - {233.740) (233,740)
Dividend paid - - (345,000} (345,000)
At 31 December 2023 2,615,578 162,179 827,141 604,89
At 1 January 2022 2,615,578 162,179 1,441,198 4,218,955
Loss for the year - - (35,317) (35,317)
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - {35.317) 35317
At 31 December 2022 2,615,578 162,179 1,405,881 4,183,638
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CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations

Purchase of corporate bonds

Proceeds from maturity of corporate bonds

Purchase of government securities at amortised cost
Maturities of gevernment securities af amortised cost

Purchase of government securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Maturity of government securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Purchase of unquoted equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive

incoms

Purchase of equity investment at fair value through profit or loss

Praceeds from sale of equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Additions to collective investment schemes

Proceeds from disposal of collective investment scheme

Increase in deposits with firancial institutions (excluding cash and cash equivalents)

Interest paid on leases

Interest received

Dividend received

Income tax paid

Repayment of interest portion of borrowings

Net cash generated from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of principal portion of borrowings
Dividends paid

Repayment of principal portion of iease liability
Net cash used in financing activities

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Eifect of foreign exchange translations
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER
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Notes

47 {a}

20
20
21
21
23
23

24
25
25
26(a)
26(a)
29
14(a}
6(a}
6(a)
11 ()
39

13(a)

16(a)

39
39

14{a}

48

2023
KShs'000

5,700,056

2,188
(3,418,783}
1,126,479
{4,251,839)
1,065,000

{108,091)
384,225
(635,195)
493,070
(464,131)
(29,023)
2,630,218
48,177
(813,579)
(7,993)

1.722.780
(240,488)
36,332
{71,330)
{275,486)
112,078
(94,973)
(345,000}
72,268,
(400,163}
1,041,131

14,729
3,803,964

4,865,824

2022
KShs'000

4,872,435
(23,968)

(3,198,850)
669,659
{4,192,876)
110,580

(6,067}
(32,279)
106,188

(1,736,002)
2,340,154
567,039
(32,305)
1,887,250
59,220
(787,705)

200,000

402,473

(55,692)
14,934
{31,918

{72.669)

53,429
(53.429)
276,375

{115,271}
3,642,860

3,803,964



CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from / (used in) operations
Additions to collective investment schemes
Maturity of collective investments
Mortgage loan repaid

Other staff loans advanced

Decrease in deposits with financial institutions (excluding cash and cash equivalents)

Interest received

Dividend received

Repayment of interest portion of borrowings
Net cash generated from operating activities

CASH FL.OWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and eguipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from repayment of intercompany loan receivabie
Repayment of principal portion of borrowings

Dividend paid to shareholders

Net cash used in financing activities

(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER
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Notes

48 (b)
26 (b)
26 (b)
22 (v}
22 (v}
29

6

B(b) (i}
39

13(b)
16(b)
19

28
39

48

2023
KShs'000

80,078

25,000
600
(2,519)
(22,980)
1,646
465,000

{2,912}
549,913

(57,385)
(3,480)
(50.000)

(110,865)

(94,973)
{345,000)

(439.973)

{925)
42,452

41,527

2022
KShs'000

(9,910)
{32,000)
7,000
545
(213)
(14,247)
10,964
340,000

{200,000}
102,139

{45,058)
{21,512}

(66.570)

31,811



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.

Statement of compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards

The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards, interpretations issued by the IFRS
Interpretations Committee {IFRS IC) Interpretations applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and in compliance with the
Companies Act, 2015. The financial statements comply with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Intemnational Accounting
Standards Board (JASB).

€))

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through profit or loss, building and
investment properties which have been measured at fair value and actuariafly determined liabilities at their present value, The
consolidated and company financial statements are presented in Kenya Shillings which is also the Company’s functional
currency. All values rounded to the nearest thousand (KShs ‘000), unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements comprise the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive Income, statements of financial
position, statements of changes in equity, statements of cash flows, and notes to the financial statements. Income and
expenses, excluding the components of other comprehensive income, are recognised in profit or loss. Other comprehensive
income comprises items of income and expenses (including reclassification adjustments) that are not recognised in profit or
loss as required or permitted by IFRS Accounting Standards. Reclassification adjustments are amounts reclassified to profit
or foss in the current period that were recognised in other comprehensive income in previous periods, Transactions with the
owners of the Group and Company in their capacity as owners are recognised in the statement of changes in equity.

The Group presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity from the least liquid to the most liquid. An
analysis regarding recovery or settlement within tweive months after the reporting date {current} and more than 12 months
after the reporting date (non-current) is presented in the notes.

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of the accounting policies adopted by the Group. Although such estimates and assumptions are based on the
directors’ best knowledge of the information avaitable, actual results may differ from those estimates. The judgements and
estimates are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, and any revisions to such estimates are recognised in the year in
which the revision is made. The areas involving the judgements of most significance to the financial statements, and the
saiirces of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year,
are disclosed in notes 1 and 2 of these financial statements.
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THECIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

b}

U]

New Standards, New Interpretations and Amendments to Standards

The section below provides a summary of (i} new standards and amendments that are effective for the first time for periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2023 (i.e. years ending 31 December 2023}, and (i) forthceming reguirements, being
standards and amendments that became or will become effective on or after 1 January 2024.

New standards and amendments - applicable 1 Januvary 2023

The following standards and interpretations apply for the first time to financial reporting periods commencing on or after 1
January 2023:

(Published May 2017)

Number | Effective date Ekecutive summary
IFRS 17 Insurance Annual periods beginning | The IASB issued IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’, and thereby started a
Contracts on or after 1 January 2023 new epoch of accounting for insurers. Whereas the current standard,

IFRS 4, allows insurers {0 use their local GAAP, IFRS 17 defines clear
and consistent rules that will signiffcantly increase the comparability
of financial statements. For insurers, the transition to IFRS 17 will
have an impact on financial statements and on key performance
indicators.

Under IFRS 17, the general model requires entities to measure an
insurance contract at initial recognition at the total of the fulfiiment
cash flows {comprising the estimated future cash flows, an adjustment
to reflect the time value of money and an expiicit risk adjustment for
non-financial risk) and the contractual service margin. The fulfilment
cash flows are remeasured on a current basis each reporting petiod.
The unearned profit (contractual service margin) is recognised overthe
coverage peried.

Aside from this general model, the standard provides, as a
simplification, the premium allocation approach. This simplified
approach is applicable for certain fypes of contract, including those
with a coverage pericd of one year or less.

For insurance contracts with direct participation features, the variable
fee approach applies. The variable fee approach is a variation on the
general model. When applying the variabie fee approach, the entity's
share of the fair value changes of the underlying items is included in
the contractual sewvice margin. As a consequence, the fair value
changes are not recagnised in profit or loss in the peried in which they
occur but over the remaining life of the contract.

The Group apptied the new standard effective 1 January 2023, The
impact has been discussed below.

IFRS 17, Insurance
contracts Amendments

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023

(Published June 2020}

In response to some of the concerns and challenges raised, the Board
developed targeted amendments and a number of proposed
clarifications intended to ease implementation of IFRS 17, simplify
some requirements of the standard and ease transition. The
amendments relate to eight areas of IFRS 17, and they are not
intended to change the fundamental principles of the standard.

Amendments to 1AS 12,
income Taxes: Deferred
Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023.

(Published May 2021}

The amendments require companies to recognise deferred fax on
transactions that, on initial recegnition, give rise to equal amounts of
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b}  New Standards, New Interpretations and Amendments to Standards (Continued)

()  Newstandards and amendments - applicable 1 January 2023 (Continued)

Number Effective date Executive summary

Narrow scope Annual periods beginningon | The amendments aim to improve accounting policy disclosures and to
amendments to IAS 1 or after 1 January 2023, help users of the financial statements to distinguish changes in
‘Presentation of Financial accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates.

Statements’, Practice (Pubiished February 2021)
statement 2 and IAS 8
‘Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors'
Amendments to [AS 12 The deferred tax exemption | These amendments give companies temporary relief from accounting

International Tax and disclosure of the fact | for deferred taxes arising from the Organisation for Economic Co-
Reform—Pillar Two Model | that the exception has been | operation and Development's {OECD) international tax reform. The
Rules applied, is effective | amendments also introduce targeted disclosure requirements for

immediately, The other | affected companies.
disclosure requirements are
effective annual perods
beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

{Published May 2023)

Other than IFRS 17, the above standards and amendments did not have a significant impact on the Company’s and Group’s
financial statements,

Implementation of IFRS 17 lnstrance Contracts

The Group has applied IFRS 17 lnsurance Contracts, including any consequential amendments to other standards, from 1
January 2023. These standards have brought significant changes te the accounting for insurance and reinsurance contracts.
As a result, the Group has restated certain comparative amoents and presented a third statement of financial position as at 1
January 2022.

Except for the changes below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements. The nature and effects of the key changes in the Group's aceounting policies as a result of
adopting IFRS 17 are summarised below.

Summary

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts that govemns
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure.

Whereas IFRS 4 allowed insurers to use existing local practice for the measurement of policyholder liabilities, IFRS 17 provides
far a comprehensive and consistent approach to insurance contracts. The new standard affected the financial statements and
key performance indicators of all entities in the Group that issue insurance contracts as well as investment contracts with
discretionary participation features. Al Group entities with life and general insurance licenses were impacted.

IFRS 17 introduces a measurement model for insurance contracts based on the estimates of the present value of future cash

Hlows that are expected to arise as the Group fulfils the contracts, an explicit risk adjustment for nonfinanciat risk (together
these represent the fulfilment cash fiows) and a contractual setvice margin (CSM).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

&)
(i

New Standards, New Interpretations and Amendments to Standards (Continued)
New standards and amendments - applicable 1 January 2023 (Continued)

Implementation of IFRS 17 /nswrance Contracts {continued)
Summary (continued}

The default model is the general measurement model (GMM), which is mainly used for measuring life risk {including
reinsurance) and annuity contracts. The GMM is supplemented by a specific modification called the variable fee approach
(VFA) for measurement of contracts where policyholders participate in underlying items (life savings contracts and other with-
profits contracts). IFRS 17 also makes provision for a simplified approach, the premium allocation approach (PAA), mainly for
short-duration contracts. The majority of these are within the general insurance business and short-tern life contracts.

Regardless of the measurement model used, the basic revenue recognition principle of IFRS 17 is that profitis recognised over
the lifetime of a group of insurance contracts, as sewvices are provided, but losses are recognized immediately if the group of
insurance contracts is enerous. No profit is recognised on initial recogaition.

Under IFRS 17, the discount rate used to reflect the time value of money in the fulfilment cash flows is based on the
characteristics of the liabitity,

Impact of the adoption of IFRS 17

The impact of initial application of IFRS 17 on the consolidated financial statements was a decrease of Kes 608 million to the
Group's total equity at 1 January 2022, net of adjusiments relating to prior year adjustments ameunting to Kes 290 mitlion.

The various portfolios of business in the Group are impacted in different ways by the transition to IFRS 17, The reporting
requirements introduced by IFRS 17 also resuit in a shift of liabilities for segmental reporting purposes. As noted above, the

Group has provided the restated comparative information for 2022 in these consolidated financial statements,

Included below is the reconclliation of the Group statement of financial position from IFRS 4 to IFRS 17 at transition:

IFRS 17 Correction of Reclassification
31 Dec2021 measuremnent  prior year error adjustments 1Jan2022
Asreported  adjustments (Note 49) *Restated
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
ASSETS
Reinsurance contract assets 4,994 519 532,871 - {563,314) 4,964,076
insurance contract assets (previcusly deferred
acquisition costs and insurance receivables) 1,851,191 - - {1,851,121) -
Deferred income tax 1,206,098 11,251 - - 1,217,349
All other assets 33.489.028 - - (627.204) 32,861,824
Total assets 41,540,836 544,122 « [3,041,709) 39,043,249
LIABILITIES
Insurance contract Babilities 25,780,511 1,324,659 - (2,460,129) 24 645,041
Investment contract liabilities 546,552 - (413,828) - 132,724
Reinsurance contract liabilities (previously
reinsurance payables) 563,314 - - {563,314} -
Deferred income tax 485,042 (172,915) 124,149 - 436,276
All other liabilities 6,181,286 - - {18.268) 6,163,020
Total liabilities 33,556,705 1,151,744 (289.679) (3.041.709) 31,377.061
EQUITY
Share capital and premium 2,777,757 - - 2,777,757
Statutory reserve 1,128,818 {403,465) 289,679 - 1,015,032
Fair value reserve {265,412) - - - (265,412)
All other reserves (78,129) - - - (78,129)
Retained eamings 4,406,933 (171,349) - - 4,235,584
Non-controlling interest 14,164 (32.808) - - {18.644)
Total equity 7.984,131  {607,622) 289,679 7.666,188
Total liabilities and equity 41,540,836 544,122 - (3,041,709} 39.043.249
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1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continted)
{b)  New Standards, New Interpretations and Amendments te Standards {Continued)
{i)  Newstandards and amendments - applicable 1 January 2023 (Continued)
Implementation of IFRS 17 fesurance Contracts (continued)

Transition to IFRS 17 {continued)

Transition adjustments
The meastrement adjustments (transitional adjustments) relate to the following:
KShs'000
Equity as previously reported - 1 January 2022 7,984,131
Impact of-
Discounting of liability for incurred claims 255,814
Contractual service margin (308,163)
Risk adjustment for non-financiat risk {228,902)
Loss component {197,768)
Change in measurement basis {166,848)
Reinsurance acquisition cash flows {155,252)
Deferred income tax 193,497
607,622
Correction of prior period error (Note 49) 413,828
Correction of prior period error (Note 49) (124.149)
289,679
Equity - restated 7,666,188

The adjustments relate to:

- Discounting, which include present value of fiability for incurred claims, representing the time value of money for claims
expected to be settled in periods longer than one year;

- Recognition of contractual service margin which represents deferred profit elements recognised at inception of contracts
and amortised over the contract period;

- the recognition of a risk adjustment for non-financiat risk, a new concept required by IFRS 17, compared to the prudent
margins required by IFRS 4;

- compared to the level at which the liability adequacy test was performed under IFRS 4, the level of aggregation of the
contracts under IFRS 17 is more granular and resuited in more contracts being identified as onerous and losses on
onerous contracts being recognized in profit or loss sooner. A foss component has been recognised to account for these
onerous contracts;

- Changes in measurement basis arises mostly from the direct participating contracts portfolio, where a cost of guarantee
has been considered under IFRS 17, this was not a requirement by IFRS 4.

- Under IFRS 4, some companies within the Group did not defer its reinsurance component of acquisition cash flows
(previously deferred commission Income). The reinsurance acquisition cash flows have been deferred and recognized
under IFRS 17.

- *Correction of prior year error is disclosed in note 49.

Impact on statement of camprehensive income
The statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive income has been re-presented for the year ended 31 December 2022

to reflect the changes in the opening balance sheet at 1 January 2022, The transitional requirements of IFRS 17 do not require
a reconcifiation between the previous format of profit or loss and the new format of profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

(b)
{i

New Standards, New Interpretations and Amendments to Standards (Continued)
New standards and amendments - applicable 1 January 2023 {Continued)
Implementation of IFRS 17 fesurance Contracts(continued)

Reclassification adjustments

insurance and reinsurance related receivables and payables are no longer presented separately from insurance liabilities and
reinsurance assets, leading to a reduction of total assets and liabilities as follows:
o Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements amounting to KShs 1.29 biflion and deferred acquisition costs
amounting to KShs 557 million have been reclassified from assets and netted off against insurance contract liabilities;
o Payables arising out of reinsurance arvangements (KShs 563 million) have been reclassified from fiabiiities and netted
off against reinsurance contract assets.
o Policy loans (KShs 585 million) have been reclassified from assets and netted off against insurance contract liabilities.

Porifolios of contracts that have asset balances and those that have liability balances are presented separately on each side
of the statement of financial position.

Transition fo IFRS 17
Selection of transition approach

On transition to IFRS 17, the Group has applied the full retrospective approach {FRA} unless it has concluded it is
impracticable. The Group has applied the FRA on transition for all insurance contracts issued on or after 1 Januaty 2021 and
prior to the 1 January 2023 effective date.

Fair value approach (FVA)

Where the Group has concluded that the FRA is impracticable, it has applied the FVA on transition for all groups of insurance
and associated reinsurance contracts. FVA basis cohorts have been grouped across multiple underwriting years into a single
unit for each product type and reinsarance treaty for measurement purposes, which is the unit of account applied. The
assumptions, models and the results of the determination of the fair value of the insurance and reinsurance contracts under
this approach are explained below.

impracticability assessment

IFRS 17 requires firms to apply the Standard fully retrospectively, unless it is impracticable to do so, in which case either a
modified retrospective approach or FVA may be taken. For insurance and reinsurance contracts where the effective date of the
contract was prior to 1 January 2021, the Group concluded that it wouid be impracticable to apply the standard on a fully
retrospective basis due to the inability of determining the risk adjustment, a new requirement in terms of IFRS 17, in earlier
years without the application of hindsight, Guidance contained in the IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors” requires that hindsight should not be applied in the application of an accounting standard on a
retrospective basis.

impracticability of application of Risk Adjustrment on the FRA (insurance contracts)

The most significant issue identified was the absence of an approved Group Risk Adjustment framework, policy and
methodology priorto 2021, with any target setting to prior year information representing the application of hindsight which is
prohibited by the Standard.

The risk adjustment is a new requirement of IFRS 17 and represents the compensation that an entity requires to take on non-
financial risk. Defining “compensation that the entity requires” to take on risk differs to any of the risk-based allowances
adopted for either existing regulatory or statutory reporting purposes. A new framework and poficy have been defined and
implemented to measure the risk adjustment.
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1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)
U]

New Standards, New interpretations and Amendments to Standards {Contirued)

New standards and amendments - applicable 1 January 2023 (Continued)

Implementation of IFRS 17 fnsurance Contracts{continued)

Transition to IFRS 17 feontinued)

Selsction of transition approach (continued)

Impracticability of application of Risk Adjustment on the FRA (insurance confracts) {continued)

The Group has assessed whether other information used in previous reporting cycles, including pricing for new business, could
be used to determine the risk adjustment, but has concluded that none of these alternatives would be an appropriate proxy for
the risk adjustment. The development of the new approach for IFRS 17 represents a significant enhancement in the approach
used to determine the Group's allowance for non-financial risk, with the use of a target confidence intetval and probability
distributions providing a more meaningful quantification of alfowance for risk compared with IFRS 4 reporting. Therefore, the
Group has concluded that the FRA is impracticable prior to 2021 in respect of risk adjustment as It would require the use of
hindsight.

Impracticability assessment for reinsurance contracts held

The risk adjustment for reinsurance contracts held in IFRS 17 reflects the “amount of risk being transferred” to the reinsurer,
50 where the risk adjustment for insurance contracts is impracticable then, by definition, the reinsurance risk adjustment is
also impracticable.

Approach adepted

After considering the severity of these factors, the Group concluded that it was impracticable to determine the value of
insurance and reinsurance contracts on an FRA basis for these years of business transacted priorfo 2021,

As a result of this impracticality, the IFRS 17 standard allows an accounting policy choice of the FVA or modified RVA from
which the Group elected to apply the FVA.

Determination of fair value
Fair value principles

The Group has used the principles contained in IFRS 13: “Fair Value Measurement”, except the principles relating to demand
features, to determine the fair value of the insurance and reinsurance contracts.

The objective of a fair value measurement is to estimate the price at which an orderly transaction to sell the asset or fo transfer
the liability would take place between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions, that is.
an exit price at the measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the Hability.

For certain assets and fiabifities, observable market transactions or market information may be available. For other assets and
liabilities, such as insurance ohligations and associated reinsurance agreements, observable market transactions and market
information are not widely available. There is no active market for the transfer of insurance liabilities and associated
reinsurance between market pariicipants and therefore there is limited market observable data. Although there may be
transactions for specific books of annuity business, the profile of the cash flows and nature of the risks of each book of business
is unigue to each, with key inputs underiying the price of these transactions not being widely-available public knowiedge, and
therefore It Is not possible to determine a reliable market benchmark from these transactions.

When a price for an identical asset or liability is not observable, the Group measures fair value using an afternative valuation
technique that maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of unchservable inputs. Because fair
value is a market-based measurement, it is determined using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk. As a result, an entity’s intention to hold an asset orto settle or otherwise
fulfit a liability is not relevant when measuring fair value.

51



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND {TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued})
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

(b)
(i

New Standards, New Interpretations and Amendments to Standatds (Continued)
New standards and amendments - applicable 1 January 2023 (Continued)
Implementation of IFRS 17 /nsurance Contracts{continued)

Transition to IFRS 17 (continued)

Selection of transition approach {continued)

Fair value principles {(continued)

The initial determination of the fair value was calculated on a gross and net of reinsurance basis. The fair value of the
reinsurance contracts was then determined based on the difference between the gross and net of reinsurance results.

The measurement of the fair value of insurance contracts and associated reinsurance contracts have therefore been classified,
in terms of the financial reporting fair value hierarchy as Level 3.

Aggregation of contracts for the determination of fairvalue

The Group has aggregated contracts issued more than one year apart when determining groups of insurance and reinsurance
contracts under the FVA at transition as permitted by IFRS 17. For the application of the FVA, the Group has used reasonable
and supportabie information available at the transition date in order to identify groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts.

Al insurance contracts which are valued at the date of transition using the fair vaiue transition method have been allocated to
the “any remaining contracts” profitability grouping.

Overview of the FVA applied

In line with IFRS 13, the Greup uses an income approach, i.e. a present value technique, to determine the FairVatue of a group
of contracts. According to IFRS 13, a Fair Value measurement of a liability using a present value technique captures all the
following elements from the perspective of market participants at the measurement date:

a) an estimate of future cash flows for the asset or liabilify being measured.

b) expectations about possible variations in the amount and timing of the cash flows representing the uncertainty inherent
in the cash flows.

¢} the time value of money, represented by the rate on risk-free monetary assets that have maturity dates or durations that
coincide with the period covered by the cash fiows and pose neither uncertainty in timing nor risk of default to the holder
{i.e., a risk-free intetest rate).

d} the price for bearing the uncertainty inherent in the cash flows (i.e., a risk premium).

e} other factors that market participants would take into account in the circumstances.

f) foraliability, the non-performance risk relating to that liability, including the entity’s own credit risk.

IFRS 13 presents various present value technigues to estimate Fair Value, The Group follows an adjusted Fulfilment Cashflow
approach (“Adjusted FCF"). This present value technique is similar to the approach under IFRS 17 given that both standards
necessitate a discounted value of the risk-adjusted expected cash flows. Under the adjusted FCF, the IFRS 17 fulfiiment
cashfiows are adjusted to reflect the perspective of a market participant in the principal market of the liability in contrast to
the entity’s view under IFRS 17 and other IFRS 13 requirements.
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®
®

New Standards, New Interpretations and Amendments to Standards (Continued)
New standards and amendments - applicable 1 January 2023 (Continued)
Implementation of IFRS 17 /nsurance Contracts (continued)

Transition to IFRS 17 {continued)

Summary of falr value results

The following table summarises the fair value of insurance and reinsurance contracts determined at the 1 January 2022
{ransition date.

tvalue: S flow CSM:
G _ L Kshs'0000 00 Kshs'000. 0 Kshs'000: . Kehs'000:
Insurance contract liabilities 6,545,473 6,167,918 104,764 272,791
Net reinsurance contracts liahilities
Reinsurance contract assets (25,665) {23,930} (1,818) 83
tn_surance contract liabilities - net of 6.519.808 6.143.988 102.946 272.874
reinsurance S —S RSl et £iedin

The Group has used reasonable and supportable information available at the transition date in order to:
s  [dentify groups of insurance contracts

e  Determine whether contracts are eligible for the VFA
e |dentify any discretionary cash flows for insurance contracts measured under the GMM

The discount rates for the group of contracts applying the fair value approach were determined using the prevailing yield curve
as at the transition date.

Application of IFRS 17 at 1 January 2022, required the Group to:
» Ildentify, recognise and measure group of insurance and reinsurance contracts as if IFRS 17 had always been applied;

« ldentify, recognise and measure any asset for insurance acquisition cashflows as if IFRS 17 had always been applied
except the recoverability assessment not applied before 1 January 2022;

»  De-recognise any existing balances that would not exist had IFRS 17 been applied and recognise the IFRS 17 balances
that replace these; and

¢  Recognise any resulting net difference in equity

Refer to the disclosure in note 1(c) for the measurement approaches adopted.
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1

{b)
(i}

New Standards, New interpretations and Amendments to Standards (Continued}

Forthcoming requirements

cavenants

{Published January 2020

nant . )
Number Effective date Executive summary
Amendments to IAS 1 - | Annual pericds beginning | These amendments clarify how conditions with which an entity must
Non-current labilities with | on or after 1 January 2024 | comply within tweive months after the reporting period affect the

classification of a liability. The amendments also aim to improve
information an entity provides related to labilities subject to these

and November 2022) conditions.
Amendment to IFRS 16 - | Annual periods beginning | These amendments include requirements for sale and leaseback
leases on sale and | onorafter 1January 2024 | transactions in IFRS 16 to explain how an entity accounts for a sale
leaseback and leaseback after the date of the transaction. Sale and leaseback
{Published September | transactions where some or all the lease payments are variable lease
2022) payments that do not depend on an index or rate are most likely to be

impacted.

Amendments fo Supplier
Finance  Arrangements
(IAS 7 and iIFRS 7}

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024

(Published May 2023)

These amendments require disclosures to enhance the transparency
of supplier finance arrangements and their effects on a company's
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. The disclosure
requirements are the IASB's response to investors’ concemns that
some companies’ supplier finance arrangements are not sufficiently
visible, hindering investors’ analysis.

Amendments to IAS 21
Lack of Exchangeability
{Amendments to I1AS 21)

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2025
{Published August 2023)

An entity is impacted by the amendments when it has a transaction or
an operation in a foreign cumency that is not exchangeable into
another currency at a measurement date for a specified purpose. A
currency is exchangeable when there is an ability to obtain the other
currency {with a normal administrative delay), and the transaction
would take place through a market or exchange mechanism that
creates enforeeable rights and obligations.

The above standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s and Company's financial statements.
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1.

(b)
0

(if)

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31 December
2023. Contral is achieved when the Group is exposed, or kas rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returas through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls a subsidiary if, and only if, the Group has:

¢ Poweroverthe subsidiary (i.e., existing tights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
*  Exposure, orrights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

¢ The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains contro! over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Assets, liahilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included/excluded in the consclidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

At company level, the investment in subsidiary is presented as an asset in the statement of financial position and measured at
cost,

Profit orloss and each component of OCI are attributed to the owners of the Group and to the non-controlfing interests, even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets
and fiabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Grou p are eliminated
in full on conselidation,

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. if the
Group loses control over a subsidiary, it;

Derecognises the assets {including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

Derecognises the carrying ameunt of any non-controlling interest;

Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

Recognises the fairvalue of any investment retained;

Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and

Reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or
retained earnings, as appropriate.

® 8 & & & » @

The Group financial statements reflect the result of the consolidation of the financial statements of the group and its
subsidiaries, CIC General Insurance Limited, CIC Life Assurance Limited, CIC Asset Management Limited, CIC Africa insurance
(SS} Limited, CIC Africa (Uganda) Limited and CIC Afica Co-operatives Insurance {Malawi} Limited details of which are
disclosed in note 19, made up to 31 December 2023,

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that de not result in foss of controt are accounted for as equity transactions - that
is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and

the relevant share acquired of the canying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to ron-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.
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{©

Basis of consolidation (continued)

{iiiy Associates

{d)

An assoclate Is an entity in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary ner a joint arrangement.
The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting while the Company's investment
in associate is accounted for using the cost method.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus post-
acquisition changes in the Group's and company's share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to an associate is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The statement of profit or loss refiects the share of the resulis of operations of the associate. Where there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, when
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity, either directly or through other comprehensive income. Profits or losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The share of profit of the associate is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss. This is profit attributable to equity
holders of the associate and, therefore, Is profit afier tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associates
after factoring in other comprehensive income.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to bring its accounting policies in line with the Group. After application of the equity method, the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in associates. The
Group determines at each reporting date, whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the asseciate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the 'share of profit of an associate’ in the statement of
profit and loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any remaining investment at its fair
value. Any differences between the canrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fairvalue of the
remaining investment and proceeds from disposat are recognised in profit or loss. Any interest in the equity of the assaciate
that was recorded directly in other comprehensive income of the investor is recycled to the profit or loss and is included in the
calculation of the gain or loss or disposal.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any ron-controfling
interests in the acquiree. The Group's identifiable assets and liabilities are measured at their acquisition-date fair value.

Non-controlling interests in an acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation, are measured at either fair value or the present ownership instruments'*
propartionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree's net identifiable assets. Non-controliing interests that are not
present ownership interests are measured at fair value. This accounting policy choice can be made on an individual business
combination basis.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabitities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition

date. This includes the separaticn of embedded derlvatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Ifthe business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resuiting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. it is then considered in the determination of goodwill.
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1.

{d)

{e)

Business combinations and goodwill {Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date,
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that s a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with changes in fairvalue recognised either in profit or
loss or as a change to OCE. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measuted and subsequent settiement
Is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly
identified all of the assets acquired and all of the fiabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to meastre the amounts
to be recognised at the acquisition date. if the re-assessment still resuits in an excess of the fair value of net assets acguired
over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or Joss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilitles of the
acquires are assigned to those units,

Insurance contracts

Summary of measurement approaches

The Group uses different measurement approaches, depending on the type of contract, as follows:

Product classification Measurement model
Insurance contracts issued
Ordinary life group:
Ordinary fife contracts Inskirance contracts General Measurement Model (GMM)
Annuity contracts Instrance contracts General Measurement Model (GMM)
Group life group:
Group life contracts Insurance contracts Premium Allocation Approach (PAA)
Group credit annual premiums contracts | Insurance contracts Premium Allocation Approach (PAA)
Group credit single premiums contracts Insurance contracts General Measurement Model (GMM)
Deposit administration group:
Direct participating contracts Investment contracts Premium Allocation Approach (PAA}
General business contracts Insurance contracts Premium Allocation Approach (PAA)
Reinsurance contracts held
Life reinsurance contracts Reinsurance contract held Premium Allocation Approach {PAA}
General business contracts Reinsurance contract held Premium Allocation Approach (PAA)

(i) Classification of contracts

fnsurance contracts are centracts under which the Group accepts significant insurance risk from a policyholder by agreeing to
compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event adversely affects the policyholder,

Inmaking this assessment, ail substantive rights and obligations, including those arising from law or regulation, are considered
on a contract-by-contract basis. The Group uses judgement to assess whether a contract transfers insurance risk {that is, if
there is a scenario with commerciat substance in which the Group has the possibility of a loss on a present value basis) and
whether the accepted insurance risk is significant.
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{e)

Insurance contracts (Continued)
(i} Classification of contracts (continued)

The Group issues certain insurance contracts that are substantially investment-related service contracts where the return on
the underlying items is shared with policyholders, Underlying items comprise specified portfolios of investment assets that
determine amounts payable fo policyhotders. The Group's policy is to hold such investment assets.

An insurance contract with direct participation features is defined by the Group as one which, at inception, meets the following

criteria:

«  the contractual terms specify that the poticyhelder participates in a share of a clearly identified pool of underlying items;

» the Group expects to pay to the policyholder an amount equal to a substantial share of the fair value retums on the
underlying items; and

» the Group expects a substantial proportion of any change in the amounts to be paid to the policyholder to vary with the
change in fair value of the undetlying items.

These criteria are assessed at the individual contract level based on the Group's expectations at the contract’s inception, and
they are not reassessed in subseguent periods, unless the contract is modified.

In the normal course of business, the Group uses reinsurance to mitigate its risk exposures. A reinsurance contract transfers
significant risk if it transfers substantially ali of the insurance risk resulting from the insured portion of the underlying insurance
contracts, even if it does not expose the reinsurer fo the possibility of a significant loss.

{i) Separation of components of insurance contracts

Before the Group accounts for an insurance contract based on the guidance in IFRS 17, it analyses whether the contract
contains components that should be separated. IFRS 17 distinguishes three categories of components that have to be
accounted for separately:

¢ Cash flows relating to embedded derivatives that are required to be separated;
»  Cash flows relating to distinct investment components; and
«  Promises to transfer distinct goods or distinct nen-insurance services

The Group applies IFRS 17 to all remaining components of the contract.
{iif) Level of aggregation of insurance contracts

The Group manages insurance contracts issued by product lines within an operating segment. Insurance contracts within a
product line that are subject to similar risks and are managed together are aggregated into a portfolio of contracts. Each
portfolio is further disaggregated into groups of contracts that are issued within a calendar year (annual cohorts) and are;
i. contracts that are onerous at initial recognition;
ii. contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming enerous subsequently; or
iii. a group of remaining contracts.

These groups represent the level of aggregation at which insurance contracts are initially recognised and measured. Such
groups are not subsequently reconsidered.

{iv) Recognition

Groups of insurance contracts issued are initially recognised from the earliest of the following:

e The beginning of the coverage period;

e The date when the first payment from the policyhoider is due or actually received, if there is no due date;and

=  When the Group determines that a group of contracts becomes onersus

Insurance contracts acquired In a business combination or a portfolio transfer are accounted for as if they were entered into at
the date of acquisition or transfer.
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(€)

Insurance contracts (Continued)
(iv} Recognition {continued)

The Group recognises a group of proportionate reinsurance contracts held {guota share reinsurance) fram the later of:
¢ The beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held; and
e The date of initial recognition of any underlying contract

If the Group recognises an onerous group of underlying contracts before the beginning of the coverage period of the group of
reinsurance contracts heid, then the group of proportionate reinsurance contracts held is recognised at the same time as the
onerous grotup of underlying contracts.

The Group recognises a group of non-proportionate reinsurance contracts held (such as group-wide catastrophe stop-loss
reinsurance) from the beginning of the caverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts; this is typically the first period in
which premiums are paid or reinsurance recoveries are received.

Reinsurance contracts are to be recognised in full for all underlying insurance contracts expected to be issued that fall within
the houndary of the reinsurance contracts held. An insurance contract is derecognised when itis:

»  Extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the insurance contract expires or is discharged er cancelled); or

s The contract is modified and certain additional criteria are met.

(v} Modification

When an insurance contract is modified by the Group as a result of an agreement with the counterparties or due to a change in
regulations, the Group treats changes in cash fiows caused by the modification as changes in estimates of the fulfilment cash
flows (FCF}, uniess the conditions for the derecognition of the original contract are met. The Group derecognises the ariginal
contract and recognises the modified contract as a new contract if any of the following conditions are present:

(a) if the modified terms had been included at contract inception and the Group would have concluded that the modified
contract:
() isnotinscopeof{FRS 17;
(i} results in different separable components;
(i) results in a different contract boundary; or
{iv) belongs to a different group of contracts;

{b) the original contract represents an insurance contract with direct participation features, but the modified contract no
longer meets that definition, or vice versa; or

{c) the original contract was accounted for under the premium aflocation approach (PAA), but the modification means that
the contract no longer meets the eligibility criteria for that approach.

{(vi) Derecognition

When an insurance contract not accounted for under the PAA is derecognised from within a group of insurance contracts, the

Group:

{a) adjusts the FCF to eliminate the present value of future cash flows and risk adjustment for non-financial risk relating fo
the rights and obligations removed from the Group;

(b) adjusts the contractual setvice margin (CSM) (unless the decrease in the FCF is allocated to the loss component of the
Hability for remaining coverage (LRC} of the Group) in the following manner, depending on the reason for the
derecognition:

{i) ifthe contract is extinguished, in the same amount as the adjustment to the FCF relating to future sewvice;

(i) ifthe contract is transferred to a third party, in the amount of the FCF adjustment in (a} less the premium charged by
the third party;

(iit) If the original contract is modified resulting in its derecognition, in the amount of the FCF adjustment in (a) adjusted
for the premium the Group wouid have charged had it entered into a contract with equivalent terms as the new
contract at the date of the contract modification, less any additional premium charged for the modification. When
recognising the new contract in this case, the Group assumes such a hypothetical premium as actually received;

(¢} adjusts the number of coverage units for the expected remaining coverage to reflect the number of coverage units
removed.
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Insurance contracts (Continued)
{vi) Derecognition (continued)

When an insurance contract accounted for underthe PAA Is derecognised, adjustments to the FCF to remove related rights and

obligations and account for the effect of the derecognition resulf in the following amounts being charged immediately to profit

orloss:

(a) if the contract is extinguished, any net difference between the derecognised part of the LRC of the original contract and
any other cash flows arising from extinguishment;

(b) ifthe contract is transferred to the third party, any net difference between the derecognised part of the LRC of the osiginal
contract and the premium charged by the third party;

(c} ifthe original contract is modified resulting in its derecognition, any net difference between the derecognized part of the
LRC and the hypothetical premium the entity would have charged had it entered into a contract with equivalent terms as
the new contract at the date of the confract modification, less any additional premium charged for the modification,

{vii) Measurement
Fuifillment cash flows

The fulfiiment cash flows {FCF) are the current estimates of the future cash flows within the contract boundary of a group of
contracts that the Group expects to collect from premiums and pay out for claims, benefits and expenses, adjusted to reflect
the timing and the uncertainty of those amounts.

The estimates of future cash flows:

{a) are based on a probability weighted mean of the fufl range of possible ocutcomes;

(b} are determined from the perspective of the Group, provided the estimates are consistent with abservable market prices
for market variables; and

{c) reflect conditions existing at the measurement date.

An explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is estimated separately from the sther estimates. For contracts measured
under the PAA, unless the contracis are onerous, the explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is only estimated for the
measuremnent of the liability for incurred claims (LIC).

The estimates of future cash flows are adjusted using the cument discount rates to reflect the time value of money and the
financial risks related to those cash flows, to the extent not included in the estimates of cash flows. The discount rates reflect
the characteristics of the cash flows arising from the groups of insurance contracts, including timing, currency and liquidity of
cash flows. The determination ofthe discount rate that reflects the characteristics of the cash flows and liquidity characteristics
of the insurance contracts requires significant judgement and estimation.

In the measurement of reinsurance contracts held, the probability weighted estimates of the present value of future cash flows
incluge the potential credit losses and other disputes of the reinsurer to reflect the non-performance risk of the reinsurer.

The Group estimates certain FCF at the portfolio level or higher and then allocates such estimates to groups of contracts. The
Group uses consistent assumptions to measure the estimates of the present value of future cash flows for the group of
reinsurance contracts held and such estimates for the groups of underiying insurance contracts.

Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the activities of selling, underwriting and starting a group of contracts that are
dirsctly attibutable to the portfolio of contracts to which the group belongs. Other costs that are incurred in fulfilling the
contracts include:

+ Claims handling, maintenance and administration costs;

= Recurring commissions payable on instaiment premiums receivabie within the contract boundary;

s  Costs that the Group will inctir in providing investment services;

s Costs that the Group will incur in performing investment activities to the extent that the Group performs them to enhance
benefits from insurance coverage for policyholders by generating an investment return from which policyholders will
kenefit if an insured event occurs; and

»  Income tax and other costs specifically chargeable to the policyhoiders under the terms of the contracts.
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Inskrance contracts (Continued)
(vii) Measurement (continued)
Contract boundary

Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise frem the rights and obligations that exist during the
pesiad in which the policyholder is obligated to pay premiums or the Group has a substantive obligation to provide the
policyholder with insurance coverage or other services. A substantive ohligation ends when:
{) the Group has the practical ability to reprice the risks of the particular poficyholder or change the level of benefits so that
the price fully refiects those risks; or
(b} both of the following criteria are satisfied:
(i} the Group has the practical ability to reprice the contract or a portfolio of contracts se that the price fully reflects the
reassessed risk of that pertfolio; and
{ii) the pricing of premiums related to coverage to the date when risks are reassessed does not reflect the risks related
to periods beyond the reassessment date.

In assessing the practical ability to reprice, risks transferred from the policyholder to the Group, such as insurance risk and
financial tisk, are considered; other risks, such as lapse or surrender and expense risk, are not included.

Riders, representing add-on provisions to a basic insurance policy that provide additionat benefits to the poficyholder at
additional cost, that are issued together with the main insurance contracts, form part of a single insurance contract with all the
cash flows within its boundary.

Some insurance contracts issued by the Group provide polieyholders with an option to buy an annuity upon the initially issued
policies’ maturity. The Group assesses its practical ability to reprice such insurance contracts in their entirety to determine if
annuity-refated cash flows are within or outside of the insurance contract boundary. As a result of this assessment, non-
guaranteed annuity options are not meastred by the Group until they are exercised.

Cash flows outside the insurance centract’s boundary relate fo future Insurance contracts and are recognised when those
confracts meet the recognition criteria.

Cash flows are within the boundaries of investment contracts if they resuit from a substantive obligation of the Group to deliver
cash at a present or future date,

For graups of reinsurance contracts held, cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and
obligations of the Group that exist during the reporting period in which the Group is compelled to pay amounts to the reinsurer
ot in which the Group has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer.

The Group's quota share fife reinsurance agreements held have ar unlimited duration but are cancellabie for new underlying
business with a one-year notice period by either party. Thus, the Group treats such relnsurance contracts as a series of annual
contracts that cover underlying business issued within a year, Estimates of future cash flows arising from all underlying
contracts issued and expected to be issued within one-year's boundary are included in each of the reinsurance contract's
measurement.

The excess of loss reinsurance contracts held provides caverage for claims incurred during an accident year, Thus, all cash
flows arising from claims incurred and expected o be incurred in the accident year are included in the measurement of the
reinsurance contracts held, Some of these contracts may include mandatory or voluntary reinstatement relnsurance premiums,
which are guaranteed per the contractual arrangements and are thus within the respective reinsurance contracts’ boundaries.

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is applied to the present value of the estimated future cash flows and reflects the
eompensation the Group requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows from non-financial
risk as the Group fulfils insurance contracts.

For reinsurance conteacts held, the risk adjustment for non-financial risk represents the amount of visk being transferred bythe
Group to the reinsurer.
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Insurance contracts (Continued)

{vii) Measurement (continued)

Initial measurement - groups of contracts not measured under the PAA
Contractual service margin

The CSM is a component of the carrying amount of the asset or liability for a group of insurance contracts issued representing
the unearned profit that the Group will recognise as it provides coverage in the future.

At initial recognition, the CSM is an amount that results in no income or expenses (unless a group of contracts is onercus)

arising from:

{a) the initiaf recognition of the FCF;

{b) the derecognition at the date of Initial recognition of any asset or ability recognised for insurance acquisition cash flows;
and

{c} cash flows arising from the contracts in the group at that date.

A negative CSM at the date of inception means the group of insurance contracts issued is onerous. A loss from onerous
insurance contracts is recognised in profit or loss immediately with no CSM recognised on the balance sheet on initial
recognition.

For groups of reinsurance contracts held, any net gain or loss at initial recognition is recognised as the C3M uniess the net cost
of purchasing reinsurance relates to past events, in which case the Group recognises the net cost immediately in profit or loss.
For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM represents a deferred gain or loss that the Group will recognise as a reinsurance
expense as it receives reinsurance coverage in the future.

For insurance contracts acquived, at initial recognition, the CSM is an amount that results in no income or expenses arising

from:

{a) the initial recognition of the FCF; and

() cash fows arising from the contracts in the group at that date, including consideration received for the contracts as a
proxy for the premiums received at the date of acquisition. In a business combination, the consideration received is the
fair value of the contracts at that date.

Subsequent measurement - Groups of contracts not measured under the PAA

The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of insurance contracts issued is the sum of:
(a) the LRC, comprising:

) the FCF related to future service aliocated to the group at that date; and

(i) the CSM of the group at that date; and
{b) the LIC, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of reinsurance contracts held is the sum of:
(@) the remaining coverage, comprising:

(i the FCF related to future service aliocated to the group at that date; and

(i) the CSM of the groug at that date; and
(b} theincurred clalms, comprising the FCF related to past service aliccated to the group at the reporting date.

For a group of contracts to which the premium allocation approach does not apply, the Group continues to treat the premiums

receivable frem the intermediary as future cash flows within the boundary of an insurance contract and, applying IFRS 17,
includes them in the measurement of the group of insurance contracts uniil recovered in cash.
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insurance contracts {Continued)

(vi) Measurement (continued)

Subsequent measurement - Groups of contracts not measured under the PAA (continued)
Changes In fulfilment cash flows

The FCF are updated by the Group for current assumptions at the end of every reporting period, using the current estimates of
the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows and of discount rates.

The way in which the changes in estimates of the FCF are treated depends on which estimate Is being updated:

(3) changes that relate to current or past service are recognised in profit or loss; and

{b) changes that relate to future service are recognised by adjusting the CSM or the loss component within the LRC as per the
policy below.

Forinsurance contracts measured under the GMM, the foliowing adjustments relate to future service and thus adjust the CSM:

(a) experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to future service and related cash flows
suich as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes;

(b} changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the LRC, except those relating to the effect of the time
value of money and the effect of financial risk and changes thereof;

(c) differences between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the actual investment
component that becomes payable in the periad;

{d) differences between any policyholder foan expected to become repayable (plus any insurance finance income or expenses
related to that expected repayment before it becomes repayabie in the period} and the actual policyholder loan that
becomes repayable in the period; and

{e) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service.

Adjustments {a) to (d) are measured using the locked-in discount rates as described in the section /nferest accretion on the
CSMbelow,

Ferinsurance contracts under the general measurement model (GMM), the following adjustments do not relate to future service
and thus do not adjust the CSM:

(@) changes in the FCF for the effect of the time value of money and the effect of financial visk and changes thereof:

() changes in the FCF relating to the LIC; and

(c) experience adjustments relating to insurance service expenses {excluding insurance acquisition cash flows).

Changes to the contractual service margin

Forinsurance contracts Issued, at the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of the CSM is adjusted by the Group

to reflect the effect of the following changes:

(a) the effect of any new contracts added fo the group;

(b} forcontracts measured under the GMM, interest accreted on the carnying amount of the CSM;

(¢} changes in the FCF relating to future service are recognised by adjusting the CSM. Changes in the FCF are recognised in
the CSM to the extent the CSM is available. When an increase in the FCF exceeds the carrving amount of the CSM, the
CSM s reduced ta zero, the excess is recognised in insurance service expenses and a toss component is recognised within
the LRC. When the CSM is zero, changes in the FCF adjust the loss component within the LRC with correspondence to
insurance senvice expenses. The excess of any decrease in the FCF over the loss component reduces the loss component
to zero and reinstates the CSM;

(dy the effect of any currency exchange differences; and

(e) the amount recognised as insurance revenue for services provided during the period determined after all other
adjustments above.

For a group of reinsurance contracts held, the carnrying amount of the CSM at the end of each reporting perfod is adjusted to
reflect changes In the FCF In the same manner as a group of underlying insurance contracts issued, except that when underlying
contracts are onerous and thus changes in the underlying FCF related to future sewice are recognised n insurance service
expenses by adjusting the loss component, respective changes in the FCF of reinsurance contracts held are also recognised in
the insurance service result.

The Group does not have any reinsurance contracts held measured under the GMM with underlying contracts measured under
the PAA,
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Insurance centracts {Continued)

(vii) Measurement (continued)

Subsequent measurement - Groups of contraets not measured under the PAA (continued)
Interest accretion on the CSM

Under the GMM, interest is acereted on the CSM using discount rates determined at initial recognition that are applied to
nominal cash flows (locked-in discount rates). If more contracts are added to the existing groups in the subsequent reporting
periods, the Group revises the locked-in discount curves by calculating weighted-average discount curves over the period that
contracts in the group are issued. The weighted-average discount curves are determined by multiplying the new CSM added to
the group and their corresponding discount curves over the total CSM.

Adjusting the CSM for changes in the FCF relating to future service

The CSM is adjusted for changes in the FCF measured applying the discount rates as specified above in the Changes in
fulfilment cash flows section.

Release of the CSM to profit or loss

The amount of the CSM recognised in profit or loss for services in the period is determined by the aliocation of the CSM
remaining at the end of the reporting period over the current and remaining expected coverage period of {he group of insurance
contracts based on coverage units.

The total number of coverage units in a group is the quantity of coverage provided by the contracts in the group over the

expected coverage period. The coverage units are determined at each reporting period end prospectively by considering:

(@) the guantity of benefits provided by contracts in the group;

(h) the expected coverage duration of contracts in the group; and

(¢) the likelihood of insured events occurring, oniy to the extent that they affect the expected duration of contracts in the
group,

For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM is released to profit or loss as services are received from the reinsurer in the peried.

The Group changes the treatment of accounting estimates made in previous interim financial statements when applying IFRS
17 in subsequent interim financial statements and in the annual reporting period.

Onerous contracts - loss component

When adjustments to the CSM exceed the amount of the CSM, the group of contracts becomes onerous and the Group
recognises the excess in insurance service expenses and records it as a loss component of the LRC,

When a loss component exists, the Group allocates the following between the foss component and the remaining component
af the LRC fer the respective group of contracts, based on the ratip of the loss component to the FCF relating to the expected
future cash outflows:

(a) expected incurred claims and expenses for the period;

(b) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk for the tisk expired; and

{c) finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts issued.

The amounts of loss component allocation in (a) and (b} above reduce the respective components of insurance revenue and
are not reflected in Insurance service expenses.

Decreases in the FCF in subsequent periods reduce the remaining loss component and reinstate the CSM after the loss
component is reduced to zero. Increases in the FCF in subsequent periods increase the loss component.
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{vi) Measurement (continued}

Subsequent measurement - Groups of contracts not measured under the PAA (continued)
Reinsurance contracts held - loss-recovery component

A loss-recovery compenent is established or adjusted within the asset for remaining coverage for reinsurance contracts held
for the amount of income recognised in profit or loss when the Group recognises a loss on initiat recognition of an anerous
group of underlying insurance contracts or on addition of onerous underlying insurance contracts to that group.

Subsequently, the loss-recovery component is adjusted to reflect changes in the loss component of an onerous group of
underlying insurance contracts as presented in the Onerous contracts - foss component section above. The loss-recovery
component is further adjusted, if required, to ensure that it does not exceed the portion of the canying amount of the loss
component of the onerous group of underlying insurance contracts that the Group expects to recover from the group of
reinsurance contracts held.

The loss-recovery component determines the amounts that are presented as a reduction of incurred claims recovery from
reinsurance contracts held and are consequently excluded from the reinsurance expenses determination.

Initial and subsequent measurement - groups of contracts measured under the PAA

The Group uses the PAA for measuring contracts with a coverage period of ahe year or less, or where it reasonably expects that
such a simplification would produce a measurement of the liability for remaining coverage that would not differ materially from
the one that would be produced by applying the General Measurement Model {GMM). This is the case for the engineering
portfolio, under General business contracts, whose LRC determined sing GMM does not differ materially from that meastred
under PAA. The Group uses PAA for measuring reinsurance contracts held with a coverage period of one year or less. The
reinsurance contracts held by the Company have coverage petiods of one year or less, hence the Company uses PAA for
measuring such reinsurance contracts held.

On initial recognition of insurance contracts issued, the Group measures the LRC at the amount of premiums received, less any
acquisition cash flows allocated fo the group of contracts adjusted for any amounts arising from the derecognition of any
prepaid acquisition cash flows asset. On initial recognition of reinsurance contracts held, the Group measures the remaining
coverage at the ameount of ceding premiums paid.

The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts issued at the end of each reporting period is the sam of:
(a) thelRC;and
(b} the LiC, comprising the FCF related to past senvice allocated o the group at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of a group of reinsurance contracts held at the end of each reporting period is the sum of:
{a} the remaining coverage; and
{(b) the incurred claims, comprising the FCF refated to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

For insurance contracts issued, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the LRC is:

{(a) increased for premiums recelved in the period;

{b) decreased for insurance acquisition cash fiows paid in the period (i applicable);

{¢) decreased for the amounis of expected premiums received recognised as insurance revenue for the services provided in
the period;

(d) increased for accretion of interest (if applicable); and

(e} increased forthe amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows in the period recognised as insurance setvice expenses
(if applicable).

For reinsurance contracts held, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the remaining coverage is:

{a) increased for ceding premiums paid in the period; and

(b} decreased for the amounts of ceding premiums recognised as reinsurance expenses for the services received in the
period.

The Group does not adjust the LRC for insurance contracts issued and the remaining coverage for reinsurance contracts held

for the effect of the fime value of money where, at initial recognition, the entity expects the time between any pramium
becoming due and providing the related insurance contact services is one year or less.
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insurance contracts {Continued)
{vil} Measurement (continued)
Initial and subsequent measurement -~ groups of contracts measured under the PAA (continued)

If a group of contracts becomes onerous, the Group increases the carrying amount of the LRC to the amounts of the FCF
determined under the GMM with the amount of such an increase recognised in insurance service expenses.

Subsequently, the Group amortises the amount of the loss component within the LRC by decreasing insurance service
expenses. The loss component amortisation is based on the passage of time over the remaining coverage period of contracts
within an onerous greup. If facts and circumstances indicate that the expected profitability of the onerous group during the
remaining coverage has changed, then the Group remeasures the FCF by applying the GMM and reffects changes in the FCF by
adjusting the loss compenent as required until the loss component is reduced to zero.

(viil) Presentation

Portfollos of insurance contracts that are assets and those that are liabilities, and portfolios of reinsurance contracts that are
assets and those that are liabilities, are presented separately in the statement of financial position. Any assets or liabilities
recognised for cash flows arising before the recognition of the related group of contracts (including any assets for insurance
acquisition cash flows) are included in the carrying amount of the related porifolios of contracts.

The Group disaggregates amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income {OCI) info {a)
an insurance service result, comprising insurance revenue and insurance sewvice expenses; and (b) insurance finance income
O eXpenses.

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income

Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts are presented separately from income and expenses from insurance
contracts. Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts, other than insurance finance income or expenses, are presented
on a net basis as ‘net expenses from reinsurance centracts’ in the insurance service result.

Insurance revenue and expenses
insurance revenue - contracts not measured under the PAA

The Group recognises insurance revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations - i.e. as it provides sewvices under groups
of insurance contracts.

For contracts not measured under the PAA, the insurance revenue relating to sewices provided for each year represents the
total of the changes in the liability for remaining coverage that relate to services for which the Group expects to receive
consideration, and comprises the following items:

»  Arelease of the CSM, measured based on coverage units provided;

=  Changes in the visk adjustment for non-financial risk relating to current services;

+  Claims and other directly atiributable expenses incurred in the year, generally measured at the amounts expected at the
beginning of the year. This includes amounts arising from the derecognition of any assets for cash flows other than
insurance acquisition cash flows at the date of initial recognition of a group of contracts, which are recognised as
insurance revenue and insurance service expenses at that date;

«  Diheramounts, including experfence adjustments for premium receipts for current or past services for the life risk segment
and amounts related to incurred policyholder {ax expenses for the participating segment,

In addition, the Group allocates a portion of premiums that relate to recovering insurance acquisition cash fiows to each petiod
in a systematic way based on the passage of time. The Group recognises fhe allocated amount, adjusted for interest accretion
at the discount rates determined on initial recogpition of the related group of contracis, as insurance revenue and an egual
amount as insurance setvice expenses.
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(&)

Insurance contracts (Continued)
(viii) Presentation (continued)
insurance revenue - contracts measured under the PAA

For contracts measured under the PAA, the insurance revenue for each period is the amount of expected premium receipts for
providing services in the period. The Group allocates expected premiums equally fo each period of refated insurance contract
setvices, unless the expected pattern of the release of risk during the coverage period differs significantly from an even basis.

Loss components

For contracts not measured under the PAA, the Group establishes a loss component of the liabiliy for remaining coverage for
onerous groups of insurance contracts. The loss component determines the amounts of fulfilment cash flows that are
subsequently presented in profit or loss as reversals of losses on onerous contracts and are excluded from insurance revenue
when they occiir. When the fulfitment cash flows are incurred, they are allocated between the loss compenent and the liability
for remaining coverage excluding the ioss comporent oh a systematic basis.

Insurance service expenses

Insurance servite expenses arising from insurance contracts are recognised in profit or loss generally as they are incurred. They

exclude repayments of investment compenents and comprise the following items.

+ Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses: For some life risk contracts, incurred clalms also Include premiums
waived on death or detection of critical iliness;
Other incurred ditectly atfributable expenses;
Amottisation of insurance acquisition cash flows: For contracts not measured under the PAA, this is equal to the amount
of insurance revenue recognised in the year that relates te recovering insurance acquisition cash flows. For contracts
measured under the PAA, the Group amentises insurance acquisition cash flows on a straight-line basis over the coverage
period of the group of contracts
Losses on onercus contracts and reversals of such losses

o Adjustments to the liabilities for incurred claims that do not arise from the effects of the time value of money, financial
risk and changes therein

« Impairment losses on assets for insurance acquisition cash flows and reversals of such impairment losses

Other expenses not mesting the above categories are included in other operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss.
Net expenses from relnsurance contracts

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts comprise an allocation of reinsurance premiums paid less amounts recovered from
reinsurers. The Group recognises an allocation of reinsurance premiums paid in profit or loss as it recelves services under
groups of reinsurance contracts. For contracts not measured under the PAA, the allocation of reinsurance premiums paid
relating to services received for each period represents the total of the changes in the asset for remaining coverage that relate
fo services for which the Group expects to pay consideration.

For contracts measured under the PAA, the allocation of reinsurance premiums paid for each periad is the amount of expected
premium payments for receiving services in the perod.

For a graup of reinsurance contracts covering onerous underlying contracts, the Group establishes a loss-recovery component

of the asset for remaining coverage to depict the recovery of losses recognised;

+  Onrecognition of onerous underlying contracts, if the reinsurance contract covering those contracts is entered into before
or at the same time as those contracts are recognized

=  For changes in fulfilment cash flows of the group of reinsurance contracts relating to future services that result from
changes in fulfilment cash flows of the onerous underlying contracts

The loss-recovery component determines the amounts that are subsequently presented in profit or loss as reversals of
recoveries of losses from the reinsurance contracts and are excluded from the allocation of reinsurance premiums paid. It is
adjusted to reflect changes in the loss component of the onerous group of underlying contracts, but it cannot exceed the portion
of the loss component of the onerous group of underlying contracts that the Group expects to recover from the reinsurance
contracts.
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(e) insurance contracts (Continued}
{viii) Presentation (continued)
Insurance finance income and expenses

Insurance finance income and expenses comprise changes in the carrying amounts of groups of insurance and reinsurance
contracts arising from the effects of the time value of money, financial risk and changes therein, unless any such changes for
groups of direct participating contracts are allocated to a loss component and included in insurance sevice expenses. They
include changes in the measurement of groups of contracts caused by changes in the value of underlying items (excluding
additions and withdrawals).

The Group has chosen not to disaggregate insurance finance income and expenses between profit orioss and OCJ. All insurance
finance income and expenses for the period is presented in profit or loss.

The Group has chosen not to disaggregate the change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk between the insurance service
result and the insurance finance result. The entire change s recognised in the insurance service resuit.

® income

) Investmentincome

Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as it accrues and is caiculated by using the effective interest
rate (EIR) method. Interest income is recognised using EIR method for all financial assets measured at amortised cost. interest
income on interest bearing financial assets measured at fairvalue through 0Cl is also recorded using the EIR method. The EIR
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected fife of the financial asset or liability or
when apptopriate, a shorter period, to the gross canying amount of the financial asset.

The EIR {and therefore the amortised cost of the financlal asset) is calcuiated taking into account transaction costs and any
discount or premiutn on acquisition of the financial asset, as well as fees and costs that are an integral part of the FIR. The
Group recognises interest income using the EIR method.

The group calculates interest income on financial assets, other than those considered credit impaired, by applying the EIR to
the gross carrylng amount of the asset.

Fees and commissions that are an integral part of the effective yield of the financial asset or liability are recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate of the instrument. Investment income also includes dividend income which is
recognised when the right o receive the payment is established.

(i) Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the fease term. The excess of rental income on a straight-line over cash
received is recognised as an operating lease liability/asset. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised overthe lease term on the same basis as rentat income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

{iii} Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised on the date when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established. Dividend income is
presented gross of any non-recoverahle withholding taxes which is included as part of investment income.

{iv) Realised / unrealised gains and losses

Realised / unrealised gains and losses recorded in the statement of profit or foss on investments include gains and losses on
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties. Gains and losses on the sale of
investments are calculated as the difference between net sales proceeds and the original or amortised cost and are recorded
on occurrence of the sale transactions. More details on the en how the gains have been anived has been discussed in the
specific policies relating to the assets.
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{t Income {continued)

{v} Revenue from contract with customers
Revenue from asset management services

The Group recognizes revenue only when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferding control of the seivice to is
customers. The perfermance obligation is satisfied over time as the customer simultaneously consumes the benefits provided
by the Group as the Group performs.

The Group provides fund management services. The agreement for fund management services specifies the performance
obligation as to caiy out the management and administration of the fund, be responsibie for investing and re-investing the
assets. Accordingly, the Group allocates the transaction price based on the value of the asset portfolio managed.

This financial services income includes income from investment management and related activities. This is based on the value
of the assets managed on behalf of clients such as fund management fees, collective investment and linked product
administration fees. Initial fees that relate to the future rendering of services are deferred and recognised as those future
services are rendered.

{g) Operating and other expenses

Expenses are recognised in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an

increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably and is independent from transactions with equity padicipants.

This means, in effect, that recognition of expenses occurs simultanecusly with the recognition of an increase in liabilities ora

decrease in assets (for example, the accrual of employee entitiements or the depreciation of equipment),

(i) When economic benefits are expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association with income can only
be broadly or indirectly determined expenses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the basis of systematic
and rational allocation procedures. This is often necessary in recognising the equipment associated with the using up of
assets such as property and equipment. In siech cases the expense is referved to as a depreciation or amortisation. These
allocation procedures are intended to recognise expenses in the accounting periods in which the economic benefits
associated with these items are consumed or expire,

{ii) An expense is recognised immediately in profit or loss when expenditure produces no futtre economic benefits or when,
and to the extent that future economic benefits do not qualify, or cease to qualify, for recognition in the statement of
financial position as an asset.

Operating and other expenses that are directly attributable to acquisition of insurance business are recognised in insurance senvice
expenses as per note 1(e){viii} above. Other expenses not meeting the categoties in note 1(e){viii) are included in other operating
expenses in the statement of profit or foss.

(h) Taxation
Current income tax

Current income tax is the amount of income tax payable on the taxable profit for the year determined in accordance with the
respective countries’ Income Tax Legislations. income tax expense is the aggregate amount charged/ (credited) in respect of
current tax and deferred tax in determining the profit or loss for the year. Current income tax assets or liabilities are based on
the amount of tax expected to be paid or recovered in respect of the taxation authorities in the future, Tax is recognised in profit
or loss except when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case it is also recognised in other
comprghensive income, or to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is also recognised directiy in equity.

Current income tax is provided on the basis of the results for the year, as shown in the financial statements, adjusted in
accordance with tax legisiation. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted as at the reporting date. The prevailing tax rate and the amount expected to be paid are highlighted in
note 11 of these financial statements.

The group offsets current tax assets and current tax liabilities when:
- It has alegally enforceable right te set off the recognised amounts; and
- Itintends eitherto settle on a net basis, orto realise the asset and setfle the liability simukfaneously.

The net amount of current income tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation autherity is included on a separate line in
the statement of financiat position of these financial statements.
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(h)

{i

Taxation (continued)
Deferred ingome tax

Deferred income tax is determined using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabifities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, using tax rates and faws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date and expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred tax
Hability is settied.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences except those arising on the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial
recognition of an asset or Eability, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affeets neither the
accougnting nortaxable profit nor loss. In respect of taxable temperary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences wilt not reverse in the
foreseeable future. In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in jointventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available againstwhich the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised oaly to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The canrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow ali or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The accounting of deferred tax movements is driven by
the accounting treatment of the underlying transaction that led to the temporary differences.

Deferred tax relating to items recorded in profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss, while deferred tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or toss is recognised outside profit or loss in other comprehensive ingome or equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off curent tax assets against
current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxabie entity and the same taxation authority.

Income Taxes
Vatue Added Tax (VAT) and premium taxes

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabifities are recognised net of the amount of VAT and premium taxes except:

= when the VAT or premium tax incurred on a purchase of assets or sewvices is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as
applicable, or receivables and payabies that are measured with the amount of VAT or premium tax included.

Outstanding net amounts of VAT or premium tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as past of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Earnings per share

The Group calculates basic earnings per share amounts for profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
entity and, if presented, profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to those equity holders. Basic earnings per share
Is calculated by dividing profit or loss attributable to exdinary equity holders of the parent entity (the numerator) by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding (the deneminator) during the period.

Forthe purpose of calculating basic earnings per share, the amounts attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity
in respect of:

(i) profit orloss from continuing operations attributable to the parent entity; and

(i) profit or loss attributable to the parent entity

are the amounts in (i) and (i} adjusted for the after-tax amounts of preference dividends, differences arising on the seftiement
of preference shares, and other similar effects of preference shares classified as equity.
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1

@

Transtation of foreign currencies

The presentation currency of each of the Group's consolidated entities is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates. The consolidated and company's financial statements are presented in Kenyan Shilling (“KShs")
which is also the company's functionat currency.

Monetary assets and labilities are translated into each entity’s functional currency at the applicahle exchange rate at the
respective reporting dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of the transactions performed by
the companies of the Group and from the franslation of monetary assets and liabilities info each entity's functional currency
are recognized in profit or loss, Effects of exchange rate changes on the fair value of equity instruments are recorded as part of
the fair vajue gain or loss.

The results and financial position of each group entity (are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

() assets and lizbilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the applicable closing rate at
the respective reporting date;

(i income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of other comprehensive income are translated
either at the rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or at average exchange rates (in case this average is a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates).

The results and financial position of an entity whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinfiationary economy shall be
translated into the group's presentation currency using the following procedure: all amounts (i.e. assets, liabilities, equity
items, income and expenses) shall be translated at the closing rate at the date of the most recent statement of financial
position.

When amounts are translated into the currency of a non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts shall be those that
were presented as current year amounts in the relevant prior year financial statements (i.e. not adjusted for subsequent
changes in the price level or subsequent changes in exchange rates).

Inflation accounting

One of the subsidiaries of the Group, CIC Africa Insurance (South Sudan) was considered to operate in hyperinflationary
ecenomy until 31 December 2022, In 2023, South Sudan ceased being hyperinflationary and the subsidiary discontinued the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements in accordance to the IAS 29 standard. It treated the carrying amounts
expressed in the measuring current unit at 31 December 2022 as the basis for opening carrying amounts for the 2023 financial
statements.

Significant judgement

The Group exercises significant judgement in determining the onset of hyperinfiation in countries in which it operates and
whether the functional currency of its subsidiaries is the currency of a hyperinftationary economy.

Various characteristics of the economic environment of each country are taken into account. These characteristics include, but
are niot limited to, whether;

« the general population prefers to keep its wealth in non-menetary assets or in a relatively stabie foreign currency;
prices are quoted in a relatively stable foreign curency;

sales or purchase prices take expected losses of purchasing power during a short credit period inte account;
interest rates, wages and prices are linked to a price index; and

the cumulative infiation rate over three years is approaching, or exceeds, 100%.

The analysis of the cumulative inflation rate over three years resulted in the Group considering whether South Sudan’s ecenomy
was hyperinflationary. Based on the available information, the Group concluded that the economy is currently not
hyperinflationary.
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(k)

{I

Property and eguipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses except for
buildings which are measured based on revalued amounts. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s canying amount or
recognised as a separate asset as appropriate only when the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
group and the cost of the item can be measured refiably.

Buildings are measured according to the revaluation model stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
reporting date.

Increases in the canying amount of fand and buildings arising on revaluation are dealt with through other comprehensive
income and accumulated under a separate heading of revaluation surplus in the statement of changes in equity. Decreases
that offset previous increases of the same asset are dealt with through other comprehensive income and reversed from
revaluation surplus in the statement of changes in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss for the year.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that
would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period.

Depreciation is calculated on straight line basis to write down the cost of each asset, or the revalued amount, to its residual
value over its estimated useful life as follows:

Buildings 40 years
Computers 4 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Fumiture, fittings and equipment 8years
Leasehold improvements 10years

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment as described in note (s) whenever there are any indications of impairment
identified.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately fo its
recoverahie amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value fess costs of disposal and its value in use.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further economic benefits are expected from its
continued use or disposal. Gains and losses on derecognition of propesty and equipment are determined by reference to the
difference of the canying amounts and disposal proceeds. On disposal of revalued assets, amounts in the revaluation reserve
relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. The date of disposal of an item of property, and equipment is the
date the recipient obtains control of that item in accordance with the requirements for determining when a performance
obligation is satisfied. The amount of consideration to be included is the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of property
and is determined in accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.

The residual value, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property and equipment are reviewed at each financial year end
are adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

investment properties

Investment property is property held to eam rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment property is initially
recognised at cost including the transaction costs. The Investment properties are subsequently canied at fair value,
representing the open market value at the reporting date determined by annual valuations by independent valuers. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value are included in the profit or loss for the year {o which they relate.

The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the fime that cost is incurred if the
recognition criteria is met; and excludes the costs of day-to-day sewicing of an investment praperty.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed off (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control)
or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its
disposal. On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is
charged or credited to profit or loss. The date of disposal of investment property is the date the recipient obtains control of that
item in accordance with the requirements for determining when a perfermance obligation is satisfied. The amount of
censideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of investment property is determined in
accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.
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{m}

n

Investment properties (continued)

Transfers are made to {or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property
to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-
occupied property becemes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under plant and equipment to the date of change in use.

intangible assets

Soffware licence costs and computer software that are not an integral part of the related hardware are initially recognised at
cost, and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs that are
directly attributable to the production of identifiable computer seftware products controlled by the Group are recognised as
intangible assets.

Softwares under implementation are recognised as work in progress at historical costs less any accumulated impairment foss.
The cost of such softwares Includes professional fees and costs directly attributable to the software. The softwares are not
amortised until they are ready for the intended use.

The useful lives of intangibie assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. The group does not have assets with indefinite
life and hence the amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of each licence or item of
software over its estimated useful life (four years).

Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management, even when idle. Amattisation ceases at the earlier of the date
that the asset is classified as held for sale and the date that the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets have finite lives and are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible assef with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattera of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset
is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives Is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category
consistent with the function of the intangible asset. The date of disposal of an item of intangible asset is the date the recipient
ohfains controt of that item in accordance with the requirements for determining when a performance obligation is satisfied.
The amount of consideration te be included in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset is
determined in accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.

Accounting for leases

The Group leases rental office spaces. The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right fo control the use of an identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration. To
assess whether a contract conveys the right fo contrel the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in
IFRS 16.

Group acting as a lessee

On the commencement date of each lease {excluding leases with a term, on commencement, of 12 months or less and leases
forwhich the underlying asset is of low value) the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and 2 lease Hability.

The lease fiability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid on that date. The lease payments
include fixed payments, variable payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected io be payable under residual
value guarantees, and the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that aption. The
lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. i that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's
incremental borrowing rate is used. The incremental borrowing rate is the internal cost of debt determined as the risk free
borrowing rate adjusted for country premium.

For leases that contain non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideraticn payable o the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone components.
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Accounting for leases (continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost comprising the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease payments
made en or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs incurred, and an estimate of the costs of restoring the
undetlying asset to the condition required under the terms of the lease.

Subsequently the lease liability is measured at amortised cost, subject to re-measurement to reflect any reassessment, lease
modifications, or revised fixed lease payments.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of each asset to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. If ownership of the underlying asset is not expected to pass to the Group at the end of the lease term, the
estimated useful life would not exceed the lease term.

Forleases with a term, on commencement, of 12 months or less and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value (such
as leased electronic equipment) the total lease payments are recognized in profit or foss on a straight-line basis over the lease
period.

Leases where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are recognised as a liability at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased
assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The interest rate implicit in the lease is used as the discount
factor in determining the present value. Each lease payment is allocated between the fiability and finance cost using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. The finance cost is charged to the profit and loss account in the year in which it is incurred.
Property and equipment acquired under finance leases are capitalised and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the
asset.

The changes in leases which do not fall under the scope of COVID 19 related concessions are treated as lease modifications.
Right of use assets are re-measured and gains or losses thereof recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Short-term feases and leases of iow-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases. The Group recognises
the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense over the lease term,

A short-term lease in this context is defined as any arrangement which has a lease term of 12 months or less. Lease payments
associated with such arrangements are recognised in the income statement as an expense on a straight-line basis. The Group's
total short term and low value lease portfolio is not material. The Group also leases office equipment such as printers and for
which certain leases are short term.

Determination

The determination of whether an amangement is, (or contains), a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the
inception date, The arrangement is assessed for whether fuifiiment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific
asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an
arrangement.

Group as a lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in
the period in which they are earned.

When an operating lease is terminated, any payment required by the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in
the period in which termination took place, The Group is both lessee and a lessor.
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Accounting for leases (continued)
The Group as the lessor - Investment properties leasing arrangements

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals payable monthiy. Lease payments for some
contracts include Consumer Price Index (CPi} increases, but there are no other variable lease payments that depend on an
index or rate.

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group altocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an
operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major
part of the economic life of the asset. On a consolidated hasis, the business evaluated the proportion of the properties that are
owner occupied and reclassified them to Property and Equipment

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration in
the contract.

Provisions

General provisions

Provisions for liabilities are recognised when there is a present obligation (fegal or constructive) resuiting from a past event,
and it is probabte that an outflow of economic resources will be required fo settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made of the monetary value of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision fo be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is vittually certain, The expense relating
to any provision is presented In profit or less net of any reimbursement, If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the tisks specific to the liability. Where
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Onerous contracts
A provision is recognised for onerous contracts in which the unavoidabie costs of meeting the obligations under the contract

exceeds the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs reflect the least net cost of exiting the
contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from fatlure to fulfil it.
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Employee benefits

Defined contributions provident fund

The Group aperates a defined contributions post-employment provident fund for eligible employees. The fund is funded by
contributions from the employees and the Group. The assets of the fund are held and administered independently of the
Group’s assets.

Statutory pension scheme

The Group also makes contyibutions to the statutory defined contiibution schemes in the four countries where operations are
based. Contributions to defined contribution schemes are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as they fall due.

Leave

Empioyee entitiements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees, A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annuat leave accrued at the reporting date.

Bonus

An accrual is recognised for the amount expected o be paid under shori-term cash boaus if the Group has a present legal and
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, the obligation can be estimated
reliably, and it is probabte that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

Termination henefits

The Group recognises a liability and expense for termination benefits at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves
the payment of termination benefits,

()  For termination benefits payable as a result of an employee’s decision to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the
termination of employment, the time when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of termination benefits is the earlier
of when the employee accepts the offer and when a restriction (eg a legal, regulatory or contractual requirement or other
restriction) on the entity’s ability to withdraw the offer takes effect. This would be when the offer is made, if the restriction
existed at the time of the offer.

(i}  For termination benefits payable as a resuit of the Group’s decision to ferminate an employee’s employment, the Group
then can no longer withdraw the offer when it has communicated to the affected employees a plan of termination meeting
ail ofthe following:

- Actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unHkely that significant changes o the plan will be made;

- The plan identifies the number of employees whose employment is to be terminated, their job classifications or functions
and their locations (but the plan need not identify each individuat employee) and the expected completion date; and

- The plan establishes the termination benefits that employees will receive in sufficient detail that empioyees can determine
the type and amount of benefits they will receive when their employment is terminated.
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Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity:

(0  That engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and
expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity);

(i) Whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess Its performance; and

{iii)  Forwhich discrete financial information s available.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker (the Group Chief Executive Officer). The Group Chief Executive Officer allocates resources to and assesses the
performance of the operating segments of the Group. The operating segments are based on the Group's management and
internal reporting structure.

Under IFRS 8, the Group's reportable segments are long-term business, general insurance business, asset management and
other. Long-term business comprises the underwriting of risks relating to death of an insured person and includes contracts
subject to the payment of premiums for a long-term dependent on the termination or continiance of the life of an insured
person. General insurance business relates to all other categories of insurance business written by the Group and is analysed
into several sub-classes of business based on the nature of the assumed risks. Asset management comprises fund
management, advisory services businesses and investments. Others comprises of the regional companies; CIC Africa Uganda,
CIC Africa Malawi and CIC Aftica South Sudan. It aiso includes the holding company. The Group's main geographical segment
of business is in Kenya, which contributes over 87% (2022: 88%) of the Group’s total insurance revenue.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there Is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs of disposal and its valve in use.
The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, an appropriate valuation model is
used.

Impairment fosses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the Impaired asset, except for property previously revalued where the revaiuation was taken to sther comprehensive
income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous
revaluation. The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are detailed in
its five-year strategic plan. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows
after fifth year.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
lesses may no longer exist or may have decteased. If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of recoverable
amount. A previous impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. if that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the cartying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal 1s
recognised in the profit or loss to the amount of an impairment already taken to profit or loss while the remainder wilk be a
revaiuation amount through other comprehensive income.
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through OC1 and financial assets at fair
value through profit or ioss including investment properties at fair value at each reperting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordetly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the Hability takes place either:

» Inthe principal market for the asset or liability; or

= Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible o by the Group.
The fair valie of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a nen-financial asset takes into account a market participant's abifity to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the assetin
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation technigues that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fairvalue is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest fevei input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

» Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

*  level 2 - Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly
or indirectly ohservable; and

= level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
urobservable

For assets and abilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recunring basls, the group determines whether
transfers have ocourred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the Jowest level input that is
significant to the fairvalue measurement as a whole) af the end of each reporting period.

Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by the Finance General Manager (GM), who discusses the basis and
assumptions with the valuer. The Group Chief Financial Officer then approves this. Selection criteria include market knowiedge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained.

Forthe putpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the ievel of the fair value hietarchy as explained above. Fair value related
disclosures have been set eut in note 54,

Financial instruments

Afinancial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability er equity instrument
of another entity,

Date of recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
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Initial recognition and meastirement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition and subseguently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCY), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the group's business model for managing them. The Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are measured at the transaction ptice determined under IFRS 15.

Financial assets

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPIY on the principal amount cutstanding. This assessment
is referred to as the SPPi test and is performed at an instrument level,

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash fiows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting coniractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by reguiation or convention
in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or
setl the asset.

Subsequent meastrement

for purposes of subsequent measturement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

« Financial assets at amortised cost {debt instruments};

= Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumuiative gains and losses (debt instruments);

+ Financial assets designated at fair value through OCH with no recycling of cumutative gains and losses upon derecognition
(equity instruments); and

* Financial assets at fair value through profit or foss.

Financial assets at amortised cost {debt instruments}
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

» The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective fo hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

= The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of prircipal
and interest on the pringipal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subseguently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EiR) method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include loans receivable, cash and cash equivatents, deposits with financial
institutions, commercial papers, corporate bonds, other receivables, government securities at amortised cost and due from
related parties.

Business model assessment

The group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to achieve its
husiness objective.

The Group holds financial assets to generate returns and provide a capital base to provide for settlement of claims as they
arise. The Group considers the timing, amount, and volatility of cash flow requirements to support insurance liability portfolios
in determining the business model for the assets as well as the potential to maximise retura for shareholders and future
business development. The expected frequency, value, and timing of asset sales are important aspects of the Group's
assessment.
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Business model assessment (continued)

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking “worst case” or "stress case”
scenarfos inte account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Group’s original
expectations, the Group does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model but
incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward,

The SPPI test

As a second step of its classification process the Group assesses the contractual terms to identify whether they meet the SPPI
test.

“Principal” for the purpese of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may change
over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principat or amortisation of the premium/discount),

The most significant elements of interest within a debt arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of money
and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Group applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as the period
for which the interest is set.

Financial assets at fafr value through OCI (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI i both of the following conditions are met:

«  Thefinancial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to coliect contractual cash flows and
selling; and

+  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount gutstanding.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial assets contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. Except for other receivables and amount due from related parties, which
do not contain significant financing components, the Group initiatly measures a financial asset at its fairvalue plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or less, transaction costs.

For a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or at fair value through OCH, it needs to give Hise to cash
flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding, This assessment is
referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrament level.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCE, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCl. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recognised in OCH is recycled fo profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments}

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify imevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated at
fair value through OCi when they meet the definition of eguity under 1AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading, The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OC!. Eguity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment. The unquoted financial assets have been
designated at fair value through OCI because the Group intends to hold the assets into perpetuity. The Group has designated
its equity investments previously classified as available-for-sale as equity investments at FYOC| on the basis that these are not
held for trading.

The Group's financial assets designated at fair value through OC! {equity instruments) are the unquoted equity investments,
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets at falr vafue through profit or foss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financlal assets designated upon
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. Detivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fairvalue through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the eriteria for
debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through 0CI, as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismateh.

Financial assets at fair vafue through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or foss.

The Group has classified quoted equity instruments and investments in collective investment scheme in this category.

Derecognition
Derecognition other than for substantial modification

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (.., removed from the Group’s statement of financial position) when:
»  Therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

s The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an cbligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either {a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b} the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transfetred coatrol of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered inte a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor fransferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liabllity are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
ohligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guaraniee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the terms and conditiens have been renegotiated to the extent that,
substantially, it becomes a new instrement, with the difference recognised as derecognition gain or loss. When assessing
whether or not {o derecognise an instrument, amongst others, the Group considers the following factors: introduction of an
equity feature, change in counterparty and if the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPi
criterion.

if the modification does not resulf into cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result in
derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Group records a modification gain or loss.
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Financial instruments {continued)
Impairment of financial assets
Overview of ECL. principles

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss or
LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on
the 12 months' expected credit loss (12mECL).

The 12m ECL is the postion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instriment that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a financial
instrument’s eredit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default
occurring over the remaining life of the financtal instrument.

The calculation of ECLs

The Group calculates ECLs based on three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalis, discounted
at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are as follows:

¢ PD: The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may only
happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously derecognised and is still in the
portfolio.

«  EAD: The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, considering expected changes in the
exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or
otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments.

+ LGD: The Loss Given Defauitis an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. i{ is based
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including
from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

The Group does not have financial guarantees, loan commitments, letters of credit and financial assets which are purchased
or originated credit impaired {POCI).

The maximum period for which the credit losses are determined is the contractual life of a financial asset at amortised cost
unless the Group has the legal right to call it earlier.

The Group allocates its assets subject to ECL caleulations into these categories determined as follows:

»  12MECL {Stage 1} -The 1ZmECL is calculated as the portion of the LTECL. that represents the ECL that result from
defauit events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. The Group
calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a defauit occurring within 12 months following the
reporting date.

e LTECL (Stage 2)-This is recorded when a financial instrument has shown a significant increase in credit risk since
origination,

« |mpairment (Stage 3) -For debt instruments considered credit-impaired, the Group recognises the lifetime expected
credit losses for these instruments.

»  For other receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a ioss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
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Financiat instruments (continued)

Forward looking information

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the
financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments when
such differences are significantly material,

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has
increased significantly since Initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. It formulates a 'base case' view of the future
direction of relevant economic variables and a representative range of other possibie forecast scenarios based on advice from
the risk committee and economic expetts and consideration of a vatiety of external actual and forecast information. This
precess involves developing two or more additional economie scenarios and considering the relative probabilities of each
outcome.

The base case represents a best estimate and Is aligned with information used by the group for other purposes, such as
strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios represent mere optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes. The Group
also periodically carries out stress-testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate its determination of these other representative
scenatios.

Collaterat valuation

To mitigate its credit risk on financial assets (staff loans), the Group seeks to use collateral, where possible, The collateral is in
form of real estate or motoy vehicles. Collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Group's statement of financial
position. However, the fair value of collateral affects the caleulations of ECLs for staff loans. It is generally assessed, at a
minimum, at inception and reassessed on annual basis. Collaterals such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by
third parties such as real estate valuers.

Collateral repossessed

The Group's accounting policy under IFRS 9 remains the same as it was under 1AS 39. The Group’s policy is to determine
whether a repossessed asset can be best used for its internal operations or should be sold. Assets determined to be useful for
internal operations are transferred to their refevant asset category at the lower of the repossessed value or the carrying amount
of the original secured asset. Assets for which selling is determined to be the better option are transferred to assets held for
sale at their fair value (if financial assets) and fair value less cost to sell for non-financial assets at the repossession date in
line with the Group's policy.

In its normal course of business, the Group does not physically repossess properties or motor vehicles but engages its
procurement department to auction the asset to settle the outstanding debt. Any surplus funds are retumed to the obligors,
Because of this practice, the real estate properties and motor vehicles under legal repossession processes are not recorded in
the balance sheet.

Write offs

Financial assets are written off either partially er in entirety only when the Group has stopped pursuing the recovery. If the
amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition fo the
allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount Any sitbsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expense.
There were no write offs over the period reported in these financial statements.

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the
financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments when
such differences are significantly material.
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Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financiat liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, joans and
borrowings, and payables. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair vatue and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payabies, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include other payables, borrowings, payables arising out of reinsurance arrangements and
amounts due to related parties.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:
Financial liabifities at fafr value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair vafue through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recogrition as at fair value through profit o loss.

Financiai liabilities are classified as held fortrading if they are incutred forthe purpose of repurchasing in the near term. Gains
or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities designated vpon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria In IFRS 9 are satisfied.

Management only designates, on an instrament - by- instriment basis, an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when
one of the following criteria are met:

«  The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring
the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis

The Group has designated unit linked contracts as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabifities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, payables are subseguently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. The effective interest
method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or (where appropriate} a shorter period, to the carrying amount en initial recognition. Amertised cost
is caleulated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
EIR.

Redesignation of financial assets

As part of the initial implementation of IFRS 17, Mnsurance Contracts, effective 1 January 2022, the Group reassessed its
business model for eligible financial assets in fine with the requirements of paragraphs C29 to C33 of IFRS 17, The
redesignation was based on the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial application of IFRS 17 and the
designations and classifications were applied retrospectively without the use of hindsight.

The applied designations and classifications were based on how the performance of the financial assets is evaluated, reported

to key management personnel, the risks that affect the performance of the deposit administration fund and expected liguidity
needs of the holders of the Instruments.
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Financial instruments {continued)
Redesignation of fnancial assets (continued)

Previously, government securities under the deposit administration contracts were classified at fair value through OCI. At 1
January 2022 management has reassessed them to the held at amortised cost.

The deposit administration funds provide retirement cashflows to the policy helders by providing a guaranteed amount and an
investment return. The government securities are held to colfect contractual cashflows on specified due dates to match the
maturing obligations of policy holders based on known retirement age profile. As a result, the maturities of govemment
securities are matched to the maturities of policy holder liability. Therefore, the government securities are soiely held to collect.

The redesignation resulted to the following changes at 1 lanuary 2022;

Carrying amountasper  Carrying amount after Changesin
previous classification reclassification carrying amount
1January 2022 1 January 2022

KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

Government securities at amortised cost : 2,100,074 5,677,890 3,577,816
Government securities at fair value through other

comprehensive income 11,332,111 7,754,295 (3,5677,816)

Total 13,432,185 13,432,185 -

The re-measurement and reclassifications for government securities at FVOCI to amortised cost are disclosed in Notes 21 and
23 respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investment comprising of fixed deposits with financial institutions with original
maturities of three months or less, and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are charged directly to equity in the peried in which they are declared and approved. Dividend
distributions to the shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financlal statements in the year in which the dividends are
declared and approved hy the shareholders,

Events after the reporting date

if the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions
that existed at the end of the reporting period, the Group will assess if the information affects the amounts that it recognises
in the Group’s financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect any
adjusting events even after the reporting period and update the disclosures that retate to those conditions in the light of the
new information. For non-adjusting events after the reperting period, the Group will not change the amounts recognised in its
financlal statements but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting event and an estimate of its financial effect, or a
statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable. Refer te note 60 for more details.
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(x)  Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as 'share capital’ in equity. Any amounts received over and above
the par value of the shares issued are classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.

Incrermental costs attributable to the issue or cancellation of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity, net of tax if
applicable,

(y} Statutory fund

This relates to CIC Life Assurance Limited. The Group matches the assets to liabilities, after which there is a surplus/deficit
that is transferred to the statutory fund. The Insurance Act regulations stipulate that only a maximum of 30% of this can be
transferred to the shareholders. The statutory actuary advises on the amount to be transferred to the sharehoiders. When a
transfer is made to the shareholders, tax at the prevailing corporation rate 2023: 30% (2022: 30%) is incurred.

(¥ Product classification

Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group {the insurer) has accepted significant insurance risk from another
party {the policyholders) by agresing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event}
adversely affects the policyholders. As a general guideline, the Group determines whether it has significant insurance risk, by
comparing benefits payable after an insured event with benefits payable if the insured event did not occur.

Insurance contracts can also transfer financial risk. investment contracts are those contracts that transfer significant financial
risk, but not significant insurance risk. Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more of a specified interest
rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of price or rates, credit rating or credit index or
othervariable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract. Once
a contract has been classified as an insurance contract (life and general), it remains an insurance contract for the remainder
of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights and obligations are
extinguished or expire. Investment contracts can, however, be reclassified as insurance contracts after inception if insurance
risk becomes significant.

Insurance and investment contracts are further classified as being either with or without DPF, The insurance contracts with
DPF are majorly for Life Assurance, while the insurance contracts without DPF are both in general and life businesses. The
group have direct participating contracts, in the form of deposit administration contracts. The investments contracts without
DPF include the unit linked contracts.

DPF is a contractual right to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits that meet the following
conditions:

s likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits; and
s  The amount or timing of which is contractually at the discretion of the issuer.

That are confractually based on:

e  The performance of a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of contract;
e  Realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pooi of assets held by the issuer; and
s The profit or loss of the company, fund or other entity that issues the contract.

(aa) Policy loans

Policy loans, considered part of the insurance contract under IFRS 17, have been incorporated in inswrance contract liabilities. IFRS 17
requires an entity to present separately in the statement of financlal position the carrying amount of portfotios of insurance contracts
issued that are Habilities. Prior to the adoption of IFRS 17, loans to policyholders were classified as IFRS 9 loans and receivables under
Loans receivable {i.e. separately from the insurance contract). However, these lpans do not meet the requirements in IFRS 17 to be
treated as separate IFRS 9 investment components and have been considered within insurance contract liabilities.
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2.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Estimates and assumptions are an integral part of financial reperting and as such have an impact on the assets and liabilities of the
Group. Management applies judgement in determining the best estimate of future experience. Judgements are based on historical
experience and management's best estimate expectations of future events, taking into account changes experienced historically.
Estimates and assumptions are regularly updated to reflect actual experience. Actual experience in future financial years can be
materially different from the current assumptions and judgements and could require adjustments to the carrying values of the
affected assets and liabilities.

The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared.
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising that are heyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

A,

@

)

(e

@

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that the directors have made in the process of
applying the Group's acceunting policies and that will have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial
statements:

Assessment of significance of insurance risk

The Group applies its judgement in assessing whether a contract transfers to the issuer significant insurance risk. A contract
transfers significant insurance risk only if an insured event could cause the Group to pay additional amounts that are significant
in any single scenario and only if thete is a scenario that has commercial substance in which the issuer has a possibility of a
loss on a present value basis upon an occurrence of the insured event, regardless of whether the insured event is extremely
unlikely. The assessment of whether additional amounis payable on the occunence of an insured event are significant and
whether there is any scenardo with commercial substance in which the issuer has a possibility of a loss on a presentvalue basis
involves significant judgement and is performed at initial recognition on a contract-by-contract basis. The type of contracts
where this judgement Is required are those that transfet finanelal and insurance risk and result in the latter being the smaller
benefit provided. Al contracts issued by the Group accept significant insurance risk and the reinsurance contracts held transfer
significant insurance risk and therefore no judgement was involved.

Combination of instranee contracts

Determining whether it is necessary to treat a set or series of insurance contracts as a single contract invoives significant
judgement and careful consideration. In assessing whether a set or series of insurance contracts achieve, or are designed to
achieve, an overall commeictal effect, the Group determines whether the rights and cbligations are different when looked at
fogether compared to when loocked at individually and whether the Group is unable to measure one contract without
considering the other. No respective judgement is applicable to the Group.

Separation of instrance components of an insurance contract

The Group issues some insurance contracts that combine protection for the policyholder against different types of insurance
risks in a single contract. [FRS 17 does not require or permit separating insurance components of an insurance contract unless
the iegal form of a single contract does not reflect the substance of its contractual rights and obligations. In such cases,
separate insurance elements must be recognised. Overriding the ‘single contract’ unit of account presumption involves
significant judgement and is not an accounting poficy choice. When determining whether a legal contract reflects its substance
or not, the Group considers the interdependency between different risks covered, the ability of all components to lapse
independently, and the ability to price and sell the components separately. No respective judgement is applicable to the Group.

Determination of the contract boundary

The measurement of a group of insurance contracts includes all the future cash flows arising within the contract boundary. In
determining which cash flows fall within a contract boundary, the Group considers its substantive rights and obligations arising
from the terms of the contract, from applicable law, regulation and customary business practices. Cash flows are considered
to be outside of the contract boundary if the Group has the practical ability to reprice existing contracts to reflect their
reassessed risks, and if the contract’s pricing for coverage up to the date of reassessment only considers the risks unfif the next
reassessment date. The Group applies its judgement in assessing whether it has the practical ability to set a price that fully
reflects all the risks in the contract or porifolio,

For the Group, the date of initial recognition will be the start of the coverage period for the group of insurance and reinsurance
contracts. s some contracts such as direct participating contracts, the Group has the practicat ability to reprice upon renewal.
The contract boundary ends at the end of the coverage period (e.g., maturity date/expiry date of the contract, or renewal date).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A, {ritical judgements in applying the group's accounting policies {continued)
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Identification of portfolios

The Group defines a portfolio as insurance contracts subject to similar risks and managed together. Contracts within the same
product line are expected to be in the same porifolio as they have similar risks and are managed together. The assessment of
which risks are similar and how contracts are managed requires the exercise of judgement. Where similar praoducts are issued
by different entities within a group, they are considered to be separate portfolios. Despite the oversight provided by
management at the group level, the Group determines that these contracts are managed at the locai issuing entity level. This
is not an area of significant judgement forthe Group since the Group is a multi-line insurer where each product line is menitered
and managed on its own.

The Group applies the same assessment for the group of reinsurance contracts held.
Level of aggregation

The Group applies judgement when determining the contract sets within portfolios and whether the Group has reasonable and
sizpportable information to conclude that ail contracts within a set would fali into the same group.

Assessment of loss component

Aggregation of insurance contracts issued on initial recognition into groups of onerous contracts, groups of contracts with no
significant possibitity of becoming onerous and groups of other contracts. Similar grouping assessment for reinsurance
contracts held is dene. For contracts measured under the PAA, management has applied judgement to assess whether facts
and circumstances indicate that a group of contracts has become onereus. Further, judgement is applied to assess whether
facts and circumstances indicate that any changes in the onerous group's profitability and whether any loss component
remeasurement is requived. The Group uses loss ratios to identify onerous contracts. The Group did not identify any facts or
circumstances that might have indicated that a group of contracts measured under the PAA had hecome onerous.

Assessment of directly attributable cash flows

The Group uses judgement in assessing whether cash ffows are directly attributable to a specific portfolio of insurance
contracts, Insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the measurement of a group of insurance contracts only if they are
directly attributable to the individual contracts in a group, or to the group itself, or the portfolio of insurance contracts to which
the group belongs. When estimating fulfilment cash flows, the Group also allocates fixed and variable overheads fulfilment
cash flows directly attributable to the fulfilment of insurance contracts.

Assessment of eligibifity for PAA

For short term (re)insurance contracts with a coverage period extending beyond one year, the Group elects to apply the PAA if
at the inception of the group, the Group reasonably expects that it will provide a liability for remaining coverage that would not
differ materially from the Genera! Model. The Group exercises judgement in determining whether the PAA eligibility criteria are
met at initial recognition.

The Group carried out PAA eligibility assessment for the engineering portfolio in general business whose LRC determined using
GMM does not differ materiaily from that measured under PAA and concluded that they qualify to be measured under PAA. The
Group camied out PAA eligibility assessment for the direct participating contracts portfolio, and assessed that the coverage
period is one year or less, given the ability to reprice the portfolio annually.

Determination of contractual service margin (CSM)

The CSM of a greup of contracts is recognised in profit or loss to reflect services provided in gach year based on the number of
coverage units provided in the year, which is determined by considering for each contract the quantity of the benefits provided
and its expected coverage period. The coverage units are reviewed and updated at each reporting date.

The Group determines the quantity of the benefits provided under each contract as follows;
e Term life insurance contracts - Expected present value of claims
e Annuity contracts - Ansuity amount payable in each peried
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

A, Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies (continued)

k) Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an aliowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not heid at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contractand ali
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral o
the contractual terms. ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that resuit from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months {a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a foss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a Hfetime ECL).

The Group tracks changes in credit risk and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. See
specific notes for financial assets that are subject to impairment assessment.

The Group measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for class of assets that share similar economic risk
characteristic. Each of these is associated with different PDs, EADs and LGDs. When relevant, the assessment of multiple
scenatios also incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability that the staff loans
and mortgages will cure and the value of collateral or the amount that might be received for sefling the asset.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:
e Determining the critetia for significant increase in credit risk;

Choosing appropriate models and assumptions fer the measurement of ECL;

Establishing groups of simitar financiat assets for the purposes of measuring ECL;

Determining the relevant period of exposure to credit risk; and

Determining the appropriate business models and assessing the “solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)”
requirements for financial assets.

Income taxes

The Grouyp is subject to income taxes in the various jurisdictions of operations. Significant judgement is required in determining
the Group's provision for income taxes and to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based on
the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The Group uses judgement
to determine whether each tax treatment should be considered independently or whether some tax treatments should be
considered together, The decision is based on which approach provides better predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty.
The Group assumes that the taxation authority will examine amounts reported to it and will have full knowledge of all relevant
information when doing so. Where the Group concludes that it is probable that a particular tax treatment will be accepted, it
determines taxable profit {tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates consistently with the tax
treatment included in its income tax filings. If the Group concludes that it is not probable that a particular tax treatment will be
accepted, it uses the most likely amount or the expected value of the tax treatment when determining taxable profit (tax loss),
tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates.

Particularly, the Group has applied judgement in concluding that on initial adoption of IFRS 17, the transition adjustments are
subject to income tax charge/credit for some jurisdictions of operations. In addition, the existing income tax laws are based
on IFRS 4 and therefore, judgment has been applied in calculating the current income tax charge for the year based on IFRS
17 numbers. To the best of the directors’ knowledge, the calculated tax obligations are reflective of the tax Hability at 31
December 2023.
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A, Critical judgements in applying the group's accounting policies (continued)

(m) Revaluation of property and investment properties

)

o)

(v

The Group caries certain classes of preperty and equipment at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in other
comprehensive income. Land and buildings were valued based on epen market value by independent valuers. For investment
properties valuation methodologies were used by reference to properties of similar nature, location and condition amongst
other factors which are highly judgmental.

Investment property is classified as held for sale under IFRS 5 where its canrying amount will be recovered principally throtigh
a sale transaction rather than continuing use.

For a property to be classified as held for sate, the following conditions need to be met:
o the asset must be available forimmediate sale in its present condition; and
s the sale must be highly probabie.

The Kiambu land is accounted for as an investment property and is valued at KShs 4.05 billion {2022: KShs 4.05 biltion). The
land which measures 200 acres has been subdivided into 4 biocks (Blocks A, B, C and D} each with individual freehold titles.
One of the Biocks (Biock C) has been further subdivided into quarter-acre plots which generated 147 units whose sales launch
was done in November 2022, Urban planners working under a consortium have been engaged for the subdivision of the
remaining blocks A, B and D.

At 31 December 2023, deposits amounting to KShs 83.0 million (2022: KShs 35.8 million) have been received inte an escrow
account with Co-operative Bank of Kenya, The amounts have been recognized in the cash book against a contract liability
account. During the year, deposits of KShs 94,9 million were used to partly setile the borrowing with Cooperative Bank. The
receipts are deferved on the balance sheet and revenue will be recognised when full consideration Is paid and title of the
property passes o the buyers. None of the deposits received met the reventie recognition criteria at 31 December 2023.

Impairment of associate

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impatred. If this Is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount to the statement of profit or loss. in the current and the
previousyear, the results of the impalrment assessment tests performed on the investment in the associate did not result in
impairment as detailed in Note 18.

Impairment of subsidiaries

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the subsidiaries is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference befween the recoverable amount
of the respective subsidiaries and its carnrying value and recognises the amount to the statement of profit orloss. In the current
and previous year, the results of the impairment assessment tests performed on the investment in the subsidiaries resulted in
no impairment as detailed in Note 19,

Recoverabifity of deferred income taxy asset
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required fo determine the amount of defesred

tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies.
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2,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. Keysources of estimation uncertainty

The following are key estimations that the directors have used in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

{a) Insurance contract assets and liabilities and reinsurance contract assets and liabilities

By applying IFRS 17 to measurement of insurance contracts Issued and reinsurance contracts held, the Group has made
estimations in the following key areas. They form part of the overali balances of Insurance contract assets and liabilities
and reinsurance contract assets and labilities:

Future cash flows, including Liabifity for Incurred Claims {LIC)

Discount rates

Allocation rate for insurance finance income or expenses

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

Allocation of asset for insurance acquisition cash flows to current and future groups of contracts

Every area, including the Group's estimation methods and assumptions used and other sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed below. At 31 December 2023, the Group’s total carrying amount of:

Insurance contracts issued that are liabilities was KShs 34.2 biflion {2022: KShs 29.0 hillion)
Reinsurance contracts issued that are assets was KShs 3.7 billion (2022: KShs 3.7 billion)
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2.  CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
B. Keysources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Sensitivity analysis of carying amounts to changes in assumptions
The following tables present information on how reasonably possible changes in assumptions made by the Group with regard to underwriting risk variables impact insurance liabilities and profit or loss
and equity before and after risk mitigation by reinsurance contracts heid. For contracts measured under the PAA, anly the Liability for incurred claims (LIC) component of insurance liabilities is sensitive

to possible changes in underwtiting risk variables.

The analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding ali other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. No
changes were made by the Group in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the below analysis.

Contracts measured under PAA - General insurance confracts

As at 31 December 2023
impacton LIC: - Impacton profit  Impact on equity Liability for incurred

As at 31 December 2022

Liability for incurred impact on LIC':: " Impact on profit Impact on equity

claims (LIC) ' before income tax claims (LIC) - beforeincome tax
KShs'000 KShs'000: KShs’DOO KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'GClO.i: S 'KShsTGO_(J KShs'000

Insurance contract liabillties 6,458,197 6,960,707 : -
Reinsurance contract assets (1,697,715) {1.826,667)
Net insurance contract liabilities 4.760,482 5,134.040
Average claim cost - 10% increase o E e
Insurance contract liabilities 371,968 {260,377 353,477 . (353,417) (247,434)
Reinsurance contract assets {112,823} 78,976 {105,856) b -105,8_56 74,099
Net insurance contract liabilities 259,145-"':' (181,401} 247621 247,621} (173.335)
Discount rate - 1% increase ik _ :
Insurance contract liabilities (111,200). 77,840 (71,510) 271,510 50,057
Reinsurance contract assets 32.693 {22,885) 21,426 :(21.426) (14.998)
Net insurance contract labilities (78,507)- " -78,507 54.955 (80,084) 50,084 35.059
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN AFPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. Key sources of estimation uncertainty {(continued)

Sensitivity analysis of carrying amounts to changes in assumptions (continued)

Life insurance contracts

Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Lapse/surrender - 10% fncrease
Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Mortality rate - 1% increase
Insurance contract fiabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Expenses rate - 5% increase
Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Fuifilment cash
flows {FCF)
KShs'000

8,744,834

(1.262,289)
8.482.545

2,549,419

As at 31 December 202_:_3
Impact on FCF  Impact on CSM:.
KShs’000 KShs'000
18,370 8,263)
(4.658) -
13,712 (8,263)
312,282 (140,478)
(79,184}
233,008 {140,478
93,357 (41,996) . 51,361
(22.945) - (22.945)
70,412 (41,996) . 728,418
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- Impact on profit Impact on equity
o re tax

KShs'000" KShs'000
2,541,156  (10,106) (7,074)

- 4,658 3.261
2,541,156 (5,448) (3,813)
2,408,941 (120,263)

: 55,429
2,408,941 (64.834)
2,507,423 (35,953)

e 16,062
2,507,423 (19,391)
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2. CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

B. Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Sensitivity analysis of carrying amounts to changes in assumptions (continued)

Life insurance contracts (continued)

Fulfilment cash
fiows (FCF)
KShs"000

Insurance contract liabilities 9,253,418
Reinsurance contract assets (602,488)
Net Insurance contract liabilities 8,650,930

Lapse/surrender - 10% increase
Insurance contract liahilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Mortality rate - 1% increase
Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Expenses rate - 5% increase
Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

£10.088.014

As at 31 December 2022
Impacton FCF  Impacton CSM Tot'a_if_i_rn_;_:'l'a_t_:_t Remaining CSM" dmp:

KShs'000

(602,488)

3,557

{468)
3,089

298,890

(41,230)
257,660

60,466

{7.956}
52,510

94

KShs'000

(14,642

tjefo_re__tax

KShs'000

1,436,223

1,436,223

1,364,709

(185.285)

1,364,709

1,422,442 (45,824)

S T 86
1,422,442 . /(37,868)

acton profit Impact on equity

KShs'000

{(1,887)
328
{1,559}

(158,561}
28,861
{129,700

(32,077)
5,569
(26,508)



THE CIC iNSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

B. Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

() Technique for estimation of future cash flows

©

I estimating fuifilment cash flows included in the contract boundary, the Group considers the range of all possible
outcomes in an unbiased way specifying the amount of cash flows, timing and probability of each scenario reflecting
conditions existing at the measurement date, using a probability-weighted average expectation. The probability weighted
average represents the probability-weighted mean of ail possible scenarios. In determining possible scenarios, the Group
uses &l the reasenable and supportable information available to them without undue eost and effort, which includes
information about past events, current conditions and future forecasts.

Cash flow estimates include both market variables directly observed in the market or derived directly from markets and
non-market variables such as mortality rates, accident rates, average claim cests, probabilities of severe claims, policy
surrender rates. The Group maximises the use of observable inputs for market variables and utilises internally generated
group-specific data. For life insurance contracts, the Group uses national statistical data for estimating the mortality rates
as the national statistical data is more current than internal mortality statistics.

Method of estimating discount rates

fn determining discotnt rates for different products, the Group uses the bottom-up approach for cash flows of
nonparticipating contracts that do not depend on underlying items. Applying this approach, the discountrate is determined
as the risk-free yield adjusted for differences in liquidity characteristics between the financial assets used to derive the
risk-free yield and the relevantiability cash flows (known as an Hliguidity premium).

To derive the risk-free yield curve, the Group uses the published Nairobi Securities Exchange (NSE) yield curve for the
Kenyan entities. This yield curve is published monthly and is based on the current yields of government securities issued
by the Central Bank of Kenya. For Uganda and Malawi, a yield curve will be constructed from the Treasury Bond yields
published by the Bank of Uganda and the Reserve Bank of Malawi respectively.

The Group wilt apply an Hliquidity premium of zero to its risk-free yield curve, This is due ta lack of sufficiently deep corporate
hond market for which to derive the illiquidity premium, In addition, the groups of contracts are short-term, liquid and
cancellable by previding a specified notice petiod.

Discount rates applied for discounting of future cash flows are lsted below:

All general and life insurance contracts - KES currency

Period lyear 2years 3years d4years Syears Gyears Tyears 8years 9years10years
31 December2023 16.10% 17.92% 17.96% 17.87% 17.45%  16.79%16.32% 15.97% 15.73% 15.70%
31December2022 10.31% 12.17%12.69% 13.11% 13.53%  13.62%13.66% 13.70% 13.73% 13.77%

Ali general and life insurance contracts - UGX currency

Period iyear 2years 3years 4years 5years Gyears Tyears 8years 9 yearsiOyears
31December2023 12.83% 13.00%13.94% 14.24% 14.50%  14.67%14.83% 14.97% 15.09% 15.20%
31Decemher2022 13.83% 13.66% 13.50% 13.71% 13.92%  14.12%14,33% 14.54% 14.75% 14.96%

All general and life insurance contracts ~ MWK currency

Period lyear 2Zyears 3years 4years Syears Byecars Tyears S8years 9yearsi0years
31 December2023  24.00% 26.75%28.00% 29.24% 30.00%  31.26%32.00% 32.70% 33.28% 33.00%
31 December 2022  19.50% 22.50%23.65% 24.80% 25.00%  26.40%27.00% 27.53% 27.99% 28.50%

All general and life insurance contracts - SSP currency

Perod lyear 2years 3years d4years GSyears  Gyears Tyears Byears 9yearsiOyears
31 December2023  16.10% 17.92%17.96% 17.87% 17.45%  16.79%16.32% 15.97% 15.73% 15.70%
31December 2022 10.31% 12.17%12.69% 13.11% 13.53%  13.62%13.66% 13.70% 13.73% 13.77%
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TG THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In accordance with IFRS 8: Operating segments, the information presented hereafter by operating segment is the same as that
reported fo the Chief Operating Decision Maker (the Group Chief Executive Officer) for the purposes of making decisions about
allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance.

Under IFRS 8, the Group’s reportable segments are long term business, general insurance business, asset management and other.
Long-term business comprises the underwriting of risks relating to death of an insured person and includes contracts subjectto the
payment of premiums for a long-term dependent on the termination or continuance of the life of an insured person. General insurance
business relates to ali other categories of insurance business written by the Group and is analysed into several sub-classes of
husiness based on the nature of the assumed risks. Asset management comprises fund management, advisory services businesses
and investments. Others comprises of the regional companies; CIC Africa Uganda, CIC Africa Malawi and CIC Africa South Sudan. It
also includes the holding company. The Group's main geographical segment of business is in Kenya, which contributes 87% (2022:
88%) of the Group's total insurance revenue.

Measurement of operating segment proflt or foss, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the material accounting policies, There are no
intersegment revenues and na single customer accounts for more than 10% of the revenue.

Factors that management use to identify the entity’s reportable segments

The CIC Insurance Group PLC segments are strategle companies that offer different products and are managed separately based on
regulatory reguirements.

Description of the fypes of products and services from which each reportable segment derives iis reveriiies

The CIC Insurance Greup PLC has reportable segments; general insurance business, long term insurance business, asset
management and other business.

Group management internally evaluates its performance based upon:
+  Reportable segment profits after tax.
¢ Capital employed {defined as the total of intangible and tangible assets and working capital).

The vatious products and sewvices that the reporting segments derive their revenues from have been described as foliows.
(@) insurance revenue 2023 2022

KShs’000 KShs'000
General insurance business

Medieal 7,634,142 5,564,020
Non-medical 10,145,279 9,081,520
Sub - totai 17,779,421 14,645,640
Long term business

Ordinary life 458,375 378,060
Group life 6,635,833 5,285,507
Deposit administration™® 629,273 425026
Sub - total 7,621,481 6,088,593
Total insurance revenue 25,400,902 20,734,133

*Dgposit administration represents direct participating contracts
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(8} Insurance sewice expense 2023 2022

KShs’000 KShs'000
General insurance business

Medical 8,171,821 5,846,575
Non-medical 7,141,090 6,817,139
Sub - total 15,312,911 12,663,714
Long term business
Ordinary life 455,340 423123
Group life 6,106,149 5,011,746
Deposit administration 675,400 506,951
Sub - tota} 7,236,889 5,941,820
Total insurance sewvice expenses 22,549,800 18,605,534
{¢) Netexpenses from reinsurance contracts held 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
General insurance business
Medical 106,801 132,414
Non-medical 2,190,348 1,739,130
Sub - total 2,297,149 1,871,544
Long term business
Ordinary life 3,259 6,819
Group life (237,633} 804,114
Sub - {otal {234,274) 810,233
Total net expenses from reinsurance contracts held 2,062,875 2,682,477

Refer to note 4 for the detailed analysis of insurance revenue, insurance service expense and net expenses from reinsurance
contracts held.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 BECEMBER 2023

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

{d} Investment income

General insurance business
(i} Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method

Government securities at amortised cost - debt instruments
Financial assets at amortised cost - corporate honds

Debt instruments at FVGCl

Staff loan receivables

Deposits with financial institutions at amortised cost

Sub - total

(ii) Other investment income

Dividend income from equity instruments at FVPL
Rental income from investment properties

Sub - total

Long term business

(i} Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method
Government securities at amortised cost - debt instruments
Corporate bends at amortised cost

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income - debt instruments

Deposits with financial institutions at amortised cost

Staff loan receivables

Sub ~ total

(ii) Other investment income

Dividend income
Rental income from investment propetties

Sub ~ total

98

2023 2022
KShs'0C0 KShs'000
177,505 156,210
651 251
684,549 488,321
2,909 3,054
326,999 215,465
1,192,613 863,301
23,694 27,782
122,532 121,725
146,226 149,507
149,732 124,122
1,061 985
893,906 597,424
205,038 158,672
53,883 58,035
1,303,620 939,238
23,777 30,898
38,852 26,586
62,629 57,484




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PL.C AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)
{d} Investmentincome (continued)

Asset management business
{i’ Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method

Government securities at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost - corporate bonds
Deposits with financial Institutions

Sub - total

(i) Other investment income

Dividend income

Sub - total

Other businesses
() Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method

Depaosits with financial institutions
Staff loan receivables

Sub - total

Total interest revenue (f)
Total other investment income i)

Total investment income (i&ii)

99

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
90,912 40,044
1,354 2,058
33,274 31,645
125,540 73,747
706 540

708 540

7,126 9,614
1319 1,350
8,445 10,964
2,630,218 1,887,250
209,561 207,531
2,838,779 2,094,781




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES 70 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

{e) Other disclosures: General Long-term
insurance  Assurance Asset Other
business business  Management businesses Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000
31 December 2023
Reportable segment profit/ (foss) 702,384 900,715 496,937 {658,221) 1,441,815
Reportable segment total assets 14,418,503 24,342,006 1,660,326 14,379,692 54,800,527
Less intrasegment balances:
: Related party balances - - - {273,076) {273,076)
: Investment in subsidiaries - - - {4,228 410) {4.228 410)
Reportable segment total assets - net 14,418,503 24.342.006 1,660,326 9,878,206 50,299,041
Reportable segment total liabilities 10,270,474 22,820,744 98,068 9,770,653 42,959,939
Less: related party balances - - - (273,076) {273,076)
Reportable segments total liabilities - net 10270474 22820744 28 068 9,497,677 42,686,863
Insurance service result 169,360 618,867 - - 788,227
Net investment resuit 1,260,580 780,474 117,871 36,101 2,195,026
Net revenue from asset management
services - - 1,163,775 - 1,163,775
Other net gains 157,461 175,022 14 36,500 368,997
Other expenses {417,543)  (256,019) {576,223) (201,390} (1,451,175)
Other finance costs and share of
associate (16,771} (10,787) {1,466) (491,833} (520,857}
Profit/ {loss) before income tax 1,153,087 1,307,557 703,971 (620,622) 2,543,993
Income tax expense (450,703)  (406,842) {207,034) {37,599} (1,102,178}
Profit/ (loss) for the year 102,384 900,715 496,937 {658,221) 1,441,815
31 December 2022 - Restated
Reportable segment profit/{loss) 317,715  (268,898) 450,073 {341,753) 157,137
Reportable segment total assets 13,739,964 19903314 1.415.620 12,836,539 47.895 507
Less intrasegment balances:
: Related party balances - - - {238,016) {238,016)
: Investment in subsidiaries - - - {4.178,410) (4.178.410)
Reportable segment total assets - net 13,738,964 19.903.314 1,415,690 8,420,113 43,479,081
Reportable segment total liabilities 10,121 960 18,573,470 116,160 1,534,022 36,345,612
Less: related party balances - - - (238,016) {238,016)
Repottable segments total liabilities - net 10,121,960 18,573,470 116,160 7,296.006 36,107,596
Insurance setvice resulf 110,282  (664,160) - - (553,878)
Net investment result 1,002,867 397,552 77,318 287,057 1,764,794
Net revenue from asset management
services - - 1,129,791 - 1,129,791
Other net gains 66,725 126,017 331 30,461 223,534
Other expenses (305,674)  (204,035) (561,135) {234,425) (1,305,269}
Other finance costs and share of
associate (19,529) {10,893) (1,883) (403,330) {435,835)
Profit/(loss) before income tax 854,671  (355,519) 644,422 (320,237) 823,337
Income tax expense {536,956) 86,621 (194,349) (21,516) {666,200)
Profit/{loss) for the year 317,718  (268,898) 450,073 {341,753) 157,137
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Kenya

31 December 2023

KShs'000
Insurance revenue 22,150,178
Insurance setvice expenses (19,576,178)
Net expenses from
reinsurance contracts held (1.533,991})
Insurance service result 1,040,009
Prefit/ {loss) before income
tax 3.145.179
Total assets 49,543,876
31 December 2022
Insurance revenue 18,273,850
Insurance service expenses (16,321,891)
Net expenses from
reinsurance contracts held (2,329,192)
Insurance service resuit (377,233)
Profit/ (foss} before income
tax 1,147,201
Total assets 44,159.078

South Sudan

KShs'000

582,870
{927,045)

(63,961)
(408,136)
{187,553)

1,815,047

342,722
(617,820)

8.204
(266,824)

{3.422)

1.319.929

Uganda Malawi
KShs'000 KShs'000
1,721,636 946,218
(1,154,547) (892,030}
{464,689 (234)
102,400 53,954
85,194 (33,827)
2.501,204 924,200
1,325,193 792,368
(950,991) (714,832}
{381,897) 20.408
(7,695) 97,844
{36,280) 55838
1,459,342 863,588

101

inter segment
eliminations
KShs'000

{465.000)

{4.485,286}

{340,000
{4,322.856}

Total

KShs'000

25,400,902
(22,549,800

(2,062,875)
788,227

2,543,993

50,299,041

20,734,133
(18,605,534)

{2,682,477)
{553,878)

823.337

43,479,081



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES 70 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4,

INSURANCE SERVICE RESULT

(a) Insurance revenue

The breakdown of insurance revenue by major product lines is presented below:

Ordinary life
Deposit
administration*®
Group life

Total fife

Medical
Non-medical

Total general

Total

Ordinary life
Deposit
administration*
Group life

Total life

Medical
Non-medical

Total generai

Total

2023

Contracts not measured under PAA

Expected incurred
claims and other
directly attributable
expenses
KShs'000

289,029

1,274,230

1,563,959

1,563,859

Changes inrisk
adjustment for

non-financiairisk  CSM recognised
for expired risk- for the services
provided
KShs'000 KShs'000
16,197 91,508

58,93 387,00
75,134 478,508
15,134 478,508

2022 *Restated

Contracts not measured under the PAA

Expected incurred

Changes in risk
adjustment for

claims and otheron-financial risk for

directly attributable
expenses
KShs'000

277,844

1.096.910

1,374,754

1,374,754

expired risk
KShs'000

13,987

45,05

59,038

I}

29,038

*Deposit administration represents direct participating contracts

102

CSM recognised
for the services
provided
KShs'000

49,185

158,153

insurance revenue

from contracts

Insurance  measured under

acquisition cash the PAA
flows recovery

KShs'000 KShs'000

59,641 -

- 629,273

177,929 4,637,037

237,570 266,310

- 7,634,142

- 10,145.279

- 17,779,421

237570  23,045731

insurance revenue

from contracts

Insuranice  measured under

acquisition cash the PAA
flows recovery

KShs'000 KShs'000

37,044 -

- 425,026

66,139 3.919.254

103,183 4,344,280

. 5,564,020

- 9,081,520

= 14,645,540

103,183 18,989,820

Total

insurance

revenue
KShs'000
456,375

629,273
6,535,833

71,621,481

7,634,142
10,145.279

17.779.421

25,400,902

Total

insurance

revenue
KShs’000
378,060

425,026
5,285,507

6,088,503

5,564,020
9.081.520

14,645,540

20,734,133



THE CIC {NSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {(continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4,

INSURANCE SERVICE RESULT (continued}

(b) Insurance service expenses

The breakdown of insurance service expenses by major groups of insurance contracts is presented below:

Ordinary life
Deposit
administration
Group life
Total life

Medical
Non-medical

Totai general

Total

Ordinary life
Deposit
Administration
Group life
Total life

Medical
Nor-medical

Total general

Total

Incurred

claims expenses
KShs’000
50,217

532,122
4.471.782

5,054,121

6,140,633
4,003,501

10,144,134

15,198,255

Incurred

claims expenses
KShs’000
44,636

470,424
4.011,785

4,526,845

4,244,987
4,107,781

8,352,768

12,879,613

Other directly
attributable
expenses
KShs'000

314,504

143,278
1.283.536

1.751.318

1,284,097
1,676,065

2.960,162

4,111,480

Other directly
attributable
expenses
KShs'000
251,629

36,527
982.514

1.270.670

1,087,136
1,374,397

2,461,533

3,732,203

2023
Changes in risk
adjustments on Changes in Insurance
liability for loss  acquisition cash
incurred claims component flows amortisation Total
KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
{10,818) 41,796 59,641 455,340
" - - 675,400
1.474 161,428 177,928  5.106.149
9.344) 203,224 237570 71,236.889
2,751 (4,748) 749,088 8,171,821
27.764 5,846 1427914 7,141,090
30515 1,098 2,177,002 15312911
24,171 204,322 2414572 22549800
2022 *Restated
Changes in risk
adjustments on Changes in [nsurance
liability for loss  acquisition cash
incurred claims component flows amortisation Total
KShs'000 KShs'G00 KShs'000 KShs'000
(4,252) 94,066 37,044 423,123
- - . 506,951
3.725 (52,417} 66,139 5,011,746
(527} 41,649 103,183 5,941,820
471 (30,872) 544,853 5,846,575
4,962 38.975 1,201024 6,817.139
5,433 8,103 1,835,877 12,663.714
4,906 49,752 1,939,060 18,605,534



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4,

INSURANCE SERVICE RESULT (continued)

{c) Netexpenses / {income) from reinsurance contracts held

The analysis ef net income / {expense) from reinsurance centracts by major product fines is presented below:

2023
Changes in risk
Insurance adjustments on Changesin

Reinsurance  acquisition cash assetfor  loss recovery Incurred claims
expenses flows amortisation incurred claims component recovery

KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

Ordinary life 13,112 (6,635) - - {3,218}

Group life 1,723,411 (383,286) 39,971 13.006 1,524,681
Total life 1,736,523 389.921 {39,271} {13.006} {1,527,899}
Medical 349,769 - {8,835} - {234,133)
Non-medical 3,399,332 885,210 68 3.46 (321.304)
Total general 3,749,101 885,210 (8.767) 3,462 (561,437)
Totai 5,485,624 {1,275,131) {48,738) (9,544) (2,089,336)

2022 *Restated
Changes inrisk
Insurance  adjustments on Changesin

Reinsurance  acquisition cash assetfor  loss recovery Incutred claims
expenses flows amortisation incurred claims component recovery

KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

Ordinary life 15,268 (7,455} - - {(994)
Group life 1,757,449 (304,358) {40.921) 41,809 {649,865)
Total {ife 1,772,717 (311,813} {40,921} 41,809 (650,859)
Medical 192,670 - (13,756) 762 (47,262)
Non-medical 3.274,063 (874,325} {17.938) 8,011) (634,659)
Total general 3,466,733 {874,325} {31,694) (7,249) (681,921)
Total 5,239.450 {1,186,138} (72,615) 34,560 (1,332.780)

{d} Amounts determined on transition to [FRS 17

Totai
KShs'000
3,259
{237.533)
(234274}

106,801
2,190.348

2,297,149

2,062,875

Total
KShs'G00

6,819
804,114

810,233

132,414
1,739.130

1,871,544

2.682.477

For insurance contracts not measured under the PAA, an analysis of insurance revente for insurance contracts issued and the CSM by
transition method is included in the following fables. Insuranee contracts measured under the PAA are not included in these tables,
because the Group applied the full retrospective approach to such centracts.

Contracts
under the

2022

full retrospective Contracts underthe
approach fairvalue approach

Total at transition
KShs'Q00 KShs'000
456,375 359,763
1,898,796 964,015

2023

Contracts

under the
full retrospective  Contracts under the
Insurance contracts approach fairvalue approach
issued at transition at transifion
Insurance revenue KShs'(00 KShs'000
Ordinary life 418,460 37,915
Group life 1,259,176 639,620
Total 1,677,636 677,535

104

2355171 1,323,778

at transition Total
KShs'000 K$hs'000
18,297 378,060
402,238 1,366,253
420,535 1,.744313




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES 70 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {(continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4,

INSURANCE SERVICE RESULT (continted)

(d) Amounts determined on transition to IFRS 17 {continued)

Contracts

under the

full retrospective

Insurance contracts approach
issued at transition
CSMas at 31 Dec KShs'000
Ordinary life 565,386
Group life 1,857,253
Total 2,422,639

2023

Contracts undet the
fair value approach

at transitien Total
KShs'000 KShs'000
112,512 677,898
14,268 1,871,521
126,780 2,549,419

{e)} Expected recognition of the contractual service margin

2022
Contracts
under the
full retrospective  Contracts under the
approach fairvalue approach
at transition at transition Total
KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000
384,504 8,223 393,727
1.032,659 10,698 1,043,357
1.417.163 19,921 1,437,084

An analysis of the expected recognition of the CSM for insurance contracts issued remaining at the end of the reporting period in profit

or lpss is provided in the following table:
Number of years until expected to be

recognised
Asat 31 Dec 2023

Total

Asat31Dec2022

Ordinary life
KSts'000

93,593
154,819
127,394
211,965

89,527

677.898

91,508
40,612
68,562
125,274
67.771

393.727

105

Group life
KShs'000

330,621
653,730
523,161
363,929

80

1,871,521

387,000
144,341
267,453
244,151

412

1.043.357

Total CSM for insurance
contracts issued
KShs’000

424,214
808,549
651,155
575,894

89,607

2,549,419

478,508
184,953
336,015
369,425

68,183

1,437,084



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE HNANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5. REVENUE FROM ASSET MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Asset Management business

Fund management fees
Administration fee

Total
6. INVESTMENT INCOME
a} GROUP
{iy Interestrevenue calculated using the effective interest method
Government securities at amottised cost
Corporate bonds at amortised cost
Deposit with financial institutions at amortised cost

Staff ioan receivables
Government securities at OC!

(ii) Otherinvestment income

Dividend income
Rental income from investment propetties

Total

Investment income earned on financial assets analysed by category of assets:
Financial asset at amortised cost

Financial asset at fair value through OCI

Dividend income

Investment income earned on non-financial assets

Total

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
1,026,502 1,031,448
137,273 98,343
1,163,775 1,129,791
418,149 320,376
3,066 3,294
572,437 415,396
58,111 62,439
1,578,455 1,085,745
2,630,218 1,887,250
48,177 59,220
161,384 148,311
209,561 207,531
2,839,779 2,094,781
1,051,763 801,505
1,578,455 1,085,745
48,177 59,220
161,384 148,311
2,839,779 2,094,781

Other fair vaiue gains relating to financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss are included in other income in note 7.

by COMPANY

{i) Inferest revenue caiculated using the effective interest method
Interest on deposits with financial institutions
Interest on staff loans

{ii) Other investment income

Dividend income
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2023
KShs'000

6,327

1,318
7,646

465,000

2022
KShs'000

9,614

1,350
10,964

346,000



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
7.  OTHER GAINS
a) GRouUP
Net gains from fair value adjustments fo investment properties
Fair value gain on investment properties (note 15 (a))
Net fosses on FVTPL investments

Fairvalue foss on quoted equity investments at fair value through profit or loss (note 25)
Fairvalue gain on investment in collective investment scheme (note 26(a))

Foreign exchange gain
b} Total othergains
Medical administration fee

Fees on deposit administration schemes
Miscellaneous income™

¢) COMPANY

Net gains from fair value adjustments to investment properties
Fair value gain on investment property (Note 15(b}))

Net losses an FVIPL invesiments
Fair value on investment in collective investment scheme (Note 26(b}

Other net gains
Miscellaneous income

Total other gains

2023
KShs'G00

132,383
(134,364)
15.874

(118,490}

82,565

132,991
132,500
103,506

368,997

17,194

2022
KShs’000

281,833
{84,152)
75,782

8.370

191.755

10,084
75,004
138.446

243,800

*Miscellaneous income includes medical administration fees, sale of scraps, medical card replacement fees and sale of tenders and

branded merchandise.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TQ THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

8.

NET INSURANCE FINANCE EXPENSES

Ordinary life
Group life

Total life
Non-medical
Total general

Total

Ordinary life
Group life

Total life
Non-medical
Total general

Total

Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued

interest accreted
KShs'000

59,912
324,859

Changes in interest

rates on present value

to incurred claims
KShs'000

(60,234)
208,344

Changes in interest::.. oo
rates onrisk
adjustment

to incurred claims
KShs’000

Finance expenses from Insurance contracts issued

Interest accreted
KShs'000

43,242
136,118

Changes in interest

rates on present value

to incurred claims
KShs'000

161,468
250,867

412.335
(3.450)
{3,450)

Changes in Enterest._ e

rates on risk:::

adjustment’ g
to incurred claims

KShs'000

8,359
12.237 -

Finance income from reinsurance contracts held
Changes ininterest Changes in interest:.

2023
Finance expenses rates on present
- from insurance value to incurred
contracts issued  Interest accreted claims

“KShs'000. KShs'000 KShs'000

4,366 (39,0000
(4,366) 39,001)
(125.202) 15,893
(125.202) 15,893
(129,568) (23,108)

2022 *Restated

Finance income from reinsurance contracts held
Changes ininterest Changes in Interest -

Fmance expenses rates on present

value to incurred
Interest accreted claims
KShs'GO0 KShs'000
(3.830) {32,043}
3.830 {39,043}
{87.251) 505
{87,251} 505
925,991 91,081 {38,538}

rates on risk: Fnance mcnme fmm
adjustment reinsiirance cantracts

to incurred claims

KShs'000

KShs '000.

| ::: 43396
- : [1090861

-
L asaasn

rates on risk: Fmance zncome from

adjustment’ relnsurance contracts
to incurred claims: i

KShs'000

110)

110)

I~

=~

108)

- 12;2,98'3'1
: _j' (42,983)
(86,739)

: _gss, 739)

L (129.729)

Net insurance

_held finance expenses

KShs'000

10,013
498,628

Net insurance

B “held finance expenses
KShs’Q{)O

KShs'000

213,069
356,239



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued})

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

8.  NETINSURANCE FINANCE EXPENSES (continued)

Investment income and insurance finance expenses

2023

Ordinary Life  Group life Non-medical Medical Other Total
Net investment income/ {expenses) - underdying assets
Interest revenue from financiaf assets not measured at FVTPL 509,569 794,052 625,506 567,106 133,985 2,630,218
Other investment income 14,460 48,169 146,226 - 706 209,561
Net gains on FVTPL investments (41,323} {(33,285) (36,671) (263) (6,948) (118,430)
Net credit impairment losses - {2,763) (2,017} (418) (201) {5,399)
Net gains on investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI - - {959,7532) - (34,208) (993,960)
Net gains on investments in equity securities measured at FVOCI - - (4186) - - {416)
Net investment income/ (expenses) - underlying assets 482,708 806,173 (227.124) 566,425 93.33 1,721,514
Net investment income - other investments
Net gains from fair value adjustments o investment propetrties - - 132,383 - - 132,383
Foreign exchange gain - - 59.103 23,462 - 82 565
Net investment income -other - - 191,486 23,462 - 214.948
Total et investment income 482,706 806,173 {35.,638) 589,887 93334 1,936,462
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued (10,013) (542,024) {336,257) - (888,294)
Firance income from reinsurance contracts held - 43.396 109.086 - - 152,482
Net insurance finance expenses (10,013) {498,628} (227,171) - - (735.812)
Summary of the amounts recognised in profit or foss
Net investment income - underlying assets 482,706 806,173 732,954 566,425 127,542 2,715,800
Net investment income -other - - 191,576 23,462 - 215,038
Net insurance finance expenses (10,013} {498,628) {227, 171) - - {735,812}
Net investment resuit 472,693 307,545 697,359 589,887 127,542 2,195,026
Summary of the amounts recognised in 0Cl
Net investment income - underlying assets - = (960,188} - (34.208) (994,376)
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIBIARIES
NOTES TG THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

8.  NETINSURANCE FINANCE EXPENSES (continued)

investment income and insurance finance expenses (continued)

2022

Ordinary Life  Group life Non-medical Medical Other Total
Net investment income/ (expenses) - undetying assets
Interest revenue from financial assets not measured at FVTPL 432,728 506,509 498,862 364,441 84,710 1,887,250
Other investment income 19,407 11,491 176,093 - 540 207,531
Net gains on FVTPL investments {18,311} (12,120 (17,348) 38,351 2,058 (8,370)
Net credit impairment losses - 987 {933) 1,010 - 1,084
Net gains on investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI - - (442,398) - (6,590) {448,988)
Net gains on investments in equity securities measured at FYOCI - = {426) - = {426)
Net investment income/ (expenses) - underlying assets 432,824 506,867 213,850 403.802 80,718 1,638,061
Net investent income - other investments
Net gains from falr value adjustments to investment properties - - 35,833 - 246,000 281,833
Foreign exchange gain - = 98,512 93,24, - 191,755
Net investment income -other - = 134,345 93,243 246,000 473,588
Total net investment income 432 824 506.867 348,195 497,045 326,718 2,111,649
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued (213,069) (399,222) (313,700) - - (925,891)
Finance income from reinsurance contracts held - 42983 86.739 - = 129,722
Net insurance finance expenses (213.069) {356,239} {226,961) - = (796,269)
Summary of the amounts recognised in profit or loss
Net investment income - underlying assets 432,824 506,867 656,674 403,802 87,308 2,087,475
Net investment income -other - - 134,345 93,243 246,000 473,588
Net insurance finance expenses (213,069) {356,239) (226,961) - - {796,269}
Net investment resuit 219,755 150,628 564,058 497,045 333,308 1,764,794
Summary of the amounts recognised in OCI
Net investment income - urderlying assets - - {442 824) - (6,590} (449.414)
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

9. OPERATING AND OTHER EXPENSES

(@) GROUP 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Staff costs (note 9 (b)) 2,696,936 2,266,355
Commission expense* 322,042 320,791
Auditors’ remuneration 36,849 27,864
Directors’ emoluments - fees 35,037 31,738
Directors’ other expenses {fravel and accommodation) 8,698 6,072
Depreciation of property and equipment (note 13 (a)) 80,066 63,685
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 16 (a)} 57,589 56,634
Depreciation on the right of use (note 14{a) 76,426 77,136
Premium tax 177,533 162,004
Staff welfare 396,030 310,075
Utilities 246,487 215,210
Software license costs 136,576 91,075
Printing and stationery 64,254 55,442
Business advertising 634,627 ) 396,130
Sales promotions 258,713 168,313
Professional fees 297,193 201,306
Statutory levies 139,830 120,684
Professional subscriptions 7,374 4,703
Loan renewal fees 19,830 20,400
Kiambu land subdivision costs 43,281 49,322
Amortisation of loan expenses 21,139 18,602
Donations 16,151 -
Other expenses™* 389,904 286,826
Total 6,162,655 5,050,367
Represented by:
Insurance service expenses 4,711,480 3,732,203
Other pperating expenses 1,451,175 1,318,164
Total 6,162,655 5,050,367

*Commission expense relate to the commission incurred by the asset management business.
**Other expenses relate to tender costs, postage, entertainment and other sundry expenses.

(b} SIAFF COSTS

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000

Staff costs include the following:
- Salaries and allowances* ** 2,209,189 2,012,116
- Bonus provision 104,098 103,740
- Restructuring costg® *** 198,688 -
- Defined pension contribution expense 124,108 114,130
- Termination benefits expense 30,787 11,508
- Leave pay 30.066 24,861
2,626,936 2,266,355
Number of employees 79 648

**¥|ncluded in the staff costs is satary and allowances of KShs 79 million (2022: KShs 64 miflion) paid to the Group Chief Executive
Officer, who is also a director.

=+ x*Restructuring costs relate to severance pay for employees who opted to retire/exit under the voluntary early retirement/exit
programme in the year,
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND {TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

9.  OPERATING AND OTHER EXPENSES {continued)

{ct COMPANY

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Utilities - 3,345
Depreciation of property and equipment {note 13 (b)) 19,246 13,577
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 16 (b)) 26,046 24,575
Auditor's remuneration 2,460 2,365
Annual General meeting expenses - 2,378
Professional fees 468 -
Share registration cost 4962 6,052
Amoriisation of loan expenses 21,139 18,602
Printer isases 3,432 15,958
Loan renewal fees 19,830 20,400
Kiambu iand subdivision costs 43,281 49,322
Denations 16,151 -
Other expenses 7601 44,225
164,616 200,799
{d} The reconciliation of expected credit losses (ECL) is as follows:
§ ECLat1 Charge /(credit) Write off ECLat31
GROUP: 2023 Januvary through P&L December
KShs'000 KShs' Q00 KShs’000 KShs'000
- Corporate bonds at amortised cast {83,408) 344 82,615 {449)
- L.oans receivables (11,463) {112) - (11,575)
- Deposits with financial institutions (32,007) 4,390 - (27,617)
- Government seeurities at FVOCH - 2,870) - (2,870)
- Government securities at amortised cost {379) 472) - (847)
- Other receivables (8,748} (3,647) - (12,393)
- Receivables from related parties {2,541} (3,032) - (5,573)
- Cash and cash equivalents {1,012) - - (1,012)
Total {139,552) {5,399) 82,615 {62,336)
i ECLatl Charge /{credit) Write off EClLat31
GROUP: 2022 January through P&L December
KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000
- Corporate bonds at amortised cost {105,387) 7,278 14,700 (83,408)
- Loans receivahles (6,765} (4,698) - {11,463)
- Deposits with financial institutions {34,546) 2,539 . {32,007)
- Government securities at FVOC] 3,882 (3,882) - -
- Government securities at amortised cost (378) 3 - (375)
- Other receivables (6,752} (1,994) - (8,746)
- Receivables from related pariies (3,652) 1,111 - (2,541)
- Cash and cash equivalents (1,718} 706 - (1,012)
Total (155,316} 1,064 14,700 (139,552)
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

9.

OPERATING AND OTHER EXPENSES {continued)

{d}  The reconciliation of expected credit losses (ECL) is as follows:

The reconcitiation of expected credit losses (ECL) 1s as follows:

COMPANY: 2023

- Loans receivable - Mortgage loans (note 22{b}
- Receivables from related parties (note 28}
- Deposits with financial institutions (note 29(b)

Total

The reconciliation of expected credit losses (ECL) is as follows:

COMPANY: 31 December 2022

- Loans receivable - Mortgage loans (note 22(b)
- Receivables from related parties (note 28)
- Deposits with financial institutions {note 29(b)

Total

ECLat1 Charge / ECLat31
lanuary (credit) in P&l December
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
288 - 288
1,783 213 1,996

82 {12) 70

2,153 201 2,354
ECLatt Charge / ECLat31
January {credit) in P&L December
KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000
171 117 288
1,281 502 1,783

73 9 82

1,625 628 2,153
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

10. OTHER FINANCE COST

(a) GROUP

interest expense on berrowings {note 39)
Interest expense on lease liability (note14 (a))

(b) COMPANY

Interest expense on borrowings (note 39)
Interest expense on related party loan {note 28 {c))

11. TAXATION
GROUP
{a)  Statement of profit or loss

Current income tax
Deferred income tax (note 17{a))

Income tax expense

COMPANY

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Current income tax
Deferred income tax {note 17 {b))

Income tax expense

()  Statement of financial position - Group
At 1 January
Current income tax
Prior year under/{over) provision
Income tax paid
Effect of translation

At 31 December

Split as follows

Tax recoverabie
Tax payable
Net

Statement of financial position - Company
At 1 January
Paid during the year

114

2023
KShs'000

488,799
29.023

817,822

482,176
35.060

517,236

823,391
278,787

102,178

113,942
823,391

14,406
(813,579
4,492

142,652

(87,155}
229,807
142,652

2,000

2,000

2022
KShs000

408,000
32,305

154,662
(88,462)

666,200

159,107
754,662
(6,242)
(787,705)
(5,880

113,942

{2,000)
115942
113,942

2,000

—2.000



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

11,

i2.

TAXATION (continued)
2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs’'000
(c) Reconciliation of income tax expense to expected tax based on accounting
profit
GROUP
Profit before income tax 2,543,993 823,337
Tax calculated at a fax rate of 30% (2022:30%) for Kenya, 30% (2022:30%})
for Uganda, 0% for South Sudan (2022: 8%) and Malawi 30% (2022:30%) 969,112 350,028
Prior year {under)/ over provision (595} -
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax* 86,780 122,885
Tax effect of income not taxable* * 46,881 (79,125)
Tax effect on bad debts written off - 272,412
Taxation charge through prefit or loss 1,102,178 66,200
The effective income tax rate is 43% (2022: 81%).
COMPANY
Loss before income tax {195,248) (11,158)
Tax calcutated af a taxrate of 30% (2022: 30%) (58,574) {3,347)
Tax effect of income not taxable* * 54,740 {102,000)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax* * 42,921 129,506
Prior year over provision {595) -
Current income tax charge through profit or loss 38,492 24,159

The effective income tax rate is {20%) (2022: (217%)).
*These expenses are valuation fees, fringe benefit tax, excess pension contributions, loss on valuation of shares etc.
**These incomes are dividend income and interest on the infrastructure bond.

EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DHLUTED

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the profit attributable to shareholders divided by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares In issue in each period as follows:

GROUP
2023 2022
*Restated
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders' (KShs’000) 1,497,950 156,466
Weighted average number of shares (in thousands) 2,615,578 2,615,578
Eamings per share (KShs) - Basic and diluted {KShs} 0.57 0.06

There were no dilutive shares during the year (2022: Nil}.

Basic earnings per share for the prior year have also been restated due to the impact of IFRS 17 implementation. The amount of the
restatement for basic earnings per share was a decrease of KShs 0.34 per share.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued}
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

13. (a} PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP

2023

COST OR VALUATION

At 1 January

Additions

Disposals

Gain on revaluation

Foreign exchange differences on translation

At 31 December

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January

Charge for the year

Foreign exchange differences on transiation
Elimination on revaluation

Elimination on disposal

At 31 December

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December

Buildings
KShs'000

830,823

88,255
(97,195)

821883

5,850

(5,850)

821,883

Motor
Vehicles
KShs'000

87,070
56,126
(13,871)
(5,085)
124,240
71,486
11,222
5,072)

(13,871)

63.765

£0.475

Computers
KShs'000

289,147
66,297
222)
4219
351,003
259,699
26,248
(4,437)

133

281377

69,626

Furniture
fittings &
equipment
KShs'000

1,008,222
115,800
(22,239
(14,193

1.087.590

898,784

35,109
(14,062}
(20,618}

£8990.213

1 i7

Leasehald
Improvements

KShs'000

3,880
2,265

{1.417)
4,728

1,249
1,637
(667)

2909

Total
KShs'000

2,219,142
240,488
(36,332)
88,255
{122.109)

2 44

1,231,218
80,066
(24,238)
(5,850)
{34,622)

1,246,574

142 87

There are no property and equipment pledged as security for liabilities. There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property and equipment, except for CIC Plaza South

Sudan which is urder finance lease.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND [TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

13. (a) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP (continued)

2022

COST OR VALUATION

At 1January

Additions

Disposals

Gain on revaluation

Foreign exchange differences on translation

At 31 December

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January

Charge for the year

Foreign exchange differences on translation
Elimination on disposal

At 31 December

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December

Buildings
KShs'000

743,251

100,028
{12,456)

830,823

117

Motor
Vehicles
KShs'000

91,841
14,267
{12,976}

(6.062)

Computers
KShs'000

282,895
13,331
(816)

(4.263)

289,147

248,710
15,060
(3,714)

1357)

259.699

20,448

Furniture
fittings &
equipment
KShs'000
995,263
29,475
(1,142)

(15.374)

1,008,222

876,229
37,555
(14,427)
1573)

898.784

102438

Leasehold
improvements

KShs'000

3,782
619

(521)

Total
KShs'000

2,117,032
55,692
(14,934)
100,028
(38,676)

2,219,142

1,193,279
63,685
(22,601)
(3.145)

1231218

287,924



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TQ THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

13.

(@) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP (continued}

Anindependent valuation of the buildings in Kenya was carried out at 31 December 2023 by Crystal Valuers Limited, registered
valuers, on open market value basis. There were no revaluation movements during the year forthe property in Kenya. CIC Plaza
in South Sudan was revalued on 31 December 2023 by registered valuers, Kenval Realtors Limited on open market value basts,
The fair value of property and equipment are assessed every year. The valuation was conducted by an independent valuer. The
fair valuation technique and the inputs used have been disclosed under note 15. The buildings represent awner-occupied
portions of the investment property.

‘there were no borrowing costs related to the additions in property and equipment during the year and hence none has heen
capitalised. Additionally, none of the above assets was pledged as collateral for the group liabilities except South Sudan
property that has been used as collateral on finance lease. The fair value disclosures for the measurement of the building has
been disclosed in note 54.

i buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the net book amount would be KShs 762 miltion (cost of KShs 827 million
and accumulated depreciation of KShs 65 million).

{b) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT ~ COMPANY

Furniture
2023 Motor fittings &
Vehicles Computers Equipment Total

KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
COsY
At 1January 2023 64,161 32,908 84,985 182,054
Additions 28,096 5,698 23,591 57,385
Disposals (13.871) - - (13,871}
At 31 December 2023 78,386 38,606 108.576 225,568
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2023 34,216 28,394 65,172 127,782
Charge for the year 10,665 2,452 6,129 19,246
Eliminated on dispesat {13.871} - - (13,871)
At 31 December 2023 31.0t0 30,846 71.301 133,157
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2023 47,378 7,760 37,275 924131
2022
COsT
At 1 January 2022 48,457 30,398 71,117 149,972
Additions 28,680 2,510 13,868 45,058
Disposals (12.976) - - (12.976)
At 31 December 2022 64,161 32,908 84,985 182.054
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2022 . 38,293 26,809 59,916 125,018
Charge for the year 6,736 1,585 5,256 13,577
Eliminated on disposal {10,813} - - {10.813)
At 31 December 2022 34,216 28,394 65,172 127.782
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2022 29,845 4514 49,813 54,272
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THE CIC INSURANCE GRCUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

14. LEASES AS A LESSEE

(a) Group 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:
Buildings - office spaces 241,930 200,218
Right of use asset
At 1 January 209,218 145,754
Renewal/additions 113,512 149,587
Amortization {76,426) (77,136}
Lease remeasurement {4.374) (8.987)
At 31 Becember 241,930 209,218
Lease Hability
At 1 January 263,183 167,025
Renewal/additions 113,512 149,587
Accretion of interest 29,023 32,305
Payment of interest (29,023} (32,305)
Lease payments {72,268} (53,429}
Effect of translation 5,150 -
At 31 December 309,577 263.183
Current lease liability 108,889 112,125
Non-current lease liability 200,688 151.058
309,577 263,183
Amounts recognised in profit or loss;
Interest on lease liabilities 29,023 32,305
Depreciation expense 76,426 77,136
Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows;
Payment of principal pertion of the lease liabilities 72.268 53,429
Payment of interest 29,023 32.305
Total cash outflow for leases 101,291 85,734
Lease lfabilfty maturity analysis
Group
2023 Dueon  Duewithin3  Due between3  Due between 1 Due after 5
demand months  and 12 months and 5 years years Total
KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000
Lease liabilities - 33,172 75,717 232,975 450 349,314
2022
Lease liabilities - 35,673 76,452 188,753 6,780 307,658
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(a) GROUP CiC Plazain
Kenya and Kiambu Kajiado
South Sudan Land Land Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
At 1January 2022 1,945,939 3,800,000 1,732,000 7,477,939
Foreign exchange differences on transtation 1,868 - - 1,868
Fairvalue gains 35,833 246,600 - 281,833
At 31 December 2022 1,983 640 4,046 32,000 7,761,640
At 1 January 2023 1,983,640 4,046,000 1,732,000 7,761,640
Foreign exchange differences on translation {59,825) “ - {59,825)
Fairvalue gains 132,383 - - 132,383
At 31 December 2023 2,056,198 4,046,000 1,732,000 7.834,198
() COMPANY 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Kiambu Land
At 1January 4,046,000 3,800,000
Fair value gains {note 6) - 246,000
At 31 December 4,046,000 4,046,000

Netrental income on CIC Plaza arising from operating lease arrangements has been disclosed in note 6 to the financial statements.

The Group's investment properties include;

CIC Plaza Kenya fand and buiiding valued at KShs 1.7 biliion. The property was revalued at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by
Crystal Valuers Limited who are registered professional valuers, The falr value of the investment property was determined on
the basis of open market value.

CIC Plaza South Sudan land and building valued at KShs 355 million. The property was revalued at 31 December 2023 and
2022 by Kenval Realtors Limited who are registered professionat valuers. The fair value of the investment property was
determined on the basis of open market value.

Kajiado land valued at KShs 1.73 billion. The property was revalued at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by Crystal Valuers
Limited who are registered professional valuers. The fair value of the investment property was determined on the basis of open
market value.

Kiambu land valued at KShs 4.05 billion. The property was revalued at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by Crystal Valuers
Limited who are registered professional valuers. The fairvalue of the investment property was determined on the basis of open
marketvalue, The property has also been used as collateral on a bank foan with Cooperative Bank of Kenya.

{c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment properties 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000

Rental income from operating leases 161,384 148,311
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income (14,721) {11,318)
Direct operating expenses from property that did not generated rental income (43,281) {49,322)
Fair value galns - 246,000
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15,

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Kiambu land is accounted for as an investment property and is valued at KShs 4.05 billion (2022: KShs 4.0 billion). The land
which measures 200 acres has been subdivided into 4 blocks (Blacks A, B, C and D) each with individuai freehold titles. One of the
Blocks (Block C) has been further subdivided into quarter-acre plots which generated 147 units whose sales launch was done in

November 2022. Urban plannets working under a consortium have been engaged for the subdivision of the remaining blocks A, B
and D.

At 31 December 2023, deposits amounting to KShs 83.0 million (2022: KShs 35.8 million) have been received into an escrow
account with Co-operative Bank of Kenya. The amounts have been recognized in the cash book against a contract liability account.
During the year, deposits of KShs 94.9 million were used to partly settle the borrowing with Cooperative Bank. The receipts are
deferred on the balance sheet and revenue will be recognised when full consideration is paid and title of the property passes to the
buyers. None of the deposits received met the revenue recognition criteria at 31 December 2023. Proceeds from sale of the land
will be used to settie outstanding loan from Co-operative Bank (Note 39) whose repayment date is 30 Sep 2024,

The table below illustrates the information about significant unobservable inputs used af year end:

Significant
Valuation approach - assuming use of the asset Significant Inter-relationship between | unobservable
in the highest and best use ohservable inpuis key observable inputs inputs
Valued using the Discounted Cash Flow method. The valuation is increase in the discount Discount rate;
Net income is determined by considering gross determined on the and vacancy rate will 16%
income less operating expenditure. market weighted decrease the fair value of

average cost of the properties,

Capitalization of the rental income using the year | capital.
purchase method

The discount rate Is determined with referencete | Tenancyisbasedon | Similarchanges in tenancy | Annual rent

the current market conditions comparable market | projected occupancy | willincrease/decreasethe | growth rate; 3%
transactions. of the property. market value of the
property.

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to vafuation on investment properties:

Valuation technigue Significant unobservable inputs Average
Kshs'000
Capitalized rent income (year purchase) method Net annual rent 161,384

Constdering the physical economic parameters in the country and the trends in property markets, management is of the opinion
that there will not be significant change In the inputs to the valuation method during the year. The valuation takes into account
recent prices of similar properties with adjustments made to reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions at those prices.

Valuations are performed on an annual basis and the falr value gains and losses are recorded within the profit or loss. The Kiambu
1and property worth Kshs 4.05 billion kas been pledged and charged as coltateral on the hank loan with Cooperative Bank of Kenya.
The value of the land is based on market vatue, that is price at which an Interest in a property might reasonably be expected to be sold
by a private treaty at the date of valuation assuming:

a) awilling selley;

h) areasonable period within which to negotiate the sale by taking into account the nature of the property;

¢ values will remain static throughout the petiod;

d) the property will be freely exposed to the market within reasonabie publicity;

) ne accountis taken of an individuat bid by a special purchaser,
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

{(a) GROUP
Computer Workin
Software progress* Goodwill Total
2023 Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
COosT
At 1 january 516,555 46,719 28,148 661,422
Additions 34,701 36,629 - 71,330
Effect of foreign currency translation 10,774 889 . 11,663
At 31 December 562.030 84.237 98,148 744,415
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 January 376,445 - - 376,445
Charge for the year 57,589 . - 57,589
Foreign exchange differences on transiation 8.983 - - 8.983
At 31 December 443,017 - — - 443,017
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 119,013 84237 88,148 301,398
Computer Work in
Software progress* Goodwill Total
2022 Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'G00
cosT
At 1 January 383,977 147,998 98,148 630,123
Additions 29,256 2,655 - 31,911
Transfers 103,934 {103,934) - .
Hyperinflation adjustment (352} - - (352)
Effect of foreign currency transiation 2860 - - - 260
At 31 December 516,555 46,719 98,148 661,422
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 January 316,398 - - 316,398
Charge for the year 56,634 - - 56,634
Foreign exchange differences on transiation 3,413 - - 3.413
At 31 December 376,445 - RO 376,445
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 140,110 46,719 98,148 284 977

*work in progress relates to the underwriting and financial reporting software which is currently under implementation.

The goodwill arose from the acquisition of CIC Africa Limited Malawi. In line with the impairment provisions under IAS 36,
management identified two clear cut cash generating units (CGUs); Life Business (Long term) and General Business (short term)
for CIC Africa Ltd Malawi. This was consistent with the goodwill impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December 2022,
IAS 36 paragraph 33 {b} “in measuring value in use an entity shail base cash fiow projections on the most recent financial
budgets/forecasts approved by management, which exclude any estimated future cash inflows or outflows expected to arise from
future restructurings or from improving or enhancing the asset's performance.”.
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i6.

INTANG!BLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(@) GROUP (continued)

The group tests whether goadwill has suffered any impairment on an annua! basis. For the 2023 and 2022 reporting
petiods, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units (CGUs) was determined based on value-in-use calculations
which require the use of assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
growth rates stated below. These growth rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports specific to the
industry in which each CGU operates. Based on the results of the impairment test cartied out, goodwill was assessed not
fo be impaired.

The sensitivities to the assumptions are nat material,

The following table sets out the key assumptions applied in determining the value in use calculations of the CGUs to which
goodwill was allocated:

General Life
Insurance revenue growth growth:
-year 1 26% 29%
-year2 25% 28%
-year 3 22% 30%
-year 4 22% 30%
-year 5 22% 30%
Terminat grawth rate 4% 4%
Discount rate 25% 21%
Directly attributable expenses 16% 15%
Investment income 15% 15%

Management determined the values assigned to each of the above key assumptions as follows:

Average growth based on market expectation and In fine with industry trend and
experience for previously gross eamed premium. Management projects a

Insurance revenue growth conservative growth trajectory for the business for the coming years.

Based on Malawi's projected GDP growth in 2023, The rates are consistent with
Long term growth rate forecasts included in industry reports.
Discount rate Weighted average cost of capital per CGU
Directly attributable expenses Based on company's historicat experience and management expectations
Investment income Based on Malawi’s historical rate of return on investments
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16. [INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b} COMPANY

2022

cosT

At 1 January

Additions

At 31 December
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 January

Charge for the year

At 31 December

CARRYING AMOUNT

At 31 December

2022

CosT

At 1 January

Additions

At 31 December
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1Jaruary

Charge for the year

At 31 December

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December

17. DEFERRED INCOMETAX

(@) GROUP

Computer
software
KShs'000

129,077
3,480

Computer
software
KShs'000

110,220
18,857

Workin
progress

39,536

39,536
Work in
progress
36,881
2 655

39,536

39,536

Total
2023
KShs'000

168,613
3,480

172,093
72,081
26,046

58,107

13,986

Total
2022
KShs'000

147,101
21512

Deferred tax s calculated, in full, on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 30%

(2022: 30%).

Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liability
Net deferred tax asset

Deferred tax charge analyzed as follows:
Deferred tax recognized through profit or foss
Deferred tax recognized through GCI

2023
KShs’000

1,380,862
663,540
17,329

(278,787)
120,050

(158,737}

2022
KShs'000

1,164,457

288,392
876,065

88,462
66.547

155,009



THE CIC iNSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continted)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

17. DEFERRED TAXATION {continued)

{a) GROUP {continued)

Deferred tax movement:
2022 Movement 2023
Arising from: KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'000
Unutilised tax losses 656,379 (40,599) 615,780
Property and equipment 96,042 (2,308} 93,734
Provisions for doubtful premium receivables 403,575 133,599 535,174
Revaluation investment property (101,273) 47 (101,2286)
Life fund surplus {288,392} (375,148) {663,540)
Fair value losses through OCI 102,700 120,050 222,750
Other deductible differences 9,034 5.622 14,656
Net deferred tax asset 876,065 {158,737) 117,328
GROUP 2021 Movement 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
Unutilised tax losses 804,303 (147,924) 656,379
Property and equipment 61,353 34,689 86,042
Provision for doubtful premium receivables 444,427 {42,852) 401,575
Revaluation investment property {189,331 88,058 {101,273}
Life fund surplus {485,042} 196,650 (288,392)
Fair value losses through GCI 36,153 66,547 102,700
Other deductible differences 49,193 {40,159) 9.034
Net deferred tax asset 721,056 155,009 876,065
Deferred tax charge analyzed as follows: 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Deferred tax recognized through profit or foss (278,787) 88,462
Deferred tax recognized through OCH 120.050 66,547
158 155,009

et deferred tax asset/(liability)

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000

The deferred tax asset/ (liability} has been analysed as follows;
CIC Asset Management Limited 43,459 24922
CIC General Insurance Limited 660,049 431,549
CiC Life Assurance Eimited (663,540) (288,392)
CIC Africa Malawi Limited 97,546 89,679
The CIC Insurance Group Limited - Company 579.815 618,307
717.329 876,065
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

17. DEFERRED TAXATION {continued)
{b) COMPANY

Recognized in

. Ar31
At 1 January Profit orloss December
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
2022
Arising from;
Unutilised tax losses 605,389 50,990 656,379
Provisions 37,077 (1,349) 35,728
Fairvalue gains on revaluation of investment property - (73,800) (73,800}
Net deferred tax asset 642,466 (24,159) 618,307
2023
Arising from:
Unutilised tax losses 656,379 (40,599) 615,780
Provisions 35,728 1,512 37,240
Fair value gains on revaluation of investment property {73,800) - (73,800}
Prior year under provision - ’ 595 595
Net deferred tax asset 618,307 (38,492) 579,815

18.  INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

The investment in Takaful Insurance of Africa Limited represents 22% (2022 - 22%) of the issued ordinary share capital the
assoclate, which is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Kenya. its principal activities are fransaction of
general insurance and life insurance business. The company, whose financial year end is 31 December, is not listed on any
securities exchange.

The table below summarizes the changes in the investment in associate;

GROUP COMPANY
2023 2022 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
At 1January 108,624 104,024 108,694 104,024
Share of {loss}/ profit after tax (3.035) 4670 3.035 4,670
At 31 December 105,659 108,694 105,659 108,694

Impairment assessment was performed which resulted in no impairment charges in the year.
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18. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the assoclate is set out below:

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Current assets 838219 1,127,248
Non- current assets 295,406 270,567
Current liabilities 561,380 778,109
Non- current llabilities 91,977 125,642
Equity 480,268 494,064
Cash and cash equivalents 462,999 529,143
Insurance service result 56,590 129,713
Net investiment return 41,585 22,509
Operating expenses (113,668) (111,735}
{Loss)/ profit from continuing operations for the year (15,493} 40,487
Income tax expense 1,699 (19,262)
(Loss)/ profit for the year {13.794) 21,225
Group's share of (loss)/ profit (3,035) 4,670
Group's share of associate’s contingent liabilities Nil Nil

The extent to which outflow of funds wili be required on the Group's share of associate’s contingent liabilities is dependent on the
future operations of the associate being favourahie than currently expected. In comman practice with the insurance industry in
general, the assoclate Is subjected to litigation arising in the normal course of insurance business. There are no significant
restrictions on the ability of associate to transfer funds to the entity in the form of cash dividend made by the group.

The are no commitments relating to the associate.

19. INVESTMENT N SUBSIDIARIES

{a) COMPANY 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000

CIC Asset Management Limited:

15,550,000 ordinary shares of KShs 20 each at cost 311,000 311,000

CIC Generat Insurance Limited:

85,000,000 ordinary shares of KShs 20 each at cost 1,700,000 1,700,000

CIC Life Assurance Limited:

40,000,000 ordinary shares of KShs 20 each at cost 800,000 800,000

CIC Microinsurance Limited:

500,000 ordinary shares of KShs 100 each at cost 50,009 -

CIC Africa Insurance {South Sudan) Limited

690,000 ordinary shares of USD 5 each at cost (1 KShs =USD 0.93) 319,962 319,962

CIC Africa Co-operatives Insurance {Malawi) Limited

789,977 ordinary shares of MK 1,000 each at cost {1KShs = MK 7.2} 268,124 268,124

CIC Africa (Uganda} Limited* :

720,093 ordinary shares of UShs 10,000 each at cost (1Kshs = Ushs 31.3} 779,324 779,324

4,228,410 4,178,410

*The extent to which outflow of funds will be required on the Group's share of subsidiary's contingent liabilities is dependent on
the future
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19, INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Movement in investment in subsidiaties

As at 1 January

2023

KShs'000

4,178,410

Acquisitien of additional ordinary shares in CIC Africa (Uganda) Limited

Acquisition of ardinary shares in CIC Microinsurance Limited

As at January and 31 December

50,000

8,410

In 2022, the Company converted its loan to CIC Africa (Uganda) Limited into ordinary share capital of the subsidiary in retirement
of debt with the subsidiary. This resulted to increase in interest in the subsidiary from 93% to 95%.

Country of
(b} COMPANY Incorporation  Principal activity
CiC Asset Management Limited Kenya Funds and assets management
Underwriting general insurance
CIC General Insurance Limited Kenya business.
Underwriting long-term
CIC Life Assurance Limited Kenya husiness.
CIC Microinsurance Limited Kenya Underwriting microinsurance
business
CIiC Africa Insurance {SS) Limited Underwriting general and life
South Sudan  insurance business.
CIC Africa Co-operatives Insurance Underwriting general and life
(Malawi) Limited Malawi insurance business.
Underwriting general and life
CiC Africa (Uganda} Limited Uganda insurance business.

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST- CORPORATE BONDS

Propartion of

ordinary shares held
2023 2022
100% 100%
106% 100%
100% 100%
100% -
69% 69%
91% 91%
95% 95%

2022
KShs'000

3,682,878
495,632

4,178,410

Proportion of
Shares held by non-
controffing
fnterests
2023 2022
31% 31%
9% 9%
5% 5%

The credit quality of each corporate bond is assessed and is acceptable within the parameters used fo measure and monitor credit

risk.

GROUP

Real People Kenya Limited

Chase Bank

Kenya Mertgage Refinance Company Limited
East African Breweries Limited

Famity Bank Limited

Total gross
Altowance for expected credif losses

The movement in the corporate bonds is as follows:
At 1 January

Additions

Maturities

Write-off

Amortisation of corporate bond

Gross
Allowance for expected credit losses {note 8(d))
At 31 December
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2023
KShs'000

7,258

20,867
8,981
58,989

96,095
{449)
95,646

180,439

{2,189)
(82,615)
460

96,095

{449)
95,646

2022
KShs'000

15,898
79,896
16,763

8,984
58,898

180,439
(83,408
97031

171,072
23,968

(14,700
92

180,439
83,408

97.031
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST- CORPORATE BONDS {continued}

21,

22,

2023 2022
KShs '000) KShs '000
Maturity analysis
Within 1 year - -
In 1-5 years - -
In over 5 years 95,64 97,03
85,646 97,031

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL allowances in corporate bonds has been disclosed
in note 53.2(a). There are no corporate bonds held under lien.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COSTS: GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

GROUP 2023 2022 2021
KShs '000 ¥Shs '000 KShs '000
At 1 January 8,279,230 5,677,890 2,010,376
Additions 3,418,783 3,198,850 552,550
Maturities (1,126,479} {669,659) (458,306)
Reclassification from FVOCI - - 3,577,818
Accrued interest 74,443 55,323 (3,763
Effect of foreign currency translation 108,089 16,826 -
10,754,066 8,279,230 5,878,673
Allowance for expected credit loss (847) {375) _..(183)
At 31 December 10,753,219 8,278,855 5,877,890
Maturity analysis
Within 1 year 453,209 521,276 432,793
In 1-5 yeats 3,467,450 3,330,683 . 1,037,594
In over 5 years 6,832,560 4,426,896 4,207,503
10,753,219 8,278,855 5,677,890

Government securities at amortised cost of KShs 10.1 billion (2022: KShs 2.42 bilfion) relate to treasury bonds held by the
Central Bank of Kenya under lien to the Commissioner of Insurance in accordance with the Kenyan Insurance Act. In addition,
Government securities at amortised cost of KShs 551 miltion {2022; KShs 384 million} relate to treasury bonds held by the Bank
of Uganda under lien accordance with the Ugandan Insurance Act 2017,

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST: LOANS RECEIVABLES

The loans refer to advances given to staff and have collateral held on them. Upon resignation the credit quality of each loan is
assessed and is acceptable within the parameters used to measure and menitor credit risk. impairment losses have been
recognised on loans receivables and have been recorded in profit or foss.

Mortgage and other staff loans are advanced at an interest rate of 6%. Mortgage loans are repayable within 20 years, while other
staff ioans which Include the car loans and study loans are repayable within 4 yeats and b years respectively.

{a) MORTGAGE LOANS

2023 2022
KShs '000 KShs '000
(i} GROUP

At 1 January 80,575 79,799
l.oan repayments {6,409) {5,050)
Accrued interest 6,135 5,826
80,301 80,575
Allowance expected credit losses (rote 9(d)) {11.761) {11,236)
At 31 December 68,540 69,339
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22.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST: LOANS RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) MORTGAGE LOANS (continued)

2023 2022
KShs '000 KShs '000
{iy GROUP
Maturity profile:
Within 1 year - -
In 1-5 years 12,290 11,780
In over 5 years 56,250 57,559
68,540 69,339
{iiy COMPANY
At 1 January 11,859 11,177
Loan repayments {(600) (545)
Acerued interest 1,319 1,227
12,578 11,859
Aliowance expected credit losses {note 9) (288) (288)
At 31 December 12,290 11,571
Maturity profile:
Within 1 year - -
In 1-5 years 12,290 11,571
In over 5 years - -
12,290 11574
{b} OTHER LOANS
2023 2022
¥Shs '000 KShs '000
(i) GROUP
Staff loans 44,851 9,520
WMovement:
At 1 January 9,747 9,838
l.oans advanced 38,297 3,044
Loan repayments (3,952) {3,135)
Effect of foreign exchange transiation 573 -
44,665 9,747
Allowance expected credit losses {note 9) 186 {227}
At 31 December 44 851 8,520
Maturity profile:
Within 1 year 3,362 2,340
in1-Hyears 2,808 1,426
in over 5 years 38,681 5,154
44,851 9,520
Subtotal (a(i)) 68,540 69,339
Subtotal {b(i)) 44,851 9,520
113,391 78,859
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTLSED COST: LOANS RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) OTHER LOANS (continued)

2023 2022
KShs '000 KShs "000
(i) COMPANY

At 1 January 810 597
Loans advanced 2,519 213
Loan repayments d I
At31 December 3,329 810

Maturity profile:
Within 1 year . -
I 1-5 years 3.32 810
At 31 December 3329 810
Subtotal (a(ii)) 12,290 11,571
Subtaotal (bii)} 3.329 810
15,6 12,381

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL allowances In loans has been disclosed in note
53.2(a).

The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk by of staff loans, the total fair value of collateral, any surplus
collateral {the extent to which the fair value of collaterat held is greater than the exposure to which it relates), and the netexposure

to credit risk:
Group
31 December 2023 Maximum exposure Total Exposuretototal
In KShs ‘000 to credit risk collateral collateral ratio Net exposure ECLs
Mortgage loans 68,540 133,458 51% - 11,761
Other loans 12,159 37.654 32% - -
31 December 2022
Mortgage loans 69,332 133,458 52% - 11236
Other loans 9,520 37,654 25% - [Fi))
Company
31 December 2023 Maximum exposure Total  Exposure tototal
In KShs {o credit risk collaterat coflateral ratio Net exposure ECLs
Mortgage loans 12,290 12935 95% -
31 December 2022
Mortgage loans J1.573 12,935 89% . -

The coliaterals on the mortgage loans relate te the underlying plot and/or house, to which the loan relates to. The
property is charged on the Group and the group is able to sell the property in case of default.

The other loans relate to staff loans, and are secured by the staff contracts.
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

2023 2022 2021
(a) GROUP KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
At 1 January 11,389,365 7,756,057 9,592,504
Additions 4,251 839 4,192,876 2,281,000
Disposals (1,065,000) {110,580) (300,759)
Reclassification to amortised cost - - (3,577,816)
Fairvalue loss through OCI (993.960) {448,988) {236.752)
Gross 13,582,244 11,389,365 7,758,177
Allowance for expected credit loss {2.870) - (3.882)
At 31 December 13,579,374 11,389 365 7,754,295
Maturity analysis
Within 1 year - - -
In 1-5 years 1,211,610 1,521,933 892,614
In over 5 years 12,367,764 9,867,432 6,861,681
13,579,374 11,389,365 7,754,295

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL allowances debt instruments at fair value through OCI
and at amortised cost has been disclosed in note 53.2(a),

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -~ UNQOUTED EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

GROUP 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Unquoted investments:
Shares held in the Qil and gas consortium 8,418 6,310
Shares heid in Co-op Holding Co-operative Society Limited 14378 15,337
22,796 21,647
The mevement in the investments is as follows:
At 1 January 21,647 15,763
Additions - 6,067
Fair value loss (416) {426)
Effect of foreign currency translation 1,565 243
At 31 Becember 22,796 21,647

The shares held in Co-op Holding Co-operative Society Limited were acquired before the initial public offer (iPQ) in 2009 and are
not listed at the Nairobi Secutities Exchange Limited (NSE), These shares are not available to the public market; they can only be
sold to other members of the Co-operative entity at a specified agreed value. Thus, the agreed price represents the exit price for
these shares which are to be valued at the higher of 60% of the average of the month's quoted Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
shares at the Nalrobi Securities Exchange Limited or the value of the shares. In the current year the shares have been valued at
KShs 6.75 which approximates the fair value. In 2023, the Groip did not receive any dividends from its FVOC| equities. The Group
did not dispose of or derecognise any FVOC! equity instruments in 2023.
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25, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS-QUOTED EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

At 1 January
Additions
Disposal
Fairvalue loss

At 31 December

2023
KShs'0C0

1,060,004

106,091
{384,225)
{134.364)

647,506

2022
KShs'000

1,218,065
32,279
(106,188)
(84,152)

1,060,004

Af year end, these are valued at the weighted average price at the Nairobi Securities Exchange on the last day of trading in that

year,
26. (a) INVESTMENTS IN COLLECTIVE INVESTMENT SCHEMES THROUGH PROFT OR LOSS - GROUP

At 1 lanuary
Additions
Disposal
Fairvalue gain

At 31 December

(b) INVESTMENTS I¥ COLLECTIVE INVESTMENT SCHEMES THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - COMPANY

At 1 January
Additions
Disposals

Fair value gain

At 31 December
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2023
KShs ‘000

1,210,502
635,195
{493,070}
15,874

1,368,501

37,255

{25,000}
2,246

14,501

2022
KShs ‘000

1,738,872
1,736,002
(2,340,154)
75.782

1,210,502

10,838
32,060
(7,000}

1417

37,255
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27. OTHER RECEIVABLES
{a} GROUP

Staif advances

Rentreceivable

Prepayments

Other receivables

Administration fees from asset management
Other deposits*

Medical administration fees receivable**
Administration fees from pensions
Sundry debtors

Withholding tax

Allowance for expected credit Josses

Movement in ECL:

1 January
Increase in expected credit losses {note 9{d))

At 31 December
() COMPANY
Other receivables

Prepayments
CIC Society Ltd

2023
KShs'000

13,584
73,397
70,873
114,340
142,724
100,265
52,258
169,511
105,563
22,312

12393
852434
8,746
3.647

12,393

14,555
42,480
4,500

61,535

2022
KShs'000

12,661
51,515
98,974
122,113
138,589

155,496
42,775
12,878
(8.746)

626,255

6,752
1,994

8,746

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL allowances in other receivables has been disclosed in

note 53.2(a).

*Other deposits relate to deposits placed with the lead insurers under the NHIF civil servants account and the Nationat Police Service

(NPS) account to facilitate prompt payment of claims.

**Medical administration fee receivable relates fo the administration income due from the NPS medical scheme as at 31 December

2023.

The canying amounts disclosed above reasonably approximate fair values at the reporting date.
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28. RELATED PARTIES

The ultimate parent company is Co-operative Insurance Society Limited. The Group has vatious refated parties, most of whom are
related by virtue of being the investor, and partly due to common directorships. The provisions for expected credit losses made on
related party balances during the year was Kshs 5,573,000 (2022: Kshs 2,541,000}, The amounts due from related parties are non-
interest bearing and the balances are not secured,

The CIC Insurance Group being the majority shareholder in the various related parties; is committed to providing the necessary

financial support to the refated companies with capitalisation deficit to ensure they meet their financial obligations.

GROUP

Due from related companies:
Co-operative Insurance Society Limited
Allowance for expected credit losses

Movement in ECL:
1 January
Decrease in expected credit losses {note 9{d))

At 31 December

(@

Transaction with related parties during the year
The following transactions were cawied out with refated parties during the year:

Payments on behalf of related parfy™*
Co-operative insurance Society Limited

CIC Africa Co-operatives insurance Limited Malawi

Dividends paid to Co-operative Insurance Society Limited

Premium receipts from Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
Claims payment to Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited

2023
KShs'000

188,620
(5.573)

183.047

2,541
3.032

40,921
26,574

256,348

4,269,348
1,046,303

3,558,273
841,274

* |n helping to reduce the administration burden there will be situations where one entity will pay expenses or receive premiums on
behalf of its sister entities or subsidiaries. Therefore, these transactions relate to the receipts to and payments from related parties
to refmburse the entity paying on behalf of the others or allocating the premiums received by the entity on behalf of the others.

(b} Keymanagement and director's remuneration

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows:

Short-term employment benefits:
Directors
- Safaries

- Directors ‘emoluments - Fees
- Others (travel and accommodation)

Key management staff*:

Salaries

Leave allowance

National Social Security Fund (NSSF)
Gratuity

Contribution to defined contribution scheme

2023
KShs'000

78,717
35,037
8.698
122452

162,078
2,236
157
12,238
7.000

306,161

2022
KShs'000

63,675
31,738
6,072
101,485

258,443
2,180
48
9,623
14,113

385,892

*Included in Kenya management staff is salary and allowances of KShs 79 million (2022: KShs 64 million} paid to Group Chief
Executive Officer, who is also a director.
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28. RELATED PARTIES (Centinued)

COMPANY 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Due from related parties:
Co-operative Insurance Society Limited 188,620 147,699
CIC Africa (Uganda) Limited 111,518 96,400
CIC Africa Co-operatives Insurance (Malawi) Limited 66,677 40,103
CIC Africa Insurance (SS) Limited 35,161 27,995
Allowance of expected credit losses (1,996) (1.783}
399.980 310,414
Due to related patties:
CIC Life Assurance Limited 434,700 393,879
CIC General insurance Limited 171,056 135,931
CIC Asset Management Limited 47,478 36,260
CIC Microinsurance Limited 2,736 -
656,970 566,070
COMPANY

Related parly loan receivable from:
CiC Africa Limited-Uganda

|
l,

Movement in intercompany loan receivable:

At 1 January - 527,443
Capitalisation of foan to investment in suhsidiaries - (495,532)
Repayment - {31.911)
At 31 December -

In the year 2022, the loan from CIC Africa Limited - Uganda was capitalized into investment in subsidiaries. Interest in
the subsidiary increased from 93% to 95%. No goodwil] arose from this transaction.

Related party loan payable fo:

CIC Africa (SS) Limited 273.076 238,016
Totat 273,076 238,016
Movement in intercompany foan payable:

At 1 January 238,016 206,851
Interest accrued 35.060 31,165
At 31 December 273,076 238,016

The loan from CIC Africa (SS) Limited is unsecured and attracts interest at the rate of 12.5% per annum, Itis repayable
on 13 February 2024, following a 2-year extension approval. The Iean was structured as single draw-down with a bullet
repayment of principal sum at end of its tenure,
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28.  RELATED PARTIES {Continued)

The company has various refated parties, most of whom are related by common shareholding.

{) Transaction with related parties during the year - Company 2023 2022
¥shs'000 Kshs'00D

Receipts from related parties
CIC Asset Management Limited 43,675 259,876
CIC General insurance Limited 559,498 2,765,346
CIC Life Assurance Limited 439,781 126,106

Payments to related parties

CIC Asset Management Limited 32,457 182,500
CIC General Insurance Limited 594,622 873,456
CIC Life Assurance Limited 398,960 125,537
CiC Africa (Uganda) Limited 15,118 9,066
CIC Africa Co-operatives Insurance Limited 26,574 8,535
CIC Africa Insurance (SS) Limited 7,166 28,057
Co-operative Insurance Society Limited 40,921 20,056

Loans to directors of the group and the company

The Group and its subsidiaries did not advance loans to the directors in the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31
Pecember 2022.

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and coresponding ECL allowances in due from related parties has
been disclosed in note 53.2{a}.

The carrying amounts disclosed above reasonably approximate fair valies at the reporting date.
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29. DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

() GROUP

The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
KCB Bank Kenya Limited*

Nico Asset Managers Limited

Equity Bank of Kenya Limited

Equity Bank of Uganda Limited

{and M Bank Limited

Stanbic Bank Limited

Family Bank Limited

Imperial Bank of Kenya Limited

Credit Bank Limited

FTB Bank Limited

Kenya Women's Micro Finance Bank
Ugafode Microfinance Limited
Foundation for international assistance (Finca) Bank
Old mutual Limited (Malawi)

My bucks banking Corporation

NCBA Bank Kenya PLC

Housing Finance Bank Uganda
Kingdom Bank itd

Absa Bank Uganda Ltd

Postbank

Sidian Bank

Devetopment Bank of Kenya Limited
National Bank of Kenya

Bridge Path Capital

NBS Bank Ltd Malawi

First Discount House Bank Limited
Continental Asset Management Malawi
First Capital Bank Malawi

Expected credit losses allowance
Net deposits
Maturity analysis:

Maturing within three months
Maturing after 3 months

(i} Movement in deposits maturing after 3 months

As at January
Netincrease/{decrease)

As at December

(i) Mevement in ECL;
(a) GROUP

1 January

Decrease in expected credit losses {note 9)
At 31 December

138

2023
KShs'000

3,920,426
1,020,244
298,824
143,626
98,471

344,936
10,329
100,807
148,457
89,357
12,681
869

23,218
616,650
73,191
78,399
424
216,755

57,122

770
3,224
342,127

7,600,907
(21.617)

7,513,290

4,584,059
3,016,848

00,907

2,552,717
464,131

3.016,848

32,007
(4.390)
27,617

2022
KShs'000

853,208
1,763,854
180,229
602,047
128,966
252,351

82,248
23,200
12,795
109,986

8,429
44,307
85,726
67,438

1,031,671

182,105
41
13,447
9,010
90,171
50,677
44,509
45,337
100,021
96,036
32.002

5,940,111
32.00

5,908,104

3,387,394
2,552,717
5940.111

3,119,756
567,039
2,952,141

34,546
2,539
32,007
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29, DEPOQSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (Continued)
(b) COMPANY
KCB Bank Kenya Limited*
The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
Expected credit losses allowance
Net deposits
Maturity analysis:

Maturing within 3 months
Maturing after 3 months

2023
KShs'000

71,142
46,496
a9

117,568

117,638

2022
KShs'000

94,658
(82}
94,516

94,658

# With the exception of deposits with KCB Bank Kenya Limited, which are under lien, and Kshs, 248 militon in KCB Bank Kenya
and Kshs. 1.1 bilfien in Co-operative Bank of Kenya which are placed as guarantee for fulfilment of some certain insurance
arrangements with insured, all the other depesits are available for use by the Group and have no lien conditions attached to them.
The weighted average interest rate eamed on the deposits with KCB Bank Kenya Limited under lien during the year was 2.5%

(2022: 2.5%).

The carrying amounts disclosed above reasonably approximate fair values at the reporting date.

30. SHARECAPITAL

Authorised ordinary shares of
KShs 1 each (2022: KShs 1 each):
At 1 January and at 31 December

Issued and fully paid up shate capital:
At 1 January and at 31 December

31. SHAREPREMIUM

At 1 fanuary and at 31 December

2023
Number of Share
shares capitat
KShs'000 KShs'000

3,000,000 3.000,000

2,615 578 2,615,578

2022
Number of Share
shares capital
KShs'000 KShs’000

3,000,000 3,000,000

2615578 2,615,578

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
162 162,179

Share premit:m arose out of private placement at a cost of KShs. 22.50 which was KShs 2.50 above the nominal value of 20/- in
2011 resulting in a share premium of KShs 538 million. Subsequently, the share premium was capitalized through issuance of
bonus amounting to 436 million shares of KShs 1 each,
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32.  STATUTCRY RESERVE
The statutory reserve represents the surplus on the long-terms business which is not distributable as dividends as per the
reguirements of the Kenyan insurance Act.
Transfer from statutory reserve relates to the proportion of the long-term business surplus which is distributable as dividends and
therefore transferred to retained eamings. The Act restricts the amounts of surpluses of the fong-term business available for
distribution to shareholders to 30% of the accumuiated surplus of the long-term business.
33.  CONTINGENCY RESERVE
The centingency reserve represents at 2% of the gross premium for non-life insurance business and 1% for life business that is set
aside as required by the Insurance Act in Uganda.
34.  REVALUATION SURPLUS
The revaluation surplus represents the surpluses on the revaluation of buildings and is not distributable as dividends.
35.  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
The exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign operations to the presentation currency are transferred to the foreign
currency translation reserve. On disposal of the net investment, the cumulative exchange differences relating to the operations
disposed of are released to the statement of profit or joss.
2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
At 1 January {496,295) (356,769)
Other currency translation differences (70,051} (153,638}
NCI share in translation differences {7.581) 14,112
Total movement in the year (77,632} (139,526}
At 31 December (673,927} (496,295}
36.  FAIR VALUE RESERVE
The fair value reserve represents fair value gains / (losses) arising from financial assets at fais value through other comprehensive
income and is not distributable as dividends.
37.  RETAINED EARNINGS
The retained earsings balance represents the amount available for dividend distribution to the shareholders of the Group.
Retained earnings include fair value gains on revaluation of investment properties which are unrealised and whose distribution is
subject to restrictions imposed by the Kenya Insurance Act 2015.
38.  NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'00¢
At 1 January (32,085) (18,644)
Profit for the year (56,135) 671
Other comprehensive toss for the year 7.581 {14,112
Total comprehensive income for the year {48,554) {13,441)
At 31 December {80,639) {32.085)

Summarised financial information has been presented helow for CIC Africa (Malawi) Limited, CIC Africa {Uganda) Limited and CIC
Africa (South Sudan) Limited subsidiaries with non-controlling interest.
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38.  NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
Soutk Sudan
2023 2022
Proportion of ownership held by NCi 31% 31%
Proportion of voting rights held by NCI 31% 31%
NC! share of retained eamings/loss (KShs ‘000) (30,503) 52,068
NCI share of profit before income tax (KShs '000)  (58,241)  (1,061)
Dividends paid to NCI in the year (KShs ‘000} - -
Summarised financial information of the subsidiaries is provided below:
South Sudan
2023 2022
KShs’000  KShs'000
Operating profit/(loss) (187,553) (3,422}
Profit/{loss) for the year (187,553) (3,422}
Other comprehensive income 26,853 {29,558)
Total comprehensive income {160,700} {32,280)
Total non-current assets 603,170 477,613
Total current assets 1,211,877 842,316
Total non-current liabilities - -
Total current labilities 1,686,575 976,137
39.  BORROWINGS - GROUP AND COMPANY
{a) GROUP
1 January
New loans
Principal repayment
Interest repayment
Interest accrued
Effect of translation

31 December

{b) COMPANY

1 January

Principal repayment
Interest repayment
Interest accrued

31 December

Malawi Uganda

2023 2022 2023 2022

9% 9% 5% 5%

9% 9% 5% 5%

4,621 7,514 (39,719) (25,444)

(1,568) 4,651 3,574 (1,443}

Malawi Uganda

2023 2022 2023 2022
KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000
(33,310} 60,676 95,434 (33,877)
{17,418} 51,675 71,484 (46,696)
(8,454) (90,374) 348 50,960
(25,872) (38,699} 71,832 4,264
129,237 100,718 161,615 56,654
794,963 762,870 2,339,588 1,402,688
643,744 527,920 2,004,138 1,124,233

2023 2022

KShs’000 KShs'000

4,571,600 4,363,600

112,078 -

{24,973) -

(7,993) (200,000}

488,243 408,000

12.209 :

5,081,164 4,571,600

4,571,600 4,363,600

(94,973} -

{2,912) (200,000}

482,176 408.000

4955891 4,571,600

The borrowings relate to a hank loan of Kshs 3.4 billion {2022: Kshs 3.4 billion) from Co-operative Bank at a fixed interest rate of
12% with a tenure of 5 years and is due for repayment on 30th September 2024, The loan was structured as single draw-down with
a bullet repayment of principal sum at end of the fenure. Interest repayment is on tri - annual basis. A principal and interest
repayment of Kshs 95 million and 2.9 miltion respectively was made during the year. The loan is secured by Kiambu land; LR No
28800/951, an investment property held by the Group whose fairvalue at 31 December 2023 was Kshs 4.05 billion (Note 15(b)).

The new loan was advanced to CIC Africa Uganda Limited during the year, an amount of KShs 112 million and is repayable within

ayeat,

The Company is in the process of disposing the Kiambu land which is an investment property held for sale. At 31 December 2023,
deposits amounting to Kshs 83 millicn had been received and are included within other payables until revenue recognition criteria
is met, Proceeds from sale of the land will be used to settle outstanding loan referred to above,
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40.  OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
{a) GROUP

Sundry payables 809,761 746,428
Restructuring costs payable* 76,961 -
Payroll creditors 215,111 156,840
Premiums received in advance 237,838 258,187
Staff annual leave pay provision 108,710 93,876
Payroll related accruals 68,192 117,980
Service providers ereditors 91,381 203,932
Other deposits*** 229,934 71,358
Life agents’ bond 12,704 11,145
Deposits on sale of land* * 183633 35,800
2,034225 1,695,346

(by  COMPANY

Depaosits on sale of land* * 183,633 35,800
Sundry payables 76,825 63,499
Senvice providers creditors 28,933 6,514
Withholding tax payable 215) 1,043
289,176 106,856

*Restructuring costs payable relates to severance pay for employees who opted to refire/exit under the voluntary early
retirement/exit programme in the year, and their payments are due in the subsequent year.

**Deposits on sale of land relate to deposit received from the sale of Kiambu land (Note 39). The canying amounts disclosed
above reasonably approximate fair values at the reporting date.

***(ther deposits relate to rent deposits from CIC General Insurance and CIC Life Assurance tenants, deposit on the Nationat
Police Service (NPS) Medical scheme to cater for Ex-Gratia claims and funds held to facilitate claims payments to service providers
on behalf of the NPS capitator.

Movement in restructuring costs payable

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Batance at 1 January 2023 - -
Additional provisions recognized in profit or foss 198,688 -
Paid in the year (121,727} M
Balance at 31 Becember 76,961 -
41.  DIVIDENDS
2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Declared and paid during the year 345,000 -
Proposed for approval at the annual general meeting {not recognised as a liability) . 345,000
Dividend on ordinary shares
a)  Dividend per share is arrived at by dividing the total dividends by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the
year.
b)  Payment of dividend is subject to withholding tax at the rate of 5% for resident and 10% for non-resident shareholders
respectively.
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42,

COMPOSITION OF THE BALANCE SHEET - INSURANCE CONTRACTS

An analysis of the amaunts presented on the halance sheet for insurance contracts is included in the table below:

2023

Insurance contract Reinsurance

liabilities contract assets

KShs'000 KShs'000
Non-medical 7,998,087 2,402,096
Medical 3,064,351 £9.608
Total non-life insurance contract liabilities 11,062,438 2.471.704
Ordinary life 4,007,320 -
Group life 8,286,933 1,262,289
Total life insurance contract Habilities 12,294 253 1,262,289
Direct participating 10,870,586 -
Total investment contract liabilities 10,870,586 -
Total insurance contract liabilities 34,227,217 3,733,993

2022

Insurance contract  Reinsurance contract
liabilities
*Restated
KShs'000

7,976,134
2,506,869

10.483.003

4,127,956
8,562,646

10,690,502

7,862,607

7,862,607

29,036,112

assets
*Restated
KShs'000

3,089,155
36,178

3,125,333

(A

3,727,821

Detailed reconciliations of changes in insurance contract balances during the reporting periods are included in the subsequent

notes.

SUMMARY OF THE LIABILITY FOR INCURRED CLAIMS - GENERAL INSURANCE CONTRACTS

2023
Liahility for Risk
incurred clalms  adjustment
KShs'000 KShs'000

Insurance contract liabilities

Non-medical
Medical

Total

5,253,205 106,990
1,204,992 7.713

6,458,197 114,703

Reinsurance contract assets

Non-medical {1,632,036) (37,001}
Medical {65,679) (181)
Total (1,697,715) (37.182)
Net 4,760,482 77,521

2022
Liability for
Total inctrred claims
*Restated
KShs'000 KShs'000
5,360,195 6,026,238
1,212.705 934,469
6,572,900 6,960,707
(1,669,037) {1,791,171)
(65,860} {35.496)
1,734,897 1,826.667
4,838,003 5,134.040

Risk
adjustment Total

*Restated
KShs'000 KShs'000
77,905 6,104,143
5,197 939,666
83,102 7.043,809
(35,840} (1,827,011)
{82) {35,578)
(35,922) {1.862,589)
47,180 5,181,220
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42, COMPOSITION OF THE BALANCE SHEET - INSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and liability for incumed claims {LIC) - Combined non-life and iife insurance contracts

Combined 2023
LiC for contracts not Assetsfor .o oo
measured under acquisition cash 7
Liability for remaining coverage (LRC) PAA LIC for contracts measured under PAA flows - : .-'Tc_i_ta'l'
LRC excl. loss Loss PV of future cash SR
component component flows  Risk adjustment i Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'GO0 KShs'000" KShs'000" KShs'000' - KSHS'OOD’;
Net insurance contract liabilities / (assets) at 1 Jan 20,128,550 331,096 220,334 8,899,244 129,771 (672,883) : ._29}03’6,‘-112'
Insurance revenue (25,400,902) - - - . - 1./(25,400,902)
Insurance service expenses; O
Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses - - 1,322,900 19,231,457 - - 120,554,357
Losses on onerous contracts . 86,711 - - - - L 8BTIL
Changes in risk adjustment - - - - 63,530 - 3,530
Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows (250.951) - - - - 2,096,183 - _ :
Insurance service expenses (250,951) 86,711 1,322,900 19,231,457 63,530 2,096,153 722,549,800
(25,651,853) 86,711 1,322,900 19,231,457 63,530 2,096,153 - . (2,851,102)
Insurance finance expenses 414,545 21,343 18,554 434,812 (960) S 888294
Translation differences (35,547) {8.005) 745 {43,625) 129
Total changes in the comprehensive income {25,272 855) 100,049 1,342,199 19,622.644 62,699
Cash flows: L
Premiums received 30,777,001 - - - - 130,777,001
Claims and other expenses paid . - {1,277,344) (18,952,461) - - (20,229,805)
Insurance acquisition cash flows (1.459,380) - - - - (1.990.856)  ::(3,450.236)
Total cash flows 29,317,621 - (1,277,344) {18,952,461) - {1,990,856) - 'T,'OQB,Q_S{)'
Other movements: . fERa s g
Investment component 875,400 - - (675,400} “ - SiniETe
Liability for guarantee 130,479 - - = - = : .:130-,'.4__79_';
Net insurance contract liabiiities /(assets) at 31 Dec 24,979,195 431,145 285,189 8,894 027 192,470 (554.749) "+ 34227277
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

42. COMPOSITION OF THE BALANCE SHEET - INSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and liabliity forincurred claims (LIC) - Combined non-fife and life insurance contracts

Combined 2022 _
LiC for contracts not Assetsfor -

measured under acquisition cash -

Liability for remaining coverage (LRC) PAA LIC for contracts measured under PAA flows

LRC excl. loss Loss PV of future cash
component component flows  Riskadjustment

KShs’000' KShs'000° KShs'000 KShs'000' KShs'000 K8hs'000"

Net insurance contract liabilities / (assets) at 1Jan 16,768,642 282 417 111,082 8,083,987 106,148 (707,235) -
Insurance revenue (20,734,133} - - - - -

Insurance service expenses;

Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses - - 934,662 16,096,449 - -
Losses on onerous contracts - 55,507 - - - -
Changes in risk adjustment - - - - 24,894 -
Amortisation of insurance actuisition cash flows {232.444) = = - - 1,726,466 i
Insurance service expenses {232,444) 55,507 934,662 16,096,449 24,894 1,726,466
(25,022,580) 86,711 1,322,900 18,556,057 63,530 2,096,153 - 897,229):
Insurance finance expenses 512,851 7,230 12,922 393,035 {47) - 925,991
Translation differences (228.714) (14,058) 1,488 (51,437 {1.224) 4286 . (289,659)
Total changes in the comprehensive income (20.682.440} 48,679 949,072 16,438,047 23623 i
Cash flows:
Premiums received 24,944,760 - - - -
Claims and other expenses paid - - {839,820} (15,115,839) - {15,
Instirance acquisition cash flows (1,632,063} - - - - {1,696.400) i
Total cash fiows 23,312,697 - (839,820) (15,115,839} - (1,696,400) :
Other movements: '
Investment component 506,951 - - (506,951) - -
Liability for guarantee 222,700 - - = - -
Net insurance contract liabilities / (assets) at 31 Dec 20,128,550 331,096 220,334 8,899,244 129,771 (672.883) 129,036,112
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {(contirued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

43.  NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and liability for incurred claims (LIC) - Insurance contracts issued

Non-medical

Net insurance contract
liabilities / (assets) at
1Jan

Insurance revenue
Insurance service
expenses

Insurance finance
expenses

Translation differences
Total changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Premiums received
Claims and other
expenses paid
Insurance acquisition
cash flows

Total cash flows

Net insurance contract
liabilities /{assets) at
31 Dec

Liability for remaining

coverage (LRC}
LRC excl. loss Loss
component  component
KShs'000’ KShs'000’
2,252,772 108,547
{10,145,279) -
169,103 5,846
(9,976,176) 5,846
58.821 (7,520}
(9,917,355) {1,674
10,546,362 -
10,546,362 -
2,881,779 106,873

2023

Liability for incunred claims

PV of future
cash flows
KShs'000’

6,026,238

5,591,453
5,691,452

336,989
{9,485}

5,918,956

(6,691,989)

(6,691,989)

5,253,205

Risk
adjustment
KShs'000

77,905

L]

Assets for 0o

acquisition
cash flows -

KShs’000’

(489,328) 7,976,134
- . (10,245,279)
1,347,065 - 7,141,090
1,347,065 - (3,004,189)
g
11660 55669
1,358,725 (2,612,263
- 10,546,362
- (6,691,989
1220157} *+(1.220,157)
(1,220,157)

(350.760) .

146

. Kshs'000"

-12/634216

" Liability for remaining

coverage (LRC)

LRC exci. loss Loss
component  component
2,204,796 75,562

(9,081,520) -
167,596 38975
(8,913,9249) 38,975
8.963 5,990
(8,922,887) 32,985
8,970,863 -
8,070,863 -
2252772 108.547

2022 Restated

Liability for incurred claims

PV of future Risk
cashflows  adjustment
5,582,411 73,459
5,423,897 5,059
5,423,897 5,059
313,737 (37
{25,282} {576)
5,712,352 4,446
{5,268,525) -
(5,268,525) .
6,026,238 77.905

Assets for =
acquisition
cash flows -

(574,007) -

1181612 i
1,181,612 -

2,944

1,184,556 .

©(1.099.877)
20t

{1.099.877)
(1,099,877)

489.328) 7976134



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

43, NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)

Recanciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and liability for incurred claims {LIC) - Insurance contracts isseed

Medical

Net insurance contract
liabilities / (assets) at
1 Jan

Irsurance revenue
Insurance service
expenses

Insurance finance
expenses

Translation differences
Total changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash fiows:

Premiums received
Claims and other
expenses paid
Insurance acquisition
cash flows

Total cash fiows

Net insurance contract
liabilities /{assets) at
31 Pec

Liability for remaining

coverage (LRC)
LRC excl, toss Loss
component  component
KShs'000’ KShs'000'
1,708,718 42,042
(7,634,142) -
- {4,748)
(7,634,142} {4,748)
(10.578) (8.718)
(7,644,720) (13,466)
7,963,063 -
7,963,063 -
2,027.059 28,576

2023

Liability for incurred claims

PV of future
cash flows
KShs' 000"

934,469

7,424,730
1,424,730

(23,604)

7,401,126

(7,130,603)

(7,130,603)

1,204,992

Risk
adjustment
KShs'000’

5,197

3

Assetsfor i
acquisition -

Liability for remaining

cash flows coverage (LRC)
LRC excl. loss Loss
component  component

KShs'000"

(183,555) - 1,246,690 81,774
(5,564,020) .
. (30872
(5,564,020)  (30,872)
(10.554) (8,860)
(5574574  (39,732)
6,036,600 ;
(770.699) (770,699 : -
(770699) - = 61761 6,036,600 :
(203.989)  3.064351°  1708.716 42,042
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2022 Restated

Liability for incurred claims

PV of future Risk
cashflows  adjustment
610,735 5,022
5,332,122 A7l
5,332,122 471
(23.170) (296)
5,308,952 175
{4,985,218) -
(4,985,218) .
934,469 5,197

Assets for ©-00 00
acquisition %o
cashflows .

(133,228)

1,810,903

(5,564,020)

846575

544,854
544,854 282 555
1,34
546,196
(596,523) -
(506,523)
(183,555) = 2.506.869



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuied)

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

43. NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)

Expected timing of derecognition of assets for insurance acquisition cash flows

The expected timing of when assets for insurance acquisition cash fiows wili be derecognised and included in the measurement of the
group of insurance contracts to which they are allocated is disclosed in the table below:

Non-medical

Number of years until

expected derecognition 1year 2 years More than 2 years Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

31 December 2023 213,964 24,705 42,091 350,760

31 December 2022 293,597 141,905 53,826 489,328

Medical

Number of years until

expected derecognition 1 year 2years More than 2 years Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

31 December 2023 124,433 55,077 24,479 203,989

31 December2022 110,133 53,231 20,191 183,555
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

43.  NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
Gross claims development table
The Group uses chain-ladder techniques to estimate the ultimate cost of claims and the incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) provision. Chain-ladder techniques are used as they are an appropriate technigue
for mature classes of business that have a relatively stable development pattem. This involves the analysis of historical claims development considering when the earliest material claim arose, factors and the

selection of estimated development factors based on this historicat pattern. The selected development factors are then applied to cumutative claims data for each accident year that is not fully developed to
produce an estimated ultimate claim cost for each accident year.

2023
Accident Year 2019 and prior 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total
KShs'000 KShs'000’ KShs'000’ KShs'000' KShs'000 KShs’000’
Estimated ultimate claims cost
at end of accident year 14,001,004 2,814,085 3,381,567 4,008,511 11,476,274 35,681,441
one year later 7,239,863 980,954 1,009,301 1,661,885 - 10,892,002
two years later 1,776,550 239,560 439,370 - - 2,455,480
three years later 1,247,090 181,370 - - - 1,428,460
four years later 851,065 - - - - 851,065
five years later 464,506 - - - - 464,506
Current estimate of cumulative claims 25,580,078 4,215,969 4,830,238 5,670,396 11,476,274 51,772,955
Less: cumulative payments to date (25,556,877) (4,097.429) {4.438,465) {4.713.423) (5,894.778) {44,700,972)
Gross outstanding claims notified provision 7,433 37,979 125,522 306,608 2,570,970 3,048,512
Liability incurred but not reported claims 15.768 80,561 266,251 650,365 3.010.526 4,023,471
Gross undiscounted liabilities for incurred claims 23,201 118,540 391,773 956,973 5,581,496 7,071,983
Effect of discounting (2,946) {15,054) (49,753) {121,531) (424,502) (613,786)
Effect of the risk adjustment margin for non-financial risk 280 1,432 4,733 11,563 96,695 114,703
Total gross liabilities for incurred claims 20,535 104,918 346.753 847,005 5,253,689 6.572.900
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

43.

NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
Gross claims development table (continued)

2022
Accident Year

Estimated ultimate claims cost
at end of accident year

one year later

two years later

three yeats later

four years later

five years later

Current estimate of cumulative claims
Less: cumulative payments to date

Gross outstanding claims notified provision
Liability incurred but not reported claims
Gross undiscounted liabilities for incurred claims

Effect of discounting
Effect of the risk adjustment margin for non-financial risk

Total gross liabilities for incurred claims

2018 and prior
KShs'000"

15,746,720
8,751,545
2,083,008
1,443,791
1,019,164

648,909

29,693,137
{29,674 830

7,772
10,535
18,307

{(1,507)
154

16,954

2019
KShs'000"

3,884,735
1,388,259
406,365
304,031
172,978

6,156,368
(6.038,131)

50,196
68.041
118,237

(9,735)
899

109,501

150

2020
KShs'000"

4,145,258
1,444,985
352,881
267,165

6,210,289
(5,725,712)

205,719
278,858
484,577

(39,898)
4,095

448,774

2021
KShs'000’

5,324,320
1,589,158
691,794

7,605,272
(6,202,273}

595,620
807,379
1,402,999

(115,518}
11.858

1,299,339

2022
KShs'000

8,731,814
3,359,384

12,091,198
{6,586,497)

2,069,944
3,434,757
5,504,701

(401,456)
65,996

5.169.241

Total
KShs'000"

37,832,847
16,533,331
3,534,048
2,014,987
1,192,142
648,909

61,756,264
(54,227,443)

2,929,251
4,509,570
7,528,821

(568,114)
83,102

7.043.809



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

43.

NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)

Net claims development table
2023
Accident Year

Estimated ultimate claims cost
at end of accident year

ohe year fater

two years later

three years later

four years later

five years later

Current estimate of cumulative claims
Less: cumulative payments to date

Gross outstanding claims notified provision
Liability incurred but not reported claims

Gross undiscounted liabilities for incurred claims

Effect of discounting
Effect of the risk adjustment margin for non-financial risk

Total gross liabilities for incurred claims

2019 and prior
KShs'000’

14,001,004
7,239,863
1,776,550
1,247,090

851,065
484,506

25,580,078
25,556 877

7,433
15,768
23,201

(2,946}
280

20,535

2020
KShs'000'

2,814,085
980,954
239,560
181,370

4,215,969
(4,097.429)

37,979
80,561
118,540

(15,054)
1,432

104,918

151

2021
KShs'000'

3,381,567
1,009,301
439,370

4,830,238
{4,438,465)

125,522
266,251
391,773

(49,753)
4,733

346.753

2022
KShs'000'

4,008,511
1,661,885

5,670,396
{4.713.423)

306,608
650,365
956,973

(121,531)
11,563

847,005

2023
KShs'G00’

8,481,432

8,481,432
(4,597,651}

1,070,970
2.812.811
3,883,781

{424,502)
59,513

3.518.792

Total
KShs'000’

32,686,599
10,892,003
2,455,480
1,428,460
851,065
464,506

48,778,113
{43.403,845)

1,548,512
3.825.756
5,374,268

(613,786)
77,521

4,838.003



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued}
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

43.

NON -LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)
Net claims development table (continued)

20622
Accident Year

Estimated ultimate claims cost
at end of accident year

one year later

two years later

three years later

four years later

five years later

Current estimate of cumulative claims
Less: cumulative payments to date

Gross outstanding claims notified provision
Liability incurred but not reported claims

Gross undiscounted liabilities for incurred claims

Effect of discounting
Effect of the risk adjustment margin for non-financial risk

Total gross liabilities for incurred elaims

2018 and prior
KShs'000

14,001,004
7,239,863
1,776,550
1,247,090

851,065
464,506

25,580,078
25,556,877

7,433
15.768
23,201

(2,246)
280

20,535

2019
KShs'000

2,814,085
980,954
239,560
181,370

4,215,969
(4,097,429)

37,979
80.561
118,540

(15,054)
1,432

104,918

152

2020
KShs'000’

3,381,567
1,009,301
439,370

4,830,238
(4,438,465)

125,522
266,251
391,773

(49,753)
4,733

346,753

2021
KShs'000"

4,008,511
1,661,885

5,670,396
{4,713,423)

306,608
650,365
956,973

(121,531}
11,563

847,005

2022
KShs'000’

8,854,990

8,854,990
(4.597.651)

1,070,970
3,186,369
4,257,339

(424,502)
29,172

3,862,009

Total
KShs'00¢

33,060,157
10,892,003
2,455,480
1,428,460
851,065
464,506

49,151,671
(43,403,845}

1,548,512
4,199.314
5,747,826

(613,786)
47,180

5181220



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

44,  LIFEINSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (iLRC) and lfability for incurred claims (LIC) - Insurance contracts issued

Ordinary life 2023 o _ 2022 Restated L
Liability for o i Liabilityfor 70 o0
Liability for remaining coverage (LRC) Incurred claims © Liability for remaining coverage (LRC} fnourred claims
LRC excl. loss PV of future cash ° ' LRC excl.loss  Losscomponent PV of future cash
component  Loss component flows component flows
KShs'000 KShs'000’ KShs'000’
Net insurance contract :
liahilities / (assets) at 1 Jan 3,997,209 107,572 23,175 3,817,983 13,999 12,934
Insurance revenue (456,375} - - (378,060) - -
Insurance service expenses (1,022,949 19,23 1,459,051 (829.389) 86,66 1,165,843 °
(1,479,324) 19,238 1,459,051 - {1,207,449) 86,669 1,165,843 -
Insurance finance expenses {2,999) 13,012 - 208,704 6,365 -
Translation differences 17,952 3.484 21 ._: 1.931 539 4 -
Total changes in the . o
comprehensive income (1,464,371) 35,734 1,459,072 = (998,814) 93,573 1,165,847
Cash flows: : ;
Premiums received 1,435,512 - - 1,265,361 - -
Claims and other expenses :
paid - - (1,451,415) - - (1,155,6086)
Insurance acquisition cash - :
flows (135,168) - e (87.321) - =
Total cash flows 1,300,344 - (1,451,415) = 1,178,040 - (1,155,606) -
Net insurance contract s S :
liabilities / (assets) at 31 Dec 3,833,182 143.306 30,832 . 3.987.209 107.572 23,175 U 4,127,956

153



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FGR THE YEAR ENPED 31 DECEMBER 2023

44,

LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)

Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances

Ordinary life

Net insurance contract liabilities / (assets) at 1 Jan
Changes that relate to current service

CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided

Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk
Experience adjustments

Changes that reiate to future service
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM
Changes in estimates that do not adjust the CSM

Experience adjustments
Contracts initially recognised in the period

Changes that relate to past service
Total changes

Insurance finance expenses
Translation differences
Total changes in the comprehensive income

Cash flows:
Premiums received

Claims and other expenses paid
Insurance acquisition cash flows
Total cash flows

Net insurance contract liahilities /{assets) at 31 Dec

PV of future
cash flows
KShs'G00"

3,672,198

(133,347)
9,174
48,747

(202,453)
(277,879)

(212,190

(66,766)
15.450
(263,506)

1,435,512
(1,451,415)
{135.168)
(151,071)

3.257,621

Rislk
adjustment
KShs’000'

62,031

(17,378)

(17,378;

54,824
16,648
(76,671)
22,679
17,480

102

9,057
811
9,770

154

2023
Dl PV of future
CSM .o . Total cash flows
KShs'000" - KShs! 000" KShs'000’
393,727 3,576,508
(01508 (91,508 :
- - (7,378) -
- 65,689 15,05
(91,508) .~ (43,197) 15,059
78,523 - (94,908)
- (9,024)
- 45,108
224,038 (54,598)
302,561 - (113,422)
211,053 (98,363)
67,722 169,592
5,396 2,027
284,171 73,256
- 1,265,361
- (1,155,606)
= i (135.168) (87.321)
- (151,071) 22,434
677.898 . 4007.320° 3,672,198

Risk
adjustment
KShs'000’

47,151

(14,873}

{14,873_)

57,028
3,338
{52,950)
16.256
23,672

8,799

5,970
d11
14,880

2022
CSM
KShs'00D"
221257 =

(49.185)

(49,185)

37,880

5,686)
- (1842)
107,590
183,812 062

134,627
37,507

336
172,470

1,265,361
o (1,155,606).
o eT32n)
22,438

303727 ¢ 4.127.956



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

44.  LIFEINSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Impact of contracts recognised in the year

Ordinary life 2023
Non-onerous Onerous
confracts contracts
Insurance contracts issued originated originated Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
Estimates of the PV of future cash outflows
- Insurance acquisition cash flows 127,130 57,572 184,702
- Claims and other attributable expenses 187,134 122,306 309,440
Estimates of the PV of future cash outflows 314,264 179.878 494,142
Estimates of the PV of future cash inflows (555,674) (140,921) {696,595)
Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 17,372 5,307 22,679
CSM 224.038 - 224,038
Increase in insurance contract liabilities - 44,264 44,264
Amounts determined on transition to [FRS 17
Insurance revenue and the CSM by transition method
Ordinary life 2023
Contracts Totat
underthe Contracts under
full retrospective  the fairvalue
approach approach
Insurance contracts issued at transition at transition
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
Insurance revenue 418,460 37,915 456,375
CSM as at 1 January 302,425 91,302 393,727
Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognised in profit or loss (73,510) (17,298) (91,508}
Changes that relate to future service
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 26,865 51,658 78,523
Contracts initially recognised in the period 224,038 - 224,038
Total changes 177,393 33,660 211,053
Insurance finance expenses 61,198 6,524 67,722
Translation differences 5,396 - 5.396
Total amounts recognised in
comprehensive income 243,987 40,184 284,171
CSM as at 31 December 546,412 131,486 677,898

Non-onerous
contraets
originated
KShs'G00

80,351
130,057
210,408

(368,793)
12,453
145932

Contracts
under the

full retrospective

approach
at transition
KShs'000
359,763
180,222
{41,647)
(15,043)
145.932
89,242

32,625
336

2022
Onerous
contracts
originated Total
KShs'000 KShs'000
61,239 141,590
190,006 320,063
251,245 461,653
{147 458) {516,251)
3,803 16,256
- 145932
107.590 107,590
2022
Total
Contracts under
the fairvalue
approach
at transition
KShs'000 KShs'000
18,297 378,060
41,035 221,257
{7,538) (49,185}
52,923 37,880
145,932
45,385 134,627
4,882 37,507
=z 336
50,267 172,470
91,302 393,727
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued}

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

44.  LIFEINSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage {LRC) and liability for incurred claims (LiC) - Insurance contracts issued

Group life 2023 2022 Restated
LIC for R e LIC for
contracts not * Liability for remaining contracts not
Liability for remaining measured  LIC for contracts measured : coverage (LRC} measured  LiabHity for Incurred claims
coverage (LRC) under PAA under PAA tal. under PAA :
LRC excl. loss Loss PV of future Risk - wiv LRC excl. loss Loss PV of future Risk - e
comporent  component cashflows  adjustment Total component  component cashflows  adjustment 0 Total

KShs'000’ KShs'000Y KShs'0G0 KShs'000’ KShs'000’ "_-_;._'KS'b's.'{')Ol_)':'.-; KShs 000 KShs'000’ KShs'000° KShs'000' KShs'000Q" Z_-.KS'h'.‘.‘é;'OOO'_'-
Net insurance contract S
liabilities / {assets) at A TR
1Jan 4,307,246 72,935 220,334 1,915,362 46,669 -

2,901,097 111,082 111,082 1,877,907 27,667

Insurance revenue {6,535,833) - - - - {5,285,507) - - - - (5,285,507):
Insurance service
expenses 602,895 66,375 1.322.900 4,080,824 33,155 = 6.1 429,348 (39.265) 934,862 3,667,636 19,364 5 011,748

(5,932,938) 66,375 1,322,900 4,080,824 33,155 ; {4,856,158) {39,265) 934,662 3,667,636 19,364 (2733 7'61);3
Insurance finance : g
expenses 417,544 8,331 18,554 97,823 (228) i 306,147 865 12,922 79,298 399,222
Translation differences 16.518 4.749 745 (10,557) E {3,196} 253 1,488 {2,989 T {4,798)
Total changes in the ey
comprehensive income {5.498.876) 79.455 1,342,199 4,168,090 (4,553,207} {38.147) 949,072 3.743.945
Cash flows: S
Premiums received 7,151,726 - - - - 0T,154,7260  6,471915 - - -
Claims and other Pl
expenses paid - - (1,277,344) (3,678,454) - (4'955'-798)_'; - - (839,820} (3,706,490)
Insurance acquisition S : S
cash flows 1593,50“_ - - = - !593,5071 ]512,559! - - - = -:.-: : ‘512,559!
Total cash flows 6,558,229 - (1,277,344) (3,678,454} - -,602,42”1{_ 5,959,356 - (839,820) (3,706,490) - 1 413,0456:
Net insurance contract
liabilities /(assets) at o G
31Dec 5,366,582 152.390 285,189 2,404,998 77,767 . ; 4,307,248 72.935 220,334 1,915,362 46,669 '-'-".'6,562,3546'
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

44, LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances
Group life

PV of future
cash flows
KShs’000’
Net insurance contract liabilities / {assets) at 1 Jan 2,450,573
Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognised in profit orloss for the services provided -
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk -
Experience adjustments (170.621)
(170,621)
Changes that relate to future service
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (35,624)
Changes in estimates that do not adjust the CSM 2,259
Experience adjustments 46,843
Contracts initially recognised in the period (1,050,090}
(1,036,612)
Total changes (1.207.233)
Insurance finance expenses 151,954
Translation differences {34.864)
Total changes in the comprehensive income (1,090.143)
Cash flows:
Premiums received 2,423,692
Claims and other expenses paid {1,071,979)
Insurance acquisition cash flows {141,561}
Total cash flows 1,210,152
Net Insurance contract liabilities /(assets) at 31 Dec 2,570,682

Risk
adjustment
KShs'00¢

82,542

(61,686)
(61,686)

59,842
55,440
(92,523)
54,884
77,643
15,957

16,786

2276
35.012

117.561

157

2023

CsMm
KShs'000"

1,043,357
(387,000)

(387,000)

24,218)

1,034,217
1,009,929
622,999

234,886

{29.721)
828,164

1871521 | 4559.66:

2,423,692
(1,071,979)

PV of future
cash flows
KShs'000'

2,040,243

(239.331)
(239,331)

(29,543)
46,032
43,366

(1,082,774)
(1,022,919)
{1,262.250)

184,565
3.574

{1.074.111)}

2,456,433
(688,415}
{283,577}
1,484,441

2,450,573

Risk
adjustment
KShs'000

80,982

(70,110)
(70,110)

53,181
29,938
{70,548)
46,674
59,245
{10.865)

12,616
(191)

2022
Csm
KShs'000'
60,537 - ]
(158,153 (158,153)
- G (10,110)
- (239.331)
(158,153) (467,594)
(23638) .
1058111 - 22011
1,034,473 . 70,799
876,320 ' (396,795)
110,879 . 308,060
4.379) {996):
982,820 31);
L (ess Al
- sssiy
S 1484441
1043357 . 3576472




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES 70 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

44.  LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)

Impact of contracts recognised in the year

Group life 2023
Nen-onerous Onerous
contracts contracts
Insurance contracts issued originated originated
KShs'000 KShs'000
Estimates of the PV of future cash outflows
- Insurance acquisition cash flows 170,977 121,782
- Claims and other attributable expenses 865,874 381,159
Estimates of the PV of future cash outflows 1,036,851 502,941
Estimates of the PV of future cash inflows {2,102,752) (487,130
Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 31,684 23,200
CSM 1.034,217 -
Increase in insurance contract liabilities - 39,011
Amounts determined on transition to IFRS 17
Insurance revenue and the CSM by transition method
Group life 2023
Contracts
underthe Contracts under
full vetrospective  the fairvalue
approach approach
Insurance contracts issued at transition at transition
KShs'000 KShs'000
Insurance revenue 1,258,176 639,620
CSMas at 1 January 1,043,357 -
Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognised in profit or loss (387,000) -
Changes that relate to future semvice
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM {24,218) -
Contracts initially recognised in the period 1,034,217 -
Total changes 622,999 -
Insurance firance expenses 234,886 -
Total amounts recegnised in
comprehensive income 857,885 =
Translation differences 29.721) -
CSM as at 31 December 1.871.521 -

158

Jotal
KShs'000

292,759
1.247.033
1,639,792

(2,589,882)

54,884
1,034,217

32,011

Total

KShs'000
1,898,796
1,043,357
(387,000)

(24,218}

1,034,217
622,999

(29,721)

1,871,621

2022

Non-onerous Onerous

contracts contracts
eriginated originated Jotal
KShs 000 KShs'000 KShs'000
182,555 88,237 270,792
954,010 267,059 1,221 069
1,136,565 355,296 1,491,861
(2,221,288) (353,347) {2,574,635)
26,612 20,062 46,674
4,058,111 = 1.058.111
22:011 22:.011

2022

Contracts Total

uaderthe Contracts under

full retrospective
approach

at transition
KShs’'000

964,015
60,537
(158,153)
(23,638)

1,058,111
876,320

{4.379)

1,043,357

the fair value

approach

attransition
KShs'000 KShs'000

402,238 1,366,253
- 60,537
- (158,153)
- (23,638)
- 1,058,111
- 876,320
- 110,879

= 987,189

- {4,379

1,043,357



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

45.  DIRECT PARTICIPATING FEATURES CONTRACTS

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC} and liability for incurred claims (LIC) - Insurance contracts issued

Direct participating 2023 ) 2022 o
Liability for remaining Liability for incurred - Liability for remaining  Liabilityforincurred .+ 00 s
coverage (LRC) claims * coverage {LRC) claims -
KShs'000’ KShs'000" KShs'000’ KShs'Q00"
Net insurance contract liabilities / (assets}at 1
Jjan 7,862,607 - 6,457,896 - i
Insurance revenue (629,273) - (425,026)
Insurance service expenses:
Incurred claims and other attributable expenses - 675.400 - 506,951 -
Insurance service expenses - 675,400 - 506,951
(629,273} 675,400 - (425,026) 506,951

Insurance finance expenses - - - - G
Translation differences (118.260) - (207,232) - '{207.932)
Total changes in the comprehensive income (747,533} 675,400 (632,258) 506,951 .- -(126,007)..
Other movements; g :
Investment component {675,400) 675,400 (506,951} 506,951
Liability for guarantee 130,472 - 222,700 -
Cash flows: ' i
Contributions received 2,927,070 - 7,070 1,805,565 -
Interest received 753,268 - --T_5_3_-,2§8__'- 534,636 - i -:/534,636.
Withdrawals and other expenses paid (730,705) - - (730,705} {1.032.183) S -(1,032:183)
Total cash flows 2,949,633 - 2,949,633 1,308,018 - 1,308,018
Net insurance contract liabilities /{assets) at T S _
31 Dec 10,870,586 - 10,870,588 7,862,607 PR
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

46.

REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS

Reconciliation of the remaining coverage and incumed claims - Reinsurance contracts held

Non-medical

Net reinsurance contract
assets/(liabilities) at 1

Jan

Reinsurance expenses
Incurred claims recovery
Losses recovery

Changes to recoveries

Nef income / {expense) from
reinsurance contracts held
Reinsurance finance income
Translation differences
Totai changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Assets for remaining

coverage (ARC)
ARC excl.

loss Loss
recovery recovery
component  component
KShs'000° KShs'000’
1,514,358 13,681
3,331,252 -
- 3,064
3,331,252 3,064
{175,658) (1,684)
3,155,594 1,380

Reinsurance premiums paid {2,375,580)

Reinsurance receipts
Total cash flows

Net reinsurance contract
assets/(liabilities) at 31
Dec

(2,375,580)

134,344

12,301

2023

Amounts recoverable on
incurred claims

PV of future
cash flows
KShs'000'

1,791,171
(196,006)

(196,006)
(109,309)
22,058

(283,257)

442,392
442,392

1.632.036

Risk
adjustment
KShs’000’

35,840

380

380
223
{1,764)

(1,161)

Assets for remaining

coverage (ARC)

ARC excl.

Liahility for loss
unamortise i recovery  Loss recovery
dpremium - :Total  component component

KShs'000" - KShs'000'

(265,895) - ‘3,089,155, 1,528,550 7,608
- 3,331,252 3,197,396 -
- - (5,921)
{948,342} E =z
(948,342 3,197,396 {5,921)
7300 (149748  (30.497) 152
(941,042) 1 3,166,899 (6.073)
- (2,375580) (3,152,707) -
688,733 -, 1,131,125 : -
688,733 (1,244,455) (3,152,707) -
(13.586) = 2.402.096 1514358 13,681

160

2022

Amounts recoverable on
incurred claims

PV of future
cash flows

1,334,622

(527,567)

{527,567)
{86,746)
20,106
(594,207)

137,658
137,658

1,791,171

Risk
adjustment

25,576

(10,051)
(10,051)
7

(220}

{10,264}

Liability for
unamortise
d premium

(420139)

014727
(©14727) - 17

(3.810)

(©918,537) 1

- 1521707)
764293 901951
764,293 '(2','250,7_'55).:

(265.895) . 3.089,155



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

46.  REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS (continued}

Reconciliation of the remaining coverage and incurred claims - Reinsurance contracts held

Medical

Net reinsurance contract
assets/(liabilities} at 1

Jan

Reinsurance expenses
incurred claims recovery
Losses recovery

Changes to recoveries

Net income / (expense) from
reinsurance confracts held
Reinsurance finance income
Translation differences
Total changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Reinsurance premiums paid
Reinsurance receipts

Total cash flows

Net reinsurance contract
assets/(liabilities) at 31
Dec

component

Assets for remaining
coverage {(ARC)

ARC excl.
loss
recovery

Loss
recovery
component

KShs'000"  KShs'00(

(353,609) -

(353,609) ;

1,828 :

2023
Amounts recoverable on
incurred claims

PV of future Risk
cashflows  adjustment
KShs'000’ KShs'000’

35,496 82
(242,902) -
- {89}
(242,902) (9%}
4,007 -
238,895 {99)
208,712 P
208,712 -
65.679 181

Assets for remaining

coverage (ARC)
: ARC exct.
Liability for loss
unarnortise recovery  Loss recovery
d premium e al:.  component component
KShs'000’ KShs'000"
62,539 762
202,085 -
- 762
202,085 762
11,974 -
214,059 762
(152,221) -
(152,221) -
701 -

161

2022
Amounts recoverable on
incurred claims

PV of future Risk
cash flows adjustment
13,032 97
{69,113) -
= 15
{69,113} 15
2.907 .
{66,206} 15
43.74 =
43,742 -
35,496 82

Liabitity for
unamortise
d premium

(1,786)

(1.335)
(1,335)
350)

(1,685) |

{101}

4,644
085
113).

202

(89,




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

46.  REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Reconciliation of the remaining coverage and incurred claims - Reinsurance contracts held

Group life 2023 2022
Assets for remaining Amounts recoverable on i Assets for remaining Amounts recoverable on
coverage {(ARC) incurred claims coverage (ARC) incurred claims
ARC excl. g ARC excl. _
loss Loss Liability for - loss Liability for *':_
recovery recovery PV of future Risk  unamoriise recovery Lossrecovery PV of future Risk  umamortise

component  component  cashflows  adjustment  d premium
KShs'000'  KShs'000'  KShs'000’ KShs'000"  KShs'0OD" -

component component cash flows adjustment  d premium

Net reinsurance contract
assets/(liabilities) at 1

Jan 267,499 2,928 330,858 1,203 - 174,215 45,447 1,537,667 8,641 -

Reinsurance expenses 1,313,011 - - - - 313,011 1,448,840 - - - -

incurred claims recovery - - (1,518,015) - - 4,518,015) . - 1693,250) . .

Losses recovery - {15,401) - - - - . '(i5,401) - 41,114 . - -

Changes to recoveries - - - {17.128) - (17.128). - - - 7.410 -

Net income / (expense} from e e

reinsurance contracts held 1,313,011 (15,401) (1,518,015  (17,128) - .237633) 1,448,840 41,114 (593,250) 7,410 -

Reinsurance finance income  (15,335) 2,177 (30,311 73 - 1 (43,398):  (12,251) 1,405 (32,159) 22 -

Translation differences (2.376) (518) {4.341) (152) - (138 765 = 86 8 =

Total changes in the e ¥

comprehensive income 1,295300  (13,742) (1,552,667) (17,207) - 1,437,354 42519  (725,323) 7,438 -

Cash flows: T e S :

Reinsurance premiums paid {1,629,462) - - - - (1,629,462) (1,857,406) . - - ~ ©(1,857;408):

Reinsurance receipts 473,282 - 784,69 - - 11957977 326,768 - 1932132 - - . 2.058900
401,494

Total cash flows {1,156,180) - 784,695 - - __";j_(37-1','_¢__18_$)- (1,530,638) - 1,932,132 - -

Net reinsurance contract
assets/ (liabilities) at 31 R R e e
Dec 128,379 16.67¢ _1.098,830 18,410 - 1,262,989 267,493 2.928 330,858 1,203 n

602,488
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

47.  NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

{a) GROUP Notes 2023 2022
Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations: KShs’000 KShs'000
Profit before income tax 2,543,993 823,337
Expected credit losses G(d) 5,399 (1,064)
Interest income 8 (2,630,218} (1,887,250)
Dividend income 6 (48,177} (59,220)
Amortisation of government securities and accrued interest 21 {74,443) (55,323)
Interest expense 39 488,799 408,000
Depreciation on property and equipment 13(a) 80,066 63,685
Elimination of depreciation on disposal 13{a) (34,622) {3,145)
Elimination of depreciation on revaluation 13 {a) (5,850} -
Interest on leases 14(a) 29,023 32,305
Interest receivable on mortgage and other loans (6,135) (5,826)
Fair value gains on revaluation on investment propetty 15 (132,383) (281,833)
Share of profits of associate 18 3,035 (4,670}
Amortisation of infangible assets 16{a) 57,589 56,634
Amortisation of corporate bond 20 (460) (92)
:—;asa; value loss on equity investment at fair vatue through profit or o5 134,364 84,152
Fair value gain on collective investment schemes 26(a) (15,874) {75,782)
Amortisation of right of use assets 14(a) 76,426 717,136
Working capital changes;

Increase in insurance contract lHabhilities 5,191,165 4,391,071
Ingrease in other receivables (226,179} {157,967}
{increase)/ decrease in ioan receivabies {34,532) 1,837
Increase in other payables 338,879 268,713
Increase in investment contract liabilities 4,252 4,297
Decrease in reinsurance contract assets (6,172) 1,236,255
Movement in related party balances {37,889 (42,915)
Cash generated from operations 5,700.056 4,872,435

*ECL - Expected Credit Losses
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THE CIC INSURANCEs GROUP PLC AND 1S SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TG THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

47. NOTES TOTHE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS {Continued)

{n Company

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

{l.oss)/ profit before income tax

Adjustments for;

Expected credit losses (note 8(d)}

interest income

interest expense

Depreciation on property and equipment
Related party loan interest expenses

Interest receivable on mostgage and other foans
Fairvatue gain on collective investment schemes
Fair value gain on investment properties

Share of profits of associate

Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Appropriation of profits

Dividend income

Working capital changes;

Increase in other receivables

Increase/ (decrease) in related parly balances
Increase in other payables

Cash generated from / (used in) operations
¢) Netdebtreconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt;
Group

Cash and cash equivalents

Gross debt - Lease liability

Gross debt - Borrowings

Net debt

Company

Cash and cash eguivalents
Gross debt - related party loan
Gross debt - Borrowings

Net debt

Notes

10
13{b}

26 (b}

16{b}

48
14 (&)

48
28
39

The movements in net debt for each of the periods presented have been included in note 3.

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
(186,292) {11,158)

201 628
(7,646) (10,964)
482,176 408,000
19,246 13,577
35,060 31,165
(1,319) (1,227)
(2,246) (1,417}

- (246,000}

10,230 {4,670)

- 2,162

26,046 24,575
(16,151) -
(465,000 (340,000)
{19,013) 21,599
22,466 27,092
182,320 76,728
80,078 9,910
4,865,824 3,303,964
(309,577) (263,183)
(5,081,164} {4,571.600)
(524,917) {1,030,819)
41,527 42,452
(273,076) {238,016)
{4,955,891) {4,571.600)
(5.187,040)  (4.767.164)

The Company has started selling of the investment properties it holds to generate cashflows for repayment of its outstanding

debt. Refer to note 39.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

48, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Notes 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of: KShs'000 KShs'000
. GROUP

Cash and bank balances 281,765 418,570
Peposits with banks - original maturity; maturing within 3 months 29 4,584,059 3.387,394
4,865,824 3,803,964

COMPANY
Cash and bank balances 41,527 42,452
Deposits with banks - original maturity; maturing within 3 months 29 - -

41,527

The cash and cash equivalents disciosed above and in the statement of cash flows include KShs 83,046,000 which are held by
CIC Group. These deposits refate to amounts received into an escrow account with Co-operative Bank of Kenya for the ongoing sale
of the Kiambu land and are therefore not avaitable for general use by the other entities within the group.

49. INVESTMENT CONTRACT LIABILITIES

a} GROUP Liability for remaining coverage (LRC)
2023 2022
KShs'000' KShs'000
Net investment contracts liabilities at 1 January {137,021} (132,724}
Cash fiows:
Contributions received (4,252} {4,297}
Total cash flows (4,252} (4,297)
Net investment contracts liabilities at 31 December (141,273 {137.021)

There was a material error is accounting for unit linked coniracts liabilities relating to prioryears. The restatement is disclosed here
below.

b) Comection of a materal error in calculating canying value of unit-linked confracts

The benefits offered under unit-linked contracts are based on the return of a portfolio of financial instruments. The maturity value
of these liabilities is determined by the fair value of the linked assets. When a policy matures or the contracts are terminated,
settlements are done against the unit-linked Hability.

In 2023, a subsidiary discovered an error in calculating the canying value of unit-linked contracts. Material unit-linked contracts
were settled in the prior years, but the settlements were not reflected in the unit-linked Habilities. Instead, the setilements were
eroneously charged through claims expense in the statement of profit or loss account. The error resulted in a materal
overstatement of claims expenses recognised for 2022 and prior financial years and a corresponding averstatement of unit-linked
liabilities. :

The error has been corrected by restat'ing each of the affected financial statement line items for the prior periods as foltows:

Statement of financiat position as at 31 December 2021 (extract)

As previously reported  IFRS 17 measutement Corraction of Restated

31 December2021  adjustments (Note 1) prior year error 31 December 2021

KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs '000

Investment contract liabilities 546,652 - {413,828) 132,724
(previously unit-linked contracts)

Statutory reserves 1,128,818 {403,465) 280,679 1,015,032

Deferred income tax 485,042 (172,915) 124,149 436,276
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
49, INVESTMENT CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued}
b) Correction of a material error in calculating camying value of unit-linked contracts (continued)

Impact on the statement of profit or loss

Statement of profit or loss {extract)

As previously reported Restated

31 December 2022 increase 31 December 2022

KShs ‘000  KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000

Insurance sefvice expenses {4,956,689) 2,103 (4,954,586)
Other gains (11,374} 25471 14,097
Profit before income tax (396,111) 27574 (368,597}
Income tax 203,515 - 203,515
Profit after tax 599,686 27,574 (572,112}

Basic earnings per share for the prior year have also been restated. The amount of the correction for basic earnings per share was
anincrease of KShs 0.01 per share.

50. WEGHTED AVERAGE EFFECTIVE INTEREST RATES

The table below summarises the weighted average effective interest rates realised during the year on the principal interest-bearing

investments;

GROUP Interest 2023 2022

% %
Government securities Fixed 13.03 12.50
Corporate honds Fixed 12.57 12.50
Mortgage loans Fixed 6.00 6.00
Staff loans Fixed 6.00 6.00
Policy loans Fixed 8.00 8.00
Deposits with financial instifutions Fixed 13.05 9.95
Cash and cash equivalents Fixed 7.00 6.84

51. CONTIGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
& legal proceedings and regulations

The group operates in the insurance industty and is subject to legal proceedings in the normal course of business. While itis
not practicable to forecast or determine the results of all pending or threatened legal proceedings, management does not
believe that such proceedings (including litigation) will have a material effect on its results and financial position.

The group is also subject to insurance solvency regulations and has complied with all the solvency regulations except CIC
Life Uganda which was below the minimum capital requirement as per the insurance regulatory commission of Uganda. There
are no contingencies associated with the Group and the Company’s compliance or lack of compliance with such regulations.

b. Commitments, operating leases and hank guarantees

Commitments

Capital expenditure committed at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial statements is as follows:

2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Committed but not contracted for 459,119 689.456
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51,  CONTIGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (continued)
b. Commitments, operating feases and bank guarantees {continued)

Operating leases

The group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio, consisting of the group’s
surplus office buildings. These nen-cancellable leases have remaining terms of between two and five years, All leases
inciude a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual basis according to prevailing market
conditions

Future minimum lease rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

2023 2022

KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000

Within one vear 90,524 91,324
After one year but not more than two years 80,855 87,435
After two year but not mote than five years 41,805 92,345
Total operating lease rentals receivable 213,184 271,104

The group has entered into commercial leases on certain property and equipment. These leases have an average life of
between three and five years, with no renewal option included in the contracts. There are no restrictions placed upon the
group by entering into the leases.

Bank Guaraitices

Bank guarantees 13472313 215,890

In common practice with the insurance industry in general, the Group tenders for business. Such tenders require that a
guarantee or performance bond is ptaced with a bank.
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52, RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

a.

Governance framework

The primary objective of the group’s risk and financial management framewaork is to protect the group’s shareholders
from events that hinder the sustainable achievement of financial performance objectives, including fafling to exploit
opportunities. Key management recognises the critical importance of having efficient and effective risk management
systems in place.

The Group has established a risk management function with clear terms of reference from the board of directors, its
committees and the associated executive management committees. This is suppiemented with a clear organisationat
structure with documented delegated authorities and responsibilifies from the board of directors to executive
management committees and senior managers. Lastly, a group policy framework which sets out the risk profiles for the
group, risk management, control and business conduct standards for the group’s operations has been put in place. Each
policy has a member of senior management charged with overseeing compliance with the policy throughout the group.

The board of directors approves the group’s risk management policies and meets regularly to approve any commercial,
regulatory and organisational requirements of such poticies. These policies define the group’s identification of risk and
its interpretation, limit its structure to ensure the appropriate quality and diversification of assets, align underwsiting and
reinsurance strategy to the corporate goals, and specify reporting requirements.

Capital management objectives, policies and approach

The group has established the following capital management objectives, policies and approach to managing the risks
that affect its capital position:

= To maintain the required level of stability of the group thereby providing a degree of security to policyholders

= Toallocate capital efficiently and support the development of business by ensuring that returns on capital employed
meet the requirements of its capital providers and shareholders

= To retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong liquidity and access to a range of capital markets

= To align the profile of assets and liabilities taking account of risks inherent in the business

= ‘fo maintain financial strength to support new business growth and to satisfy the requirements of the policyholders,
regulators and stakeholders

* To maintain strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order io support its business objectives and maximize
shareholders’ value

The operations of the group are also subject to regulatory requirements. Such regulations not only prescribe approval
and monitoring of activities, but also impose certain restrictive provisions {e.g,, capital adegquacy at 100%) to minimise
the visk of default and insolvency on the part of the insurance companies to meet unforeseen liabifities as they arise. The
Group has met all of these requirements throughout the financial year. All the subsidiaries met the capital adequacy
provisions.

In reporting financial strength, capital and solvency are measured using the rules prescribed by the Kenyan Insurance
Regulatory Authority ({RA). These regulatory capital tests are based upon required fevels of solvency, capital and a series
of prudent assumptions in respect of the type of business written,

The group’s capital management poficy for its insurance and non ~insurance business is to hold sufficient capital to cover
the statutory requirements based on the IRA directives, including any additional amounts required by the regulator.

Approach to capital management

The group seeks to optimise the structure and sources of capital to ensure that it consistently maximises retuins to the
shareholders and polleyhoiders.

The group’s appraach to managing capital involves managing assets, liabilities and risks in a coordinated way, assessing
shertfalls between reported and required capital levels on a regular basis and taking appropriate actions to influence the
capital position of the group in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk characteristics. An important aspect
of the group’s overaii capital management process is the setting of target risk adjusted rates of return, which are aligned
to performance objectives and ensure that the group is focused on the creation of value for shareholders.

The primary source of capital used by the group is total equity and borrowings. The group also utilises, where it is efficient
to do so, sources of capital such as reinsurance and securitisation, in addition to more traditional sources of funding.
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52.  RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (continued)

b.  Capital management objectives, policies and approach {continued)

Approach to capital management {continued)

The capital requirements are routinely forecast on a periodic basis and assessed against both the forecast available
capital and the expected internal rate of retumn, including risk and sensitivity analyses. The process is ultimately sutbject

to approval by the Board.

‘The group has made no significant changes, from previous years, to its policies and processes for its capital structure.

2023 2022

KShs'000 KShs'000
Share capital 2615578 2,615,578
Share premium 162,179 162,179
Statutory reserve 1,487,294 621,290
Contingency reserve 138,692 110,828
Revaluation surplus 367,956 279,701
Translation reserve (573,927) (496,295)
Fairvalue reserve {1,522,605) (648,279)
Retained earnings 5.017.650 4,758,568
Equity attributable the owners of the parent 7,692,817 7,403,570
Non-controfling interest {80.639} (32.085)
Total equity 7,612,178 7,371,485
The Group had external borrowings at 31 December 2023 of KShs 5.1 billion (2022 - Kshs 4.6 billion).
Group
Cash and cash equivaients 48 4,865,824 3,803,964
Gross debt - Lease liability 14 (a) {309,577} (263,183)
Gross debt - Borrowings 39 {5.081,164} {4.571,600)
Net debt (524,917} 1 19
Total equity 7.612,178 7.371.485
Net debt to equity ratio % 14%
Company
Cash and cash equivalents 48 41,527 42,452
Gross debt - related party loan 28 (273,076) {238,016)
Gross debt - Borrowings 39 4,955,891) {4,571.600)
Net debt {5,187 440) (4,767,164)
Total equity 3,604,898 4,183,638
Net debt {o equity ratio 144% 14%
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52,  RiSK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (continued)

c.  Regulatory framework {Continued)

Regulators are primarily interested in protecting the rights of policyholders and monitor them closely to ensure that the
group is satisfactorily managing affairs for their benefit. At the same time, regulators are also interested in ensuring that
the group maintains an appropriate solvency position to meet unforeseen liabilities arising from economic shocks or
natural disasters.

The operations of the group are subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in which it operates. Such
iegulations not only prescribe approval and menitoring of activities, but also impose certain restrictive provisions {e.g.,
capital adequacy) to minimise the risk of default and insolvency on the part of insurance companies to meet unforeseen
lizbilities as these arise.

The group is also subject to insurance seivency regulations and has complied with all the solvency regulations except CIC
General Uganda Limited which did not meet the minimum capital requirement at 31 December 2023 as per the insurance
regulatory commission of Uganda. The Group Is taking remedial action o ensure this is cured in 2024,

d.  Assetliability management {ALM) framework

Financial risks arise from open positions in interest rate, curency and equity products, alt of which are exposed to general
and specific market movements. The main risk that the group faces, due to the nature of its investments and liabilities,
is interest rate risk. The group manages these positions within an ALM framework that has been developed to achieve
jong-term investment refurns in excess of its obligations under insurance and investment contracts. The principal
technique of the group’s ALM is to match assets to the liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts by
reference to the fype of benefits payable to contract holders. For each distinci category of liabilities, a separate portfolio
of assets is maintained.

The Group’s ALM is:

= integrated with the management of the financial risks associated with the group’s other financial assets and
liabilities not directly associated with insurance and investment liabilities

= As an integral part of the insurance risk management policy, {0 ensure in each period sufficient cash flow is available
to meet liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts,

53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK
53.1 Insurance

The principal risk the group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments or the timing
thereof, differ from expectations. This is influenced by frequency of the claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and
subsequent development of long-term claims. Therefore, the objective of the group is to ensure that sufficient reserves are
available to cover these liabilities.

The risk exposure is mitigated by diversification acress large porifolio of insurance contracts and geographical areas. The
variability of risks is also improved by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines as well as the
use of reinsurance arrangements,

The group purchases reinsurance as a part of its risks mitigation programme. Reinsurance ceded is placed on both a
proportional and a non-proportional basis. The majerity of proportional reinsurance is guota-share reinsurance which is taken
out o reduce the overall exposure of the group to certain classes of business, Non-proporilonal reinsurance is primarily
excess-of-{oss reinsurance designed to mitigate the group’s net exposure to catastrophe losses. Retention limits for the
excess-of-ioss reinsurance vary by product line and territory.

170



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued}
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DPECEMBER 2023

53.

INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {CONTINUED)

53.1 Insurance {Continued)

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the cutstanding claims provision and are in
accordance with the reinsurance contracts. Although the group has reinsurance arrangements, it is not refieved of its direct
obligations to its policyhotders and thus a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded insurance, to the extent that any
reinsurer Is unable to meet its abligations assumed under such reinsurance agreements. The group’s placement of reinsurance
is diversified such that itis neither dependent on a single refnsurer nor are the operations of the Group substantially dependent
upon any single reinsurance contract, There is no single counterparty exposure that exceeds 5% of total reinsurance assets at
the reporting date.

1

Life insurance contracts

Life insurance contracts offered by the group include: whole life and term assurance. Whole life and term assurance are
conventional regular premium products when lump sum benefits are payable on death or permanent disability. Few
contracts have a surrender value. This includes group life and ordinary life premiums.

Pensions are contracts where retirement benefits are expressed in the form of an annuity payable at retirement age. If
death occurs before retirement, contracts generally return the value of the fund accumulated or premiums. Most contracts
give the policyholder the option at retirement to take a cash sum at guaranteed conversion rates allowing the policyholders
the option of taking the more valuable of the two. Provision of additional death benefits may be provided by cancetlation
of units or through supplementary term assurance contracts, This includes the direct participating contracts.

Guaranteed annuities are single premium products which pay a specified payment to the policyholder whilst they and/or
their spouse are still alive. Payments are generally either fixed or increased each year at a specified rate orin line with the
rate of inflation. Most contracts guarantee an income for a minimum period, usually of five years, imespective of death.

Death benefits of endowment products are subject to a guaranteed minimum amount. The maturity value usually depends
on the investment performance of the underlying assets. For contracts with DPF, the guaranteed minimum may he
increased by the addition of bonuses. These are set at a level that takes account of expected market fluctuations, such that
the cost of the guarantee is generally met by the investment performance of the assets backing the liability. However, in
circumstances where there has been a significant fall in investment markets, the guaranteed maturity benefits may exceed
investment performance and these guarantees hecome valuable fo the policyholder.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.1 Insurance Hsk {continued)
1. Life insurance contracts continued)
The main risks that the Group is exposed to are as follows:

+ Mortality risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder death experience being different than expected

* Morbidity risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder health experience being different than expected

+ Longevity risk - risk of loss arising due to the annuitant living longer than expected

» Investment return risk - risk of loss arising from actual retums being different than expected

o Expense risk - risk of loss arising from expense experience being different than expected

» Policyholder decisien risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder experiences (lapses and sumenders) being different than
expected

These risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group, type of risk insured or by industry.

The group's underwriting strategy is designed fo ensure that risks are well diversified in terms of type of risk and leve! of insured
benefits, This is largely achieved through diversification across industry sectors, the use of medical screening in order to ensure
that pricing takes account of current health conditions and family medicai history, regular review of actual claims experience and
product pricing, as well as detailed claims’ handling procedures. Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate risk
selection criteria. For example, the group has the right net to renew individual policies, it can impose deductibles and it has the
right to reject the payment of fraudulent claims. Insurance contracts also entitle the group to pursue third parties for payment of
some or all costs. The group further enforces a policy of actively managing and promptly pursuing claims, in order to reduce its
exposure 1o unpredictable future developments that can negatively impact the group.

For contracts for which death or disability is the insured risk, the significant facters that could increase the overall frequency of
claims are epidemics, widespread changes in lifestyle and natural disasters, resulting in earlier or more claims than expected.
Groupwide reinsurance limits of Kshs. 3,000,000 on any single life insured insured are in place.

For annuity contracts, the most significant factor is continued improvement in medical science and social conditions that would
increase longevity. For contracts with DPF, the participating nature of these contracts results in a significant portion of the
insurance risk being shared with the insured party. For contracts without DPF, the Group charges for death and disability risks on
a yearly basis. Under these contracts the group has the right to alter these charges to take account of death and disahility
experience, thereby mitigating the risks to the group

The insurance risk described above is also affected by the contract holder's right to pay reduced premiums or no future premiums,
to terminate the contract completely or to exercise guaranteed annuity options. As a result, the amount of insurance risk is also
subject to contract helder hehavior,
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.1 Insurance risk {continued)

1. Life insurance contracts {continued)

The foltowing tables show the concentration of life insurance contract liabilities and investrient contract liabilities by type of contract.

Gross Reinsurance*

Insurance Direct Totat insurance Reinsurance o

contract A contract Net liabilities

llabilites ~ ParUCiPAting liahlities assets
31 Becember 2023

Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs’'000 Kshs'000
Ordinary life 4,007,320 - 4,007,320 - 4,007,320
Group life 8,286,933 - 8,286,933 {(1,262,289) 7,024,644
Total Insurance Habtlities 12,294,253 - 12,294,253 {(1,262,289) 11,031,964
Deposit administration - 10,870,586 10,870,586 - 10,870,586
Total 12,294,253 10,870,586 23,164,839 (1,262,289) 21,902,550

Gross Reinsurance™
, Total insuran .

m{f::r:tir:lﬁ . .D|rfact t zontra(::i Reinsurance Net liabilities

liabilities  Participating liabilities assets
31 December 2022

Kshs'000 Kshs'Q00 Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs'000
Ordirary life 4,127,956 - 4,127,956 - 4,127,956
Group life 6,562,546 - 6,562,546 (602,488} 5,960,058
Total insurance liabilities 10,690,502 - 10,690,502 {(602,488) 10,088,014
Deposit administration - 7,862,607 7,862,607 - 7,862,607
Total 10,690,502 7,862,607 18,553,109 (602,488) 17,950,621

* The direct participating contracts (deposit administration) are not reinsured.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

53.1 Insurance risk {continued)

1. Life Insurance contracts (continued)

Key Assumptions

Material judgment is required in determining the liabilities and in the choice of assumptions. Assumptions in use are based on
past experience, current internal data, external market indices and benchmarks which reflect current observable market prices
and other published information. Assumptions and prudent estimates are determined at the date of valuation and no credit is
taken for possible beneficial effects of voluntary withdrawals. Assumptions are further evaluated on a continzous basis in order
to ensure realistic and reasonable valuations,

The key assumptions to which the estimation of liabilities is particularly sensitive are, as follows:

Mortality and morbidity rates

Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, according to the type of contract written. They reflect recent
historical experience and are adjusted when appropriate to reflect the group’s own experiences. An appropriate, but not
excessive, prudent allowance is made for expected futire improvements. Assumptions are differentiated by sex, underwriting
class and contract type. An increase in rates will lead 1o a larger number of claims {and claims could occur sooner than
anticipated), which will increase the expenditure and reduce profits for the shareholders.

Longevity

Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, adjusted when appropriate to refiect the group’s own risk
experience. An appropriate, but not excessive, prudent allowance is made for expected future improvements. Assumptions
are differentiated by sex, underwriting class and contract type. An increase in longevity rates will lead to an increase in the
number of annulty payments te be made, which will Increase the expenditure and reduce profits for the shareholders.

Investment return

The weighted average rate of retum is derived based on a model portfolie that is assumed to back liabilities, consistent with
the long-term asset allocation strategy. These estimates are based on current market returns as well as expectations about
future economic and financial developments. An increase in investment return would lead to an increase in profits for the
shareholders.

Expenses

Operating expenses assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and servicing in-force policies and associated
overhead expenses. The current level of expenses is taken as an appropriate expense base, adjusted for expected expense
inflation if appropriate. An increase in the level of expenses would result in an increase in expenditure, thereby reducing
profits for the shareholders.

Lapse and surrender rates

Lapses relate to the termination of policies due te non-payment of premiums. Surrenders relate to the voluntary termination
of pelicies by policyholders. Policy termination assumptions are determined using statistical measures based on the group's
experience and vary by product type, policy duration and sales trends. An increase in lapse rates early in the life of the policy
would tend to reduce profits for sharehoiders, but later increases are broadly neufral in effect.

Discount rate

Life insurance liabilities are determined as the sum of the discounted value of the expected henefits and fufure
administration expenses directly related to the contract, less the discounted value of the expected theoretical premiums that
would be required to meet these future cash outflows, Discount rates are based on current industry risk rates, adjusted for
the group’s own tisk exposure. A decrease in the discount rate will increase the value of the insurance liability and therefore
reduce profits for the sharehelders.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.1 Insurance risk {continued)
1. Life Insurance contracts {continied)
Key Assumptiens {continued)

The assumptions that have the greatest effect on the statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
group are listed below:

Mortality and Morbidity rates Discount
rates/ Investment
return
2023 2022 2023 and 2022 2021 2020
Insurance YR1 YR2 YR3
contracts LAPSE LAPSE LAPSE
Annuities* KE 2007 - KE 2007 - - - - 13.2% 13.2%

2010 Tabies 2010 Tables
for Assured for Assured

Lives Lives
Life KE 2007 - KE 2007 - 15% 10% 5% Yield Yield
assurance* 2010Tables 2010 Tables cuve cuve
for Assured for Assured
lives lives

Valuation age is taken as the number of complete years of age “curtate age"” at the date of valuation, The period of valuation
has been taken as the original term to maturity less curtate duration at the valuation date
* The Annuities and fife assurance balances are included in the fife insurance contract liabilities.

Sensitivities

The following analysis is performed for reasonably possible mevements in key assumptions with all other asssmptions held
constant, showing the impact on gross liabilities. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining
the ultimate claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions, assumptions had to be changed
on an individual basis.

it should be noted that movements in these assumptions are non-linear. Sensitivity information will also vary according to the
current economic assumptions, mainly due fo the impact of changes to both the intrinsic cost and time value of options and
guarantees. When options and guarantees exist, they are the main reason for the asymmetry of sensitivities. The method used
for deriving sensitivity information and significant assumptions made did not change from the previous period. The sensitivity
analysis is presented in note 2 (B).
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.1 Insurance risk {continued)
2. Non-fite insurance contracts

The Group principally issues the following types of general insurance contracts: motor, household, commercial and business
interruption. Healthcare contracts provide medical expense coverage {o policyholders and are not guaranteed as renewable. Risks
under non~life insurance policies usually cover twelve months duration.

For general insurance contracts, {the most significant risks arise when there is fire, motor accidents, property losses or medical
claims for longer tail claims that take some years to settle, there is aiso infiation risk. For healthcare contracts, the most significant
risks arise from lifestyle changes, epidemics and medical science and technology improvements, These risks do notvary significantly
in relation to the location of the risk insured by the group, type of risk insured and by industry.

The abave risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts. The variabilify of risks is
improved by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategies, which are designed to ensure that risks are diversified
in terms of type of risk and level of insured benefits. This is largely achieved through diversification across industry sectors.
Furthermore, strict claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing claims, regular detailed review of claims handling procedures
and frequent investigation of possible fraudulent claims are all pelicies and procedures put in place to reduce the risk exposure of
the Group. The group further enforces a policy of actively managing and promptly pursuing claims, in order to reduce its exposure to
unptedictable future developments that can negatively impact the business. inflation risk is mitigated by taking expected inflation
into account when estimating insurance contract Habilities.

The group uses commercially available proprietary risk management software to assess catastrophe exposure. However, there is
always a risk that the assumptions and techniques used in these medels are unreliable or that claims adsing from an unmodeiied
event are greater than those arising from a modelled event.

The group has also Limited its exposure by imposing maximum claim amounts on certain contracts as well as the use of reinsurance
arrangements in order te limit exposure to catastrophic.

The purpose of these underwriting and reinsurance strategies is to limit exposure to catastrophes based on the group’s risk appetite
as decided by management. The overall aim is currently to restrict the impact of a single catastrophic event to approximately 50% of
sharehoiders’ equity on a gross basis and 10% on a net basis. in the event of such a catastrophe, counterparty exposure to a single
reinsurer is estimated not to exceed 2% of shareholders' equity. The Board may decide to increase or decrease the maximum
tolerances based on market conditions and other factors.

The table below sets out the concentration of insurance contract liabilities by type of contract:

31 Becember 2023 31 December 2022
tnsurance Reinsurance Instirance Reinsurance
contract Net liabilities contract Net liabilities
A contract assets N contract assets
liahilities fabilities
KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000
Non-medical 7,998,087 (2,402,096} 5,595,991 7,976,134 {3,089,155) 4,886,979
Medical 3,064,351 {69,608} 2,894,743 2,506,869 (36,178) 2,470,691
Total 11,062,438 (2,471,704} 8,590,734 10,483,003 {3,125,333) 7,357,670

176



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND {TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RiSK (continued)
53.1 insurance risk {continued)

2. Non-fife insurance contracts (continued)
Key Assumptions

The principal assumption underlying the liability estimates is that the group’s futere claims development will follow a similar
pattern to past claims devefopment experience. This includes assumptions in respect of average claim costs, claim handling
costs, claim inflation fackors and claim numbers for each accident year. Additional qualitative judgements are used to assess
the extent to which past trends may net apply in the future, for example: once-off accurrence; changes in market factors such as
public attitude o claiming: economic conditions: as well as intemnal factors such as portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims
handling procedures. Judgement is further used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judicial decisions and
government legislation affect the estimates.

Other key circumstances affecting the reliability of assumptions include vartation in Interest rates, delays in settlement and
changes in foreign currency rates.

Sensitivities

The non-life insurance claim liabilities are sensitive to the key assumptions in the table below. It has not been possible to
guantify the sensitivity of certain assumptions such as legislative changes or uncertainty in the estimation process.

The foliowing analysis is performed for reasonably possible movements inn key assumptions with &ll other assumptions held
constant, showing the impact on gross and net fiabilities, profit before tax and equity. The correlation of assumptions will have a
significant effect in determining the ultimate claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions,
assumptions had to be changed on an individual basis,

It should be noted that movements in these assumptions are non-linear. The method used for deriving sensitivity information
and significant assumptions did not change from the previous period. The sensitivity analysis is presented in note 2 (B).
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {contirued)

53.2 Financial risks
a. Creditrisk

Creditrisk s the risk that ene partyto a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to the other party by failing to discharge
an obligation.

The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the group's exposure to credit risk;

»  AGroup credit risk policy which sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes credit risk for the Group.
Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the Group's audit and risk
committee. The policy is regularly reviewed for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment.

= Net exposure limits are set for each counterparty or group of counterparties, and industry segment {i.e., limits are set
for investments and cash deposits, and minimum eredit ratings for investments that may be held).

= The Group maintains strict contrel limits by amount and terms on net open derivative positions. The amounts subject
to credit risk are limited to the fair value of “in the money” financial assets against which the Group either obtains
collateral from counterparties or requires margin depesits. Collateral may be sold or repiedged by the Group and is
repayabie if the contract terminates or the contract’s fair value falls.

»  Reinsurance is placed with counterparties that have a good credit rating and concentration of risk is avoided by
following policy guidelines in respect of counterparties’ limits that are set each year by the board of directors and are
subject to regular reviews, At each reporiing date, management performs an assessment of creditworthiness of
reinsurers and updates the reinsurance purchase strategy, ascertaining suitable altowance for impairment.

= The credit risk In respect of customer balances incurred on non-payment of premiums or contributions will only persist
during the grace period of 120 days specified in the policy document until expiry, when the policy is either paid up or
terminated. Commission paid to intermediaries is netted off against amounts receivable from them to reduce the risk
of doubtful debts.

»  The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position at 31 December
2023 and 2022 is the carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.

The Groupissues unit-linked investment policies in several its operations. In the unit-linked business, the policyholder bears
the investment risk on the assets heid in the unit-linked funds, as the policy benefits are directly linked to the vaiue of the
assets in the fund. Therefore, the Group has ne credit risk on unit-linked financial assets.

The group actively manages its product mix to ensure that there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
The Group's internal rating process

The Group’s investment team prepares internai ratings for financial instrements {Financial assets at amortised cost-
Government securities, Financial Assets at amortised cost- Corporate Bonds, Financial Assets at amortised cost-Loan and
Receivables, Financial Assets at amoriised cost-Commercial Papers, Due from related parly, Deposits with financial
institutions, and Cash and bank balances) in which counterparties are rated using internal grades. The ratings are
determined incorporating bhoth qualitative and guantitative information from exteral pary ratings supplemented with
information specific to the counterparty and other external information that could affect the counterpanty’s behavior. These
information sources ase first used to determine whether an instrument has had a significant increase in credit risk.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.2 Financial risks {continued)

a.  Creditrisk (continued)
The Group's internal credit rating grades for the abeve assets with exception of staff loans is as described below.
Internal rating grade Internal rating description
0 High grade
1 High grade
2 Standard grade
3 Sub-standard grade
4 Past due but not impaired
5 individually impaired
For staff loans, the credit rating is based on whether the staff is still in employment. The loan is given a ‘high grade’ rating
if the staff is still in employment, and & ‘past due but not impaired’ rating in instances where the staff is no longer employed
with the Group.
The Group's internal credit rating grades is as follows:
Assetclass Drivers of change | Qualitative indicators assessed
in credit quatity
Receivables arising from | 30 days past due Company closure, significant decline in the industty which the client operates,
direct and reinsurance fisting on credit reference bureau, inability to senvice debt, loss of income,
arrangements among others.
Cash at bank and Downgrade to e Bank closure, bank run, default on debt, credit rating downgrade, material
deposits with financial four adverse mention or investigation, change in bank tier, negative change in debt
institutions ratios, debt covenant breach, regulator actions among others.
Government Securities Downgrade from Credit rating downgrade, adverse political instability, military coup / attempt /
investment grade | civil turmoil, hyper inflationaty trajectory, external war, significant fall in tax
to non-investment | collection rates, significant natural disaster events, warnings from Bretion
grade as per the Woods Institutions, debt restructure, currency devaivation, unemployment rate
external ratings growth among others.
Corporate Debt Defauit in Credit rating downgrades, significant adverse political turmoil in country of major

contractual cash
flows

operations, significant fal in revenue collection, significant natural disaster
events, debt restructure, material Adverse change {Change in business mode!;
significant change in priority staff), significant court process interference on
business madel, insolvency, government agency takeover, financial covenant
breach, material representation inaccuracy or watranty breach, material adverse
mention, investigation among sthers.

Equities - Dividend

Default in

Company closure, default on debt, credit rating downgrade, adverse matetiat

Income contractual cash mention, change in balance sheet debt composition, debt covenant breach,
flows adverse change in business model, company insolvency among others.

Staft/ Non-Staff Loans Defaultin Listing on credit reference bureau, inabifity to service debt, loss of income,
contractual death, permanent disability, imprisonment, number of months in arrears among
cashflows others.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {CONTINUED)
53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED}

{a) Creditrisk (continued}

The Group has monitoring procedures in place to make sure that the criterda used to identify significant increases in credit are
effective, meaning that significant increase in eredit risk is identified before the exposure is defaulted, The Company performs
periodic back-testing of its ratings to consider whether the drivers of credit risk that led to default were accurately reflected in the
rating in a timely manner.

Significant increase in credit risk, default and cure

The Group continitously monitors ali assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or portfolic of instruments
(Financial assets at amortised cosi- Government securities, Financiat Assets at amortised cost- Corporate Bonds, Financial Assets
at amortised cost-Loans, Due from related party, Deposits with financial institutions, Other receivables and Cash and cash
equivalents) is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when any contractuai payments are more than 30 days
past due. in addition, the Group also considers a variety of instances that may indicate unlikeness to pay by assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. When such events occur, the Group carefully considers whether the event should
restlt in treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL calculations or whether Stage 2 is
appropriate. The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. The Group may also
consider an instrument to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full. In such cases, the Group recognises a lifetime ECL, This more applicable to financial assets
arising from investments with financial institution. Such events include:

Internal rating of the counterpariy indicating default or near default for all asset classes

The counterparty having past due fiabilities to public creditors or employees for all asset classes except for staff loans.

The counterparty filing for bankruptcy application for all asset classes

Counterparty’s listed debt or equity suspended at the primary exchange because of rumours or facts of financial difficulties for
all asset classes except for staff loans,

. & 8 0

The Group considers a financial instrument defaulted and, therefore, credit impaired for ECL calculations in alt cases when the
counterparty becomes 50 days past due on its contractual payments. The Group may also consider an instrument to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full, In
such cases, the Group recognises a lifetime ECL.

In rare cases when an instrument identified as defaulted, it is the Group's policy to consider the financial instrument as “cured”
and therefore re-classified out of credit-impaired when none of the default eriteria have been present for at least twelve consecutive
months,

The group actively manages its product mix to ensure there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

Collaterals and other credit enhancements

The amoent and type of collateral required depends en assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are in place
covering the acceptability and valuation of each collatetal, which applies only to staff loan advances. The main type of collaterals
are as follows:

= Formertgages, legal charge over property to the extent of loan advanced.

=  Forcarloans, the value of the motor vehicle,

Management monitors the market value of the collateral and may request additional collateral in accordance with underlying
agreement.

The Group does not physically repose properties but engages its legal depariment in coliaboration with external agents to recover
funds to settle outstanding debt. Because of this practice, the properties or motor vehicles are not recorded in the balance sheet
and not treated as non-ciirent asset held for sale,

The fair values of the collaterals equal to the outstanding foan balances at the end of each financial reporting peried since the
Group is only interested in recovering the loan balance.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)
53.2 FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

a. Credit risk{continued)
Impairment losses on financial investments subfect to fmpainment assessment.

i} Debtinstruments measured at FVOCI

{a) Group

The table below shows the fair values of the group's debt instruments at FVOCI by credit risk, based on the group’s internal
credit rating system.

STAGE1  STAGE?2 STAGE 3 Total 2023 Totai 2022

Internal rating grade KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
High grade 13,582,244 13,582,244 11,389,365
Standard grade - - - - -
Total gross amount 13,582,244 - - 13,582,244 11,383,365
ECL {2.870) {2, 870) -
Total net amount 13.579.374 - - 13579.374 11389365

Movement of ECL: STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2023  Total 2022
KShs'GQ0  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

ECL at start of year - - - - 3,882
Charge/(credit through P&L) {2,870} - - (2,870} {(3,882)
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL - - - . .
ECL atend of year {2.870} - - (2.870) -
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

53.2 FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)
4. Credit risk(continued)
Debt instruments af amortised cost*

The table below shows the credit quality and maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Groups internat credit rating
system and year end stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.,
Details of the Group's grading system are explained above.

ii)y  Financial assets at amortised cost: Corporate bonds

Group
STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE3 Totat 2023 Total 2022
Internal rating grade Kshs'000  KShs'000 Kshs'000 KShs'000
Performing
High grade 6,222 - - 6,222 97,732
Standard grade - - - . .
Past due but not impaired - . 7,258 7,258 -

Non-performing - - . - ;

Individually impaired - - 82,615 82,61 82,707
Total Gross 6,222 - 89,873 96,095 180,439
ECL - - 449 449 {83,408)
Total Net Amount 6,222 = 89,424 95,646 87,031

An analysis of changes in ECLs Is, as follows:

STAGE 1 STAGE2  STAGE3 Total 2023 Total 2022
KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs’000

ECL as at 1 January (701) - (82,707) (83,408) {105,387)
Charge /{credit) through profit orloss 701 - (357) 344 7,279
Write off - - 82,615 82,615 14,700
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL - - - - -

- - {449) (449) _{83,408)
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53. INSURANGE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)
53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED}

4. Credit risk{continued)

i)  Financial assets at amortised cost: Government securities

Group

Internaf rating grade
Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired

Non-performing
individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

STAGE 1 STAGE2  STAGE3  Tetal2023  Total 2022
KShs'000  KShs'OD0  KShs'0DD  KShs'000 KShs'000
10,754,066 - - 10,754,066 8,279,230
10,754,066 - - 10,754,066 8,279,230
(847) : - 847 (375)
10,753,219 = - 10.753.219 8.278.855

Management assessed that there is low prebability of default on these financial instruments as they are sovereign
debts and there has been no history of default from the Government of Kenya. The movement in ECL is as follows:

ECL as at 1 January
Charge/(credit) through profit or loss

Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL

iv) Financial Assets at amortised cost-Loan receivables

Group

Internal rating grade
Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired

Non-performing
Individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

ECL at start of year
Charge/(credit) through P&L

Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL
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STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2023 Total 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
(375) . ; (375) 378)
472) i : (472) 3
847} — —_ (847) 375)
STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Totat 2023 Total 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
124,966 - - 124,966 94,322
124,966 - - 124,966 20,322
{11,575} - - {11.575} {11.463)
113,391 - - 113,391 78.859
STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2023 Total 2022
KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
(11,463) - - (11,463) (6,765)
(112) - . (112) (4,698)
(11,575) ) . (11575  (11,463)



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {CONTINUED)

532  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED})

4. Credit riskicontinued)

v)  Financial Assets at amortised cost-Loan Receivables

{b) COMPANY
Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired

Non-performing
individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

Analysis of the ECL is as follows:

ECL as at 1 January
Charge through profit or loss
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL

STAGE1 STAGE2  STAGE3  Total2023  Total 2022
Kshs'000 Kshs'000  Kshs'000 Kshs'000  Kshs'000
15,907 - - 15,907 12,669
15,907 - - 15,907 12,669
288 - - (288) (288)
15,619 - - 15,619 12,381
STAGE1 STAGE2  STAGE3  Total2023  Total 2022
Kshs'0DO  Kshs'000  Kshs'00O Kshs'000  Kshs'000
(288) - - (288) (171)

- - - - {117

288 - - (288) (288)
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {CONTINUED)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)
4,  Credit risk{continued)

vi}  Deposits with financial institutions

(a) Group
Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired
Non-performing
Individually impaired
Totai Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

An analysis of changes in the ECLs is, as follows:

ECL at start of year

Additional impairment

Unwind of discount

Movement between 12m ECL. and ETECL
ECL at end of year

STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE3  Total 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000
7,600,907 - - 17,600,907
7,600,907 - - 17,600,907
(27.617) - - (27.617)
7,573,290 - - 1,573,290
STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE3  Total 2023
KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000
(32,007) - . {32,007)
4,390 - - 4,390
(27,617) - - (27,617)
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Total 2022
KShs'000

5,940,111

5,940,111
(32.007)
5,908,104

Total 2022
Kshs'000

(34,546)
2,539

(32,007}




THECIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {CONTINUED)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS {CONTINUED)

a.

(b)

Credit risk {continued)

Deposits with financial institutions - Company

Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired
Non-performing
Individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Totat Net Amount

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as follows:

ECL at start of year

Additional impairment

Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL
ECL at end of year

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE3  Total2023  Total2022
KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000
117,638 ; - 117,638 94,658
117,638 - - 117,638 94,658
(10 - - o (82
117,568 . . 117,568 94,576
STAGE 1 STAGE2  STAGE3  Total 2023  Total 2022
Kshs'000  Kshs'000  Kshs'00O Kshs'000  Kshs'000
(82) - - {82) {73)

12 - - 12 @)

) s @ @2
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53.

53.2

{b)

INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

a. Credit risk{continued)

vif) Financial assets at amortised cost -Receivables from related parties

{a)  Group
Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired
Non-performing
Individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total net Amount

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as follows;

ECL as at 1 January
Charge/{credit) through profit or loss
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL

Company
Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired
Non-perferming
individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as foliows:

ECL as at 1 January
Charge/(credit) through profit or loss
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL

STAGE1  STAGE2  STAGE3  Total2023  Total 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000
188,620 . - 188,620 147,699
188,620 - - 188,620 147,699

(5,573) - - (5.573) (2.541)
183,047 - . 183,047 145,158
STAGE1  STAGE2  STAGE3  Total2023  Total 2022

KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000
(2,541) . . (2,541) (3,652)
(3,032) - - (3,032) 1,111
(5,573 - — (5.573) 2,541)
STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE3  Total2023  Total 2022

KShs'000  KShs'0D0  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000
401,976 . - 401,976 312,197
401,976 - - 401,976 312,197
(1.996) - . (1,996} (1,783)
399,980 . . 399980 310414
STAGE1  STAGE2  STAGE3  Total2023  Total 2022

KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000
(1,783) - . (1,783) (1,281)

(213) - - (213} (502)
(1,996) : = (1,996} {1.783)
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FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

53.2 FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

a. Credit risk (continued)

viii} Financial assets at amontised cost - Other receivables

{a)

ix)

@

Group
Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired
Non-performing
Individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as follows:

ECL at start of year

Charge through profit or loss

Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL
ECL at end of year

Financial assets at amortised cost - Cash and bank balances

Group

Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired
Non-performing
Individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as follows:

ECLas at 1 January
Charge/{credit) through profit or loss
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL

STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE3  Total2023  Total 2022
KShs'00D  KShs'DOD  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
864,827 - - 864,827 635,001
864,827 - - 864,827 635,001
(12,393) - - (12,393) (8.746)
852,434 . - 852,434 626,255
STAGE1  STAGE2  STAGE3 Total 2023 Total 2022
KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000
(8,746) - - (8,746) (6,752)
(3,647) - - (3,647) (1,994)
{12.393) ; : (12,393) (8.748)
STAGE1  STAGE2  STAGE3  Total2023  Total 2022
KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'0D0  KShs'0B0  KShs'D0D
282,777 - - 282,777 417,582
282,777 . 282,777 417,582
(1.012) - - (1.012) (1.012)
281,765 - - 281,765 416,570
STAGE1  STAGE2  STAGE3  Total2023  Total 2022
KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000
(1,012) - - (1,012) (1,718)
- - - - 706
w1 s 0012)  (1012)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED})
53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

a. Credit risk {continued)

The table below indicates the maximum exposure of assets bearing credit risk:

Group

Corporate bonds at amortised cost
Government securities at amortised cost
Loans receivable

Government secutities at falr value through OCl
Investment in coliective Schemes
Reinsurance contract assets

Other receivables

Due from related parties

Deposits with financial institutions

Cash and cash equivatents

Total

Company

Loans receivable

Other receivables

Due from related parties
Investment in collective Schemes
Deposits with financial institutions
Cash and cash equivalents

Totat

Short term business

Impaired financial assets

At 31 December 2023, there are no impaired insurance assets.

2023
KShs'000

95,646
10,753,218
113,391
13,579,374
1,368,501
3,733,993
852,434
183,047
7,573,290
281,785

38,534,660

15,619
61,635
399,980
14,501
117,568
41,527
650,730

2022
KShs'000

97,031
8,278,855
78,859
11,389,385
1,210,502
3,727,821
626,255
145,158
5,908,104
416,570
31,878,520

12,381
64,867
310,414
37,255
94,576
42,452

561,945

For assets to be classified as” past-due and impaired” contractual payments must be in arrears for more than 120 days. No

collateral is held as security for any past due or impaired assets.

The group records impairment allowances for receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements and reinsurance

arangements in a separate impairment allowance account.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
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53.  INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED}

4. Credit risk{continued)
Short term business

Impaired financial assets

Collateral

No coflateral is held in respect of the receivables that are past due but not impaired,

Financial assets neither past due nor impaired

There were no financial assets that are neither impaired nor past due as at 31 December 2023.

b.  Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations assoclated with financial Habilities that

are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. In respect of catastrophic events there is also a liguidity risk associated
with the timing differences between gross cash out-flows and expected reinsurance recoveries.

The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the group's exposure to liquidity risk:

= A group liguidity risk policy which sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes liguidity risk for the
group. Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the group risk committee, The
policy is regularly reviewed for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment.

» Guidelines are set for asset allocations, portfolio limit structures and maturity profiles of assets, in order to ensure
sufficient funding available to meet insurance and investment contracts obligations.

«  Contingency funding plans are in place, which specify minimum propertions of funds to meet emergency calls as well as
specifying events that would trigger such plans.

« The group's catastrophe excess-of-loss reinsurance coniracts contain clauses permitting the immediate draw down of
funds to meet claim payments shouli claim events exceed a certain size.

Maturity profiles

The following table summarises the maturity profile of the financial assets, financial liabilities and insurance contract liabilities
of the group based on remaining undiscounted contractual obligations, including interest payahle and receivable.

For insurance contract liabiities and reinsurance assets, maturity profiles are determined based on estimated timing of cash
outflows from the recognised insurance liabilities. Unearned premiums have been excluded from the analysis as they are not
contractual obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

53. INSURANCEAND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)
b. Liquidity risk {continued)

The table below provides a contractual maturity analysis of the group's financial assets and liabilities:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amertised cost- Corporate Bonds

Financial assets at amortised cost -Government securities

Financial assets at amortised cost -Loans receivable

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income -Government securities
Investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through Profit or loss
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Reinsurance contract assets

Other receivables

Due from related parties

Deposits with financial institutions

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Financial Habilities
Borrowings

Lease Liability

Other payables

Insurance contract liabilities
Bank guarantees

Total financial liabilities

Net liquidity (gap}

31 December 2023

No stated 6 monthsor 6 monthsand 1 lyearand 5
maturity on demand year ! years More than 5 years Total
KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000
- - - 102,875 24,429 127,304
- - 455 550 6,647,527 9,099,799 16,202,876
- 99,075 246 4,224 271,332 130,877
- - 20,315 4,548,500 14,035,456 18,604,271
- 135,767 1,232,734 - - 1,368,501
647,506 - - - - 647,506
22,796 . - - - 22,796
- 1,719,043 1,438,721 - - 3,157,764
- 843,416 9,018 - - 852,434
- 183,047 - - - 183,047
- 4,117,372 2,579,393 876,525 - 7,573,290
- 281,765 - - - 281,765
670,302 7,379,485 5,735,977 12,179,651 23,187,016 49,152,431
. - 5,081,164 . - 5,081,164
. 42,823 79,237 265,978 - 388,038
- 2,034,225 - - - 2,034,225
- 18,565,080 9,767,950 - - 26,333,030
- - - 1,347,213 - 1,347,213
- 18,642,128 14,928,351 1,613,191 - 35,183,670
670,302 (11,262,643) (9,192,374) 10,566,460 23,187,016 13,968,761
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)
b.  Liguidity risk {continued)

The table below provides a contractual maturity analysis of the group's financial assets and liabilities:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cosi- Corporate Bonds

Financial assets at amortised cost -Government securities

Financial assets at amaortised cost -Loans receivable

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income -Government securities
Investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through Profit or foss
Equity investments at fair vaiue through profit or loss

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Reinsurance contract assets

Other receivables

Due from related parties

Deposits with financial institutions

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Borrowings

Lease Liability

Other payables

Insurance contract liabilities
Bank guaraniees

Total financial liabilities

Net liquidity (gap)

31 December 2022
No stated 6 monthsor 6 monthsand 1 1lyearand 5
maturity on demand year ! years More than 5 years Total
KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000
. - - 117,341 43,351 160,692
- 108,248 296,765 2,302,909 5,768,605 8,476,527
- 3,300 29 - 95,556 98,885
- 30,014 108,001 2,521,361 10,263,467 12,922,843
- 285,123 684,352 241,027 - 1,210,502
1,052,923 - - - - 1,052,923
15,337 - - - - 15,337
- 3,341,727 - - - 3,341,727
- 397,441 228,814 - - 626,255
- 145,158 - - - 145,158
- 4,637,339 562,809 739,963 - 5,940,111
- 417,582 - - - 417,582
1,068,260 9,365,932 1,880,770 5,922,601 16,170,879 34,408,542
. . - 4,571,600 - 4,571,600
- 29919 116,785 245211 - 391,915
" 1,695,346 - . . 1,695,346
- 18,092,700 1,147 822 583,019 4,365,830 24,199,431
- - - 235,352 - 235,352
- 19,817,965 1,264,607 5,645,182 4,365,880 31,093,644
1,068,260 (10,452,033) 616,163 277,419 11,805,089 3,314,898
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
3.2 Financial risks (continued}
{c) MarketRisk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a firancial instrument wilt fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: foreign exchange rates (currency risk}, market interest rates (interest
rate risk) and market prices (price tisk).

« The group's market risk policy sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes market risk for the group.
Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the group risk committee. The policy
is reviewed regularly for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment.

s Guidelines are set for asset allocation and portfolio fimit structure, to ensure that assets back specific policyholders’
liahilities and that assets are held to defiver income and gains for policyholders which are in line with their expectations.

« The group stipulates diversification benchmarks by type of instrument, as the group is exposed to guaranteed bonuses,
cash and annuity options when interest rates fall.

In the unit-linked business, the policyholder bears the investmentrisk on the assets held in the unit-linked funds as the policy
benefits are directly linked to the value of the assets in the fund. The group’s exposure to market risk on this business is Limited
to the extent that income arising from asset management charges is based on the value of assets in the fund,

i. Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group's principal transactions are carried out in Kenya Shilling and its exposure fo foreign exchange risk arise primarily
with respect to US Poflar (USD), Uganda Shillings (UGSH), Malawian Kwacha (MK) and South Sudan Pound (SSP).

The group’s financial assets are primarily denominated in the same currencies as its insurance and investment contract
liahilities. This mitigates the foreign currency exchange rate risk for the overseas operations. Thus, the main foreign exchange
risk arises from recognised assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than those in which insurance contract
liabilities are expected to be settled.

The group has no significant concentration of currency risk.

31st December 2023 3ist Decemher2022
increase/(decrease) in variables impacton PBT  Impacton Equity  lmpacton PBT  Impact on Equity
KShs'000’ KShs’000' KShs'000’ KShs'000’
Currency
Ssp 10% {29,456) (75,678) {29,456) (75,678)
58P -10% 35,787 84,346 35,787 84,346
UGSH 10% 3,985 {2,567 3,985 (2,567
UGSH ~10% {4,092) (42,784} (4,092} {42,784)
MK 10% (15,678) {{30,234) (15,678} {(30,234)
MK -10% 20,567 33,869 20,567 33,869
The holding's s financial assets are primarily denominated in the same currencies as its liabilities hence not exposed fo the
cutrency risks.
ii. Interestraterisk

interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a finaneial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.

Floating rate instruments expose the Group o cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the Group
to fairvalue interest risk.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.2  Financial risks (continued)
(c) Market Risk (Continued)
ii. Interest rate risk {Continued)

The Group’s interest risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable
rate instruments. The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-bearing financial assets and Interest-bearing
financial liabilities. Interest on floating rate instruments is re-priced at intervals of less than one year. Interest on fixed interest
rate instruments is priced at inception of the financial Instrument and is fixed until maturity.

The sensitivity analysis for inferest rate risk llustrates how changes in the fairvalue or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates at the reporting date. The Financial assets at amortised cost-
Deposits and commercial papers and staff loans are not affected by interest rate risk because the rates are agreed at the
beginning of the contract financial instruments and insurance contracts described in this note, the sensitivity is solely
associated with the former, as the carrying amounts of the latter are not directly affected by changes in market tisks,

The Group's management monitors the sensitivity of reported interest rate movement monthly by assessing the expected
changes in the different portiolios due to a parailel movement in all yield curves of financial assets and financial liabilities. The
.Group is not exposed to interest rate risk as all financial assets are at fixed interest rates.

Government securities at fair value through other comprehensive income represents 56% of total government securities
investments. 1fthe bond market interest rate had increased/ decreased by 1%, with all other variables held constant, and all
the other factors held constant, the comprehensive income for the year would increase/decrease by KShs 629,370,000.

iil. Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financiaf instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
equity prices {other than those asising from interest rate or foreign exchange rate risk), whether those changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or by factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded
in the market.

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk as a result of its holdings in equity investments, classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income investments.
Exposure to equity shares in aggregate are monitored In order to ensure compliance with the relevant regulatory limits for
solvency purposes. Investments held are listed and traded on the Nairobi Securities Exchange Limited (NSF).

The Group has a defined investment policy which sets limis on the Group’s exposure to equities both In aggregate terms and
by industry. This policy of diversification is used to manage the Group's price risk arising from its investments in equity
securities.

Investment management meetings are held monthly. Atthese meetings, senior managers meet to discuss investment retarn
and concentration of the equity investments.

Equity investment through profit or loss represent 37% (2022: 98%) of total equity investments. If equity market indices had
increased/ decreased by 5%, with all other variables held constant, and all the Group's equity investments moving according
to the historical correlation with the index, the profit for the year would increase/decrease by KShs 32,375,000 (2022: KShs
53,000,000).
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54,

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The group specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation technigues are

observable or unobservable. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

e Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes equity secutities and debt
instruments listed on the Nairobi securities exchange.
o Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

as prices or indirectly as derived from prices.

» Level 3 - inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unchservable inputs). This level
inciudes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unebservable components, property, equipment and

investment property.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The group considers relevant and observable market

prices in its valuations where possible.

Thete were no transfers between Leve! 1 and level 2 during the year.

The table below shows an analysis the fair value of assets by level in the fair value hierarchy. However, it does not include

instruments whose fair value approximates the canying amount.

GROUP

31-Dec-23

Recurring fair value Measurements

Equity investments elassified:

-at fair value thyough profit or foss

- at fair value through OC|

Government secusities classified at fairvalue
through GCI

Investments in collective investment
schemes at fair value through profit or loss
Owner occupied property and equipment
investment properties

Non-recuning fair valie Measurements - fair
value of assels not measured at fairvalue
Corporate bonds

Government securities at amottised cost
Loan receivables

Total assets at fair value

Liahilities
Investment contract liabilities

Total liabilities at fair value

Levei 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Canying
amounts

KShs'000  KShs'00C KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000
647,506 - - 647,506 . 647,506
“ 22,796 - 22,796 22,796
13,579,374 - - 13,579,374 13,579,374
- 1,368,501 - 1,368,501 1,368,501
- - 821,883 821,883 821,883
- - 7,761,640 7,761,640 7,761,640
- 129,644 - 129,644 95,646
11,396,415 - - 11,396,415 10,753,219
- - 113,391 113,391 113,391
25,623,295 1,520,941 8,696,914 35.841,150 35,163,956
- 141,273 - 141273 141,273
- 141,273 - 141,273 141,273
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54. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

GROUP (continued)

31-Dec-22

Recurring fair value Measurements

Equity investments classified:

-at fair value through profit or loss

- at fairvalue through OC|

Government securities classified at fair value
through OCI

Investments in collective investment
schemes at fair value through profit or loss
Owner occupied property and equipment
Investment properties

Non-recurring fair value Measurements - 1air
value of assets not measured at falr value
Cotporate bonds

Government securities at amortised cost
Loan receivables

Total assets at fair value

Liabilities
Investment coniract liabilities

Total liabilities af fair value

Level 1 lLevel 2 level 3 Total Carrying
amounts

KShs’300  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs’000  KShs'000
1,060,004 - - 1,060,004 1,060,004
- 21,647 - 21,647 21,647
11,389,365 - - 11,389,365 11,389,365
- 1,210,502 - 1,210,502 1,210,502
- - 830,823 830,823 830,823
- - 7,761,640 1,761,640 7,761,640
- 132,498 “ 132,498 897,031
8,560,203 - - 8,560,203 8,278,855
- - 78,859 78,859 78,859
21,009,572 1.364.647 8,671,322 31,045,541 30,728,726
- 137.021 - 137,021 137,021
- 137,021 - 137,021 137,021
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54, FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

COMPANY
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Canying
amounts
2023 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
Recurring fairvalue
measurements
Investment propetties held for
sale - - 4,046,000 4,046,000 4,046,000
Fairvalue of assets not measured
at fafrvalne
Loan receivables - - 15,619 15.619 15619
Total assets at fair value - - 4,061,619 4,061,619 4061619
2022
Recuring fafr valie
measuremennts
Investment properties - - 4,046,000 4,046,000 4,046,600
Fairvalue of assefs not measured
at fairvalue
{oan receivables - - 12.381 12,381 12,381
Total assets at fairvalue - - 4,058 381 4,058,381 4,058.381
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54. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Valuation methods used in determining the fair value of assets and liabilities

Instrument

Applicable Levei

Valuation methods

Inputs

Loans and receivables at amortised

Discounted cash flow

Average Market interest rates

cost 2 model (DCF) 13%
. Discounted cash flow

Corporate bonds at amortised cost 2 model (DCF) Interest rates
Equity investments classified as Cu.".e"t unit price of um.iertying
fair value through OC| unitised assets and interest

-2 Net Asset Value rates.
Investments in coltective Current unit price of underlying
investment schemes at fairvalue unitised assets and interest
throtigh profit ot loss 2 Net Asset Value rates.

Net Asset Value and Current unit price of underlying

Deposits and commercial paper Discounted Cash Flow | unitised assets and Interest

2 (DCF) rates.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements categorised in fevel 3 of the fair value hierarchy as at
31 December 2023 are as shown below.

Group
Instrument level  Valuation basis Rate Significant Sensitivity of input to the fair
unebservabie Inputs  value
Investment 3 Discounted cash flow 16 Discount rate used, increase/{decrease) in
properties model {DCH Net Annual Rent, discount by 5% would
Annual rent growth decrease/{increase) fair
rate value by KShs 80.1 milfion
Owner occupied 3 Discounted Cash Flow 16 Discount rate used, Increase/ (decrease) in
property and (DCF) Net Annual Rent, discount of 5% wouid
equipment Annual rent growth decrease/ {increase) fair
rate value by KShs 1.9 million.
Direct 3 Deposits, withdrawalsand ~ N/A Market value of Increase/(decrease} in the
patticipating investment returns from assets of the fund market price of the assets in
contracts the fund. the fund would increase/
(decrease) fair value by
KShs 536 million,
Company
Significant Sensitivity of input to the
Instrement Level  Valuation basis Rate  unchservableInputs  fairvalue
Investment 3 Discounted cash flow 16 Discount rate Increase/{decrease) in
properties model {DCF) used, Net Annual discount by 5% would

Rent, Arnuai rent
growth rate
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55.

56.

57,

58.

59.

60.

GAIN ON MONETARY POSITION (CIC AFRICA SOUTH SUDAN)

IAS 29 Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies requires financial statements that are prepared in the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy to he stated in terms of the value of money at the end of the reporting period. The IAS 29 approach is to restate afl
non-monetary balances recognised in the financial statements to the year-end general purchasing power of the functionat currency and
requires the use of a general price index to reflect changes in purchasing power.

CIC Africa Insurance (South Sudan) was considered to operate in hyperinfiationary economy until 31 December 2022, In 2023, South
Sudan ceased being hyperinflationary and the subsidiary discontinued the preparation and presentation of the financial statements in
accordance to the |AS 29 standard. It treated the carrying amounts expressed in the measuring current unit at 31 December 2022 as
the basis for opening carrying amounts for the 2023 financial stafements.

The analysis of the cumulative inflation rate over three years resulted in the Group considering whether South Sudan's economy was
hyperinfiationary. Based on the available information, the Group concluded that the economy is currently not hyperinflationary for the
period ending 31 December 2023.

Subsequent to year end, there has been a significant change in the inflation data; the World Economic Qutiock report issued in April
2024 shows that three-year cumulative inflation is expected to increase significantly, to 137% in 2024 and 198% in 2025. It is therefore
expected that entities with the currency of South Sudan as their functional currency will be hyper-inflationary in 2024, and they should
continte applying IAS 22 in 2024. The Group will consider this change going forward.

Statement showing the net monetary result on account of price levet changes: 2023 2022
KShs'000 KShs'000
Monetary liabilities at 1 January - 786,828
Increase in net monetary liabilities in the year - 185,960
Effects of exchange rate changes - {257,195}
Monetary liabilities at 31 December - 715,593
Expressed in purchasing power at 31 December - {798,680}
Loss en menetary liabilities (a) - {83,087}
Monetary assets at 1 January - 922,968
Increase in net monetary assets in the year - 168,162
Effects of exchange rate changes - {296,292}
Monetary assets at 31 December - 794,838
Expressed in purchasing power at 31 December - 890,820
Gain on monetary assets (b) - 95,982
Net gain on monetary position (¢c=a+b) - 12,895

GOING CONCERN STATUS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES AND THE COMPANY

The directors have assessed the going concem of the subsidiaries and are confident that they will continue as going concern.
INCORPORATION

The Company is incorporated in Kenya under the Companies Act 2015 and is domiciled in Kenya.

HOLDING COMPANY

The holding entity is Co-operative Insurance Society Limited which is incorporated and domiciled in Kenya.

CURRENCY

The financial statements are presented in Kenya shillings thousands (KShs ‘000') which is also the functional currency of the Company,
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

Cther than the matter disclosed in note 55, there are no events after the reporting date that would require adjustments to, or disclosure in,
the financial statements.
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